$u^{\scriptscriptstyle b}$

^b UNIVERSITÄT BERN

Graduate School for Health Sciences

University of Bern

Cardiovascular disease in Switzerland – health care, mortality and geographical pattern

PhD Thesis submitted by

Claudia Berlin

from Germany

for the degree of

PhD in Health Sciences (Epidemiology)

Thesis advisor Prof. Dr. Marcel Zwahlen Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine Faculty of Medicine of the University of Bern

Thesis co-advisor Prof. Dr. Danny Dorling School of Geography and the Environment University of Oxford, UK

Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine and the Faculty of Human Sciences of the University of Bern

Bern,

Dean of the Faculty of Medicine

Bern,

Dean of the Faculty of Human Sciences

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVATIONS	7
SUMMARY	9
1 Introduction	
1.1 Swiss health care system	11
1.2 Health services research	
1.3 Regional variation	
1.4 CVD – epidemiology, aetiology and treatment	14
1.4.1 Aetiology of CVD	14
1.4.2 Treatment of CVD	15
1.5 Methods and data	17
1.5.1 Study designs	
1.5.2 Data sources	
1.6 Geographical units and their spatial congruence	
1.7 Objectives of this thesis	25
1.8 References	26
2 Manuscripts	
2.1 Article 1: Avoidable hospitalisations	35
2.2 Article 2: Revascularization treatment of STEMI patients	57
2.3 Article 3: The geography of end of life care cost	81
2.4 Article 4: AMI and stroke mortality vary by distance to hos	pital?135
3 Discussion	
3.1 Main findings	
3.2 Strengths and limitations	
3.3 Implications for policy and future research	
3.3.1 Application of treatment guidelines	
3.3.2 Missing factors influencing the costs at the end of life	
3.3.3 Distance to hospital matters	172
3.3.4 Supporting ambulatory care to reduce potentially avoid	dable hospitalisations173
3.4 The data issue – opportunities and challenges in the future	
3.4.1 New Research Program "Smarter Health Care"	
3.4.2 Available and missing data	
3.4.3 Implementation of SwissDRG	
3.4.4 Future research with the available data	
3.5 Conclusion	
3.6 References	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CURRICULUM VITAE	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	
CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS	
DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY	

ABBREVATIONS

ACS	Acute coronary syndromes
AH	Avoidable hospitalisations
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
CABG	Coronary artery bypass surgery
СНОР	Swiss operation procedure code
CPR	Cardiopulmonary resuscitation
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DRG	Diagnosis Related Groups
EMS	Emergency medical services
EOLC	End of life care
HSA	Hospital service area or health service area
HSR	Health services research
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
MedStat	Geographical region defined for the hospital discharge and hospital statistics
NCDs	Non-communicable diseases
NSTEMI	Non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
SEP	Swiss neighbourhood socioeconomic position index
SFSO	Swiss Federal Statistical Office
SNC	Swiss National Cohort
SNSF	Swiss National Science Foundation
STEMI	ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
WHO	World Health Organization

SUMMARY

Switzerland is facing an aging population and a growing amount of patients with chronic diseases. It is crucial to display health care processes and pathways, to identify inequalities and obstacles, and to point out possibilities for improvements of the Swiss health care system (e.g. increase efficiency).

The introductory part of the thesis presents a brief description of the Swiss health care system, health services research and regional variation as well as an introduction of CVD and its epidemiological key figures, aetiology and treatments. This is followed by the description of the utilized methods and data, and the objectives of this thesis.

The subsequent sections present the four articles included in this thesis. The first article focuses on a small area analysis on regional variation of avoidable hospitalisations in Switzerland including density of primary care physicians and specialists, rurality and hospital supply factors as explanatory variables in the analysis. Lower rates of avoidable hospitalisations were found in areas with very high supply of primary care physicians, increased avoidable hospitalisation rates in areas with more specialists and in areas with higher proportion of rural residents.

The second article aims to examine whether emergency patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction were adequately treated, i.e. according to the treatment guidelines, in Switzerland. Results show that older and female patients were less likely to receive revascularization which suggests that the treatment guidelines may not be uniformly applied in Switzerland.

Similar to the first article, also in the third article a small area analysis was performed but this time investigating regional variation in costs at the end of life. Strongest associations of cost was found with cause of death, age and language region of the decedents. The strong spatial variation of costs could only partly be explained by the included covariates.

Article four aims to examine the relationship of distance to different hospital types and mortality from AMI or stroke. We found that AMI mortality in the Swiss population 30 and older and stroke mortality in those 65 and above increased with distance to central and university hospitals, while adjusting for sociodemographic and economic characteristics of the population.

The presentation of the four articles is followed by a discussion, which summarizes the main findings and the strengths and limitations of the presented articles. The thesis concludes with a discussion about the challenges for policy, practice and future research.

1 Introduction

This thesis is a contribution to the field of cardiovascular disease (CVD) epidemiology and health services research (HSR) in Switzerland. The four articles presented in this thesis address different research questions and utilize a wide variety of methods and data, reflecting the multidisciplinary field of health services research.

This thesis first addresses the determinants of regional variations in avoidable hospitalisations in article 1. Avoidable hospitalisations are also called ambulatory-care sensitive conditions, indicating that appropriate ambulatory care can contribute to the prevention of avoidable hospitalisations. The thesis presents a study investigating avoidable hospitalisations including diabetes, hypertension and congestive heart failure. These conditions are risk factors for, or precursors or sequelae of, severe cardiovascular diseases such as acute myocardial infarction or stroke.

In article 2, the application of treatment guidelines in emergency patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) is examined throughout Switzerland. The analysis included several characteristics of the patients and hospitals as possible factors to induce the treatment of STEMI patients.

At the end of life, health care costs often increase sharply. CVD is the number one cause of death in Switzerland and also plays a major role in the generated costs at the end of life. However, it remains unclear why health care costs differ between regions. An investigation of possible reasons for these differences is presented in the third article in this thesis.

A major research focus of HSR is access to health care. Time to treatment is an important factor to prevent severe health outcomes of life-threatening diseases such as acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and stroke. The fourth article of this thesis explores geographical access to Swiss hospitals and its influence on mortality due to AMI and stroke.

The following sections provide background information about the Swiss health care system, cardiovascular diseases, health services research, regional variations, the study designs and data used, and the objectives of this thesis.

1.1 Swiss health care system

The Swiss health care system is considered to be among the best health care systems worldwide, based on indicators including life expectancy, the number of health professionals and patient satisfaction. However, it also ranks as one of the most expensive health care systems among OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) countries with 11.4% of its gross domestic product being spent on health care in 2009. Like other high-income countries, Switzerland

is facing a massive demographic change in the form of a rapidly aging population. The consequence of this is a growing burden for the health care system and a resulting increase in costs. The OECD and WHO (World Health Organization) stated in their review of the Swiss health system in 2011 that a major challenge for Switzerland will be maintaining and improving the care of people suffering from chronic conditions (OECD/WHO, 2011).

Switzerland is a federal country with a decentralized structure, both governmentally and for health care. The 26 cantons each take on the responsibility for the planning and supply of health care services, subsidies of insurance premiums and financing of hospitals in their jurisdiction. The central government determines federal health legislation and regulates the health insurance market (including payment procedures and defining the health services to be covered by compulsory health insurance packages).

Basic health insurance is compulsory for all Swiss residents. Residents can choose from around 60 insurance companies. The insured can also choose the annual excess they will pay in the event of making a claim or claims. This excess is in the range of 300 to 2,500 Swiss Francs, with the monthly premium (ranging from 230 to 650 CHF) being lowered when a higher excess is selected. In addition to the excess, 10% of the yearly health expenditures are payable by the insured to a maximum of 700 Swiss Francs. In contrast to other countries, Swiss residents have the free choice of their physicians, hospital and other health care providers. However, individuals can choose insurance plans with managed care networks or GPs as gatekeepers where premiums are reduced.

Approximately 37% of all Swiss residents receive subsidies from their cantons for their health insurance to prevent premiums exceeding 8 - 10% of their household's income. Around half of inpatient health care costs are also paid by the cantons, with the goal of providing equal access to high-quality health care.

The insurance providers are prevented by law from making a profit from compulsory insurance packages, but they can profit from additional private insurance packages e.g. covering dental care, single bed rooms in hospitals or complementary medicine (Biller-Andorno and Zeltner, 2015; Reinhardt, 2004).

Demographic changes and constantly rising health-care costs have created challenges for the Swiss health care system in the provision of sufficient health care professionals to deliver services for an elderly population and in preventing supply-induced overconsumption (Biller-Andorno and Zeltner, 2015). The fragmented health care system and the sheer number of health-care- and insuranceproviders makes it challenging to collate data to provide insights into opportunities for improvement in Swiss health care. Nevertheless, the awareness of this great need for more information is

increasing. The Swiss National Sciences Foundation just released a call for proposals to promote innovative health services research, examine the challenges of caring for chronically ill and improving the usability of health data (SNSF, 2015).

1.2 Health services research

The U.S. National Library of Medicine lists on their website HSR definitions of five American institutions from 1980 to 2000 and summarizes: "..., health services researchers investigate three major aspects of health care: access to care, the quality of care, and its cost. Health services researchers attempt to evaluate the effects and outcomes of the health care 'system' on people's health." (NIH, 2014)

In August 2015, the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health released a factsheet about HSR, stating that there is a backlog in Switzerland in HSR and results of HSR studies of other countries are not easily transferable to Switzerland. They define the aim of HSR in Switzerland as follows: to gain knowledge about how to optimize the structure of health care, how to increase the health care quality and efficiency, how to reduce over-, under- and wrong utilization of health-care services, and how patients' safety and navigation through the system can be improved (BAG, 2015).

1.3 Regional variation

A major research focus of HSR is the identification of regional variation in health care. The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy & Clinical Practice in New Hampshire are pioneers in exploring regional variation using small area analysis in the US health-care system. For more than 20 years, they have explored efficiency and effectiveness of the US health care system in their Dartmouth atlases or reports of health care presenting maps and analyses of regional variation in costs, surgical procedures, end of life care or supply-sensitive care (The Dartmouth institute, 2016). The National Health Service England have published atlases of variation in health care for topics like diabetes, respiratory disease or diagnostic services since 2010 (NHS Right Care, 2016).

In Switzerland and elsewhere, considerable geographical and temporal variation in cardiovascular health care and mortality has been shown (David E.Wennberg and John D. Birkmeyer, 1999; Insam et al., 2014, 2013; Maeder et al., 2010; Marques-Vidal and Paccaud, 2012; Radovanovic et al., 2012). Variations can be shown in costs, treatment pattern, intensity of care, health outcome (e.g. mortality), re-hospitalisations as a measure of quality of care and health care expenditures, as well as utilization of health care providers (Agarwal et al., 2015; Busato et al., 2012; Panczak et al., 2012; Roussot et al., 2016). Several factors cause regional variation: differences in the prevalence of the underlying diseases, patient's medical conditions, demographic and socioeconomic characteristics, regional differences in capacity, quality and accessibility of supply, financial incentives related to

different reimbursement systems, as well as patient or provider driven deviations from evidencebased practice. High variation can point to unnecessary care or underutilization of necessary care.

1.4 CVD – epidemiology, aetiology and treatment

Cardiovascular diseases belong to the non-communicable diseases (NCDs), also known as chronic diseases, with long duration and slow progression. The four main types of NCDs are CVD, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases and diabetes. Common potentially modifiable risk factors for dying from non-communicable diseases are physical inactivity, tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol and unhealthy diets. Globally, 17.5 million people die from CVD every year, making it the leading cause of death in the world (WHO, 2015a, 2008). CVD also causes the largest economic burden of disease worldwide. In 2004, the British National Health Service spent 21% of their health expenditures on CVD treatment alone (Luengo-Fernández et al., 2006).

Although over three quarters of CVD deaths take place in low- and middle-income countries and deaths from CVD decreased in high-income countries over the last decade, CVD is still the main cause of death in Switzerland (Bundesamt für Statistik, 2014; WHO, 2015b). In total, 21,674 persons died of CVD in 2013 (9,745 men and 11,929 women). 13,864 cases have been hospitalized because of AMI (65.5% men, 34.5% women) and 14,192 cases because of stroke (51.2% men, 48.8% women) (SFSO, 2015a).

Due to the huge burden of disease from CVD, various studies (Framingham Heart study, MONICA -Multinational Monitoring of trends and determinants in cardiovascular disease) were started to examine the determinants and risk factors, changes in prevalence and incidence of CVD, preventive factors and medication, the development of a risk score or the evaluation of different treatment procedures, which resulted in evidence based treatment guidelines (D'Agostino et al., 2013; Eriksson et al., 2012; Hense, 2000; Mendis; O'Gara et al., 2013; Peltonen et al., 1998; Steg et al., 2012; Windecker et al., 2014).

1.4.1 Aetiology of CVD

Cardiovascular disease comprises a group of disorders of the heart, blood vessels and vascular diseases of the brain. CVD due to atherosclerosis comprises ischemic heart disease or coronary artery disease (e.g. angina pectoris, heart attack), cerebrovascular disease (e.g. stroke) and diseases of the aorta and arteries, including hypertension and peripheral vascular disease. Other diseases belonging to CVD are rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease (malformations of heart structures), cardiomyopathies (disorders of the heart muscle) and cardiac arrhythmias (WHO, 2015b, 2011).

Atherosclerosis is a slow progressing pathological process in the walls of blood vessels, often beginning in childhood and adolescence. Several risk factors are known: tobacco use, physical inactivity, obesity, diabetes, unhealthy diet, harmful use of alcohol, hypertension, raised blood lipids, male gender, advancing age or genetic disposition. Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory process affecting medium- and large-sized blood vessels. Fatty material and cholesterol are deposited inside the lumen of the arteries. The continuing deposition of these plaques cause the lumen to become narrow and the blood flow is limited. Finally, the plaque can rupture and result in the formation of a thrombus. If the thrombus is large enough to block a coronary or a cerebral blood vessel than this results in a heart attack or ischemic stroke.

Another cause of stroke, although it is less frequent, is bleeding (haemorrhage) triggered by a rupture of a blood vessel due to an aneurysm or due to damage from high blood pressure. Also travelling blood clots can cause a stroke (Davis, 2005; WHO, 2011). Ischemic strokes are by far more frequent than haemorrhagic strokes, but this ratio differs by regions. Ischemic strokes account for approximately 80-90 % of all strokes (Andersen et al., 2009; Khaw and Kessler, 2006).

There are two different types of acute myocardial infarctions: non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI or non-STEMI) and ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) referring to the different directions of ST-segment of an electrocardiogram. The ST elevation is due to the entire thickness of the myocardium having undergone necrosis, usually triggered by a total occlusion of the infarct-related artery. A non-occlusive thrombus causes NSTEMI (Kumar and Cannon, 2009a, 2009b), which is more frequent than STEMI. It's estimated that each year worldwide more than 4 million people have a NSTEMI compared to more than 3 million having an acute STEMI (White and Chew, 2008). The change of the STEMI to NSTEMI ratio (declining STEMI and increasing NSTEMI diagnoses) in the past decades is most likely attributed to the changes in the diagnosis of AMI as well as the amelioration of troponin assays which lead to more diagnoses of NSTEMI instead of unstable angina (McManus et al., 2011; Tisminetzky et al., 2014). Together with unstable angina, STEMI and NSTEMI form the group of acute coronary syndromes (ACS).

1.4.2 Treatment of CVD

Emergency treatment depends on the type of AMI and stroke, the condition of the patient and the time from symptom onset and start of treatment. The earlier the treatment is initiated the more deaths and disability from heart attack and stroke can be prevented (Moser et al., 2006). AMI patients will have the greatest benefit from reperfusion therapy when it is performed within 2-3 hours from symptoms onset (Windecker et al., 2014). Stroke patients treated within 3 hours of stroke onset will have less disability after 3 months than patients with delayed care (Hacke et al., 2004). One component influencing the time to treatment is the travel distance to hospitals. The relationship of

mortality from AMI or stroke with the distance to different types of hospital will be investigated in article 4.

In both AMI and stroke emergency treatment, it is of great importance to immediately reduce pain, remove the clot or blockage and prevent further heart attacks or strokes. The European Guidelines for management of acute STEMI patients recommend immediate angiography with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) if it can be performed in a timely manner (first medical contact to reperfusion therapy ≤ 90 min). Another option is pharmacological reperfusion with fibrinolytic therapy. Although primary PCI should be the primary choice of treatment, according to guidelines, performance of primary PCI is more difficult to implement than fibrinolysis as treatment in PCI-capable hospitals must be available in timely manner. If primary PCI is not possible to perform in time then fibrinolysis should be performed within 30 min of the first medical contact. Another treatment is coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG), which is an open heart surgery and much more invasive than the other two procedures. This procedure is not often performed in the acute phase of STEMI (Steg et al., 2012). In article 2 of the thesis the adherence to the treatment guidelines for STEMI is examined.

The treatment of NSTEMI is dependent on the risk profile of the patient. For low risk patients a conservative strategy (medical management, catheterization, revascularization if necessary) should be chosen, for high risk patients an early invasive strategy (cardiac catheterization, revascularization with PCI or CABG) is the treatment of choice (Hamm et al., 2011).

Ideally, stroke patients should be treated by stroke units, as they provide a reduction in mortality and improve the outcome of stroke in general (European Stroke Organisation Executive Committee, 2008; Steiner et al., 2006). Again, the treatment of ischemic or haemorrhagic stroke patients depends on the condition of the patient. The usual treatment for ischemic stroke is Aspirin given intravenously to prevent blood clots from forming and to prevent future strokes. The gold standard is an intravenous tissue plasminogen activator to break down the clots. Other treatments are mechanical clot removal, angioplasty and stents (European Stroke Organisation Executive Committee, 2008).

In the treatment of haemorrhagic stroke it is extremely important to lower the blood pressure in the brain, which is achieved through the administration of medications. Common treatments for ruptured intracranial aneurysms, a type of haemorrhagic stroke, are neurosurgical clipping and endovascular embolization (coiling) (Molyneux et al., 2002).

As stated previously, AMI and stroke, once they have occurred, are severe diseases and need immediate treatment. However, prevention of these conditions should be the major goal, as the

majority of cases are due to modifiable risk factors. Appropriate treatment of known risk factors for AMI and stroke (e.g. hypertension or diabetes) by health care services are necessary for disease prevention, in addition to other interventions such as lifestyle changes.

1.5 Methods and data

In the following paragraphs I will present the study designs and the data sets that were used in this thesis.

1.5.1 Study designs

All study designs presented in this thesis are observational studies. In contrast to experimental studies, the investigator simply observes and does not intervene in observational studies.

Cross-sectional study

Cross-sectional studies measure exposures and outcomes simultaneously, i.e. it is a snapshot of the population's health status at a certain point in time. It is possible to identify prevalent cases, but not incident (new) cases. Therefore, this study design is also called a prevalence study. Cross-sectional studies are relatively easy and cheap to conduct and are often used for health services planning or to determine current health practices. Repeated cross-sectional studies are used to discover changes or trends in the outcome(s) or exposure(s) over time, which makes them ideal for monitoring purposes. Since information on both the exposure and outcomes are collected simultaneously, it is normally not possible to know whether the exposure preceded the outcome. Having no information about the temporal relationship of the exposure and outcome diminishes the possibility to infer causality quite substantially. Nevertheless, cross-sectional studies are used to generate research hypotheses, which then can then be applied to cohort or case-control studies to establish etiologic relationships (Carneiro and Howard, 2011; Gordis, 2009).

Cohort study

The word "cohort" is derived from the Latin word "cohors". One Roman legion consisted of 10 cohorts with a specific number of soldiers who would be traced during the battle (Song and Chung, 2010). The word "cohort" was first introduced into the epidemiology arena in a 1935 publication by Wade Hampton Frost (Doll, 2001; Song and Chung, 2010). The current definition of cohort in epidemiology is a "group of people with defined characteristics who are followed up to determine incidence of, or mortality from, some specific disease, all causes of death, or some other outcome." (Morabia, 2004)

A common characteristic of the study subjects can be their place of work or residence, their age or lifestyle choices (e.g. smoking habits), for example. Cohort studies are normally used to examine one

or several common outcomes of interest. It is also possible to use a cohort design to study rare exposures, since the study population is selected by their exposure status. Investigator(s) select an exposed and an unexposed group of individuals who have not yet experienced the outcome of interest to form the study population. Participants are followed over time until the outcome occurs. The incidence of an outcome in the exposed group is then compared with the incidence of the outcome in the unexposed group in order to measure the effect of the exposure on the outcome of interest. The cohort study might include more than two groups (e.g. there may be groups representing no, little, moderate and high exposure). Cohort studies belong to longitudinal study designs which implies conducting several observations of the same subject over a period of time. The advantage is that the investigators can detect the developments or changes in characteristics of the study subjects (Carneiro and Howard, 2011; Gordis, 2009). Due to cohort studies identifying the exposure before the outcome, cohort studies meet the temporality criterion for causality and can therefore provide stronger scientific evidence of causality than cross-sectional studies (Song and Chung, 2010).

Cohort studies can be prospective or retrospective. Prospective cohort studies start, as described above, with the selection of the study population and finishes with the experience of the outcome or the predefined time frame. The disadvantages of this design are that they may be expensive to conduct, due to the large number of people followed over time, and that they often required long durations of follow-up. Furthermore, maintaining follow-up is difficult and loss to follow-up is a serious issue.

For retrospective cohort studies the investigator(s) identifies a historical cohort (e.g. all students of a school at January 1st, 2000) that don't have the outcome at the start date. Historical data is used to obtain the outcome and exposure (e.g. past records of yearly health examinations at school). The advantage of this study design is the reduction of the time required for the study, especially when studying diseases which take decades to develop. Often, routinely collected data are used in a retrospective cohort study and typically these data were not collected for the purpose of the study, and consequently important information about risk factors or confounders are not available (e.g. student was not present at all health examinations) or are of poor quality (e.g. incomplete health examination sheets) which can result in a biased cohort due to selection bias (Carneiro and Howard, 2011; Gordis, 2009; Song and Chung, 2010).

Article 4 of this thesis is presenting the investigation of a possible relationship of the distance to hospital and AMI or stroke mortality using the data of the Swiss National Cohort (SNC).

1.5.2 Data sources

In the following I give an overview of the data sets that were used to conduct the studies described in this thesis. Unlike Scandinavian countries, Switzerland does not have a universal personal identifier that can be used to link different data sets. Nevertheless, by using probabilistic and deterministic linkage techniques, various data sets without unique personal identifiers can be linked e.g. census data and death notifications (see the description of the Swiss National Cohort).

Hospital discharge statistics (medizinische Statistik der Krankenhäuser)

The Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO) started the mandatory collection of hospital discharge statistics from all Swiss hospitals in 1998. This data is used to monitor the incidence and prevalence of the most important diseases, to provide basic medical data to investigate inter-cantonal care structures and to provide a data set for researchers and the public. Every record in the data set represents a hospitalisation and contains around 50 variables to describe the patient's characteristics (e.g. age, gender, and residential region called MedStat, see section 1.6.3) as well as information on where the patient was before admission (home, another hospital, nursing home, etc.), whether it was an emergency admission, how many hours the patient spent in an intensive care unit as well as the main diagnoses and comorbidities using ICD-10 codes (International Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death, version 10), and the description of the treatment using CHOP codes (Swiss operation procedure code). Updated coding guidelines are published regularly, describing the procedure of the diagnosis and treatment coding. Before releasing the data to researchers, the hospital creates an encrypted and anonymous patient id using the patient's first name, surname, gender and date of birth. The hospitals send the data to the cantons, which are responsible for cleaning and checking the data. The cantons then transfer the data to the SFSO. The encrypted id enables the SFSO to identify the patient in different hospitals and over the years. Patients cannot be identified as a specific individual in the population (e.g. by name) through data in the SFSO.

Hospital statistics (Krankenhausstatistik)

Since 1997, all hospitals are obligated to send information about their technical infrastructure, staff and their ambulant and inpatient activities to the SFSO. For instance, they have to provide information about the type of hospital, number of CT scanners, MRI and angiography devices, number of beds, number of employees, their training and level of employment, number of discharges, finances and costs.

The hospital discharge and hospital statistics are used by the cantons for their health care planning and delivery of health services. The SFSO uses the data to inform the public about the health status

of the population or trends in disease incidence. Research institutes also have access to the data, although not in the same detail as, for example, the cantons.

Hospital list of the Federal Office for Health (FOH)

The Federal Office for Health publishes key figures of all Swiss hospitals every year including their structure, staff, services, patients' characteristics and financial situation. This key figures data set is based on the hospital discharge statistics and the hospital statistics, but presents only a limited number of variables. Additionally, the addresses of the hospitals are provided in the dataset. Unfortunately, this list of addresses is not complete as companies that have several hospital locations report cumulated data for all their locations and only the address of the headquarters is stated. Therefore, I used data from the Federal Office of Topography (swisstopo) and TomTom to add the missing hospital locations.

The Swiss National Cohort (SNC)

The Swiss National Cohort, established in 2005, is an ongoing longitudinal study, based on census data from 1990 and 2000 on the resident population of Switzerland. Data from 6.87 million individuals from the 1990 census and 7.29 million individuals from the 2000 census are included. These data were linked to mortality and emigration records up to 2008 resulting in 1,052,527 linked deaths (see figure 1) (Spoerri et al., 2010).

Since 1850 censuses were conducted every ten years using questionnaires delivered to all residents of Switzerland. The census consists of three questionnaires to survey several variables: one for each person (for instance: date of birth, gender, marital status, citizenship, education, religious affiliation, number of children, languages, current employment situation, means of transport), one for each household (for instance: number of rooms, number of persons in the household) and for each building filled in by the owner of the building (for instance: type of building, number of floors, heating system, price of rent). The building questionnaires could then be linked to the federal registry of buildings which provided the geographical coordinates of each building. The dataset of the 2000 census includes 172 variables for each individual, 204 variables on household and 48 on building level (Spoerri et al., 2010).

The cause of death statistics have been collected in Switzerland since 1876 (Bundesamt für Statistik, 1996). The cause of death is coded according to the ICD (ICD-8 until 1994, ICD-10 since 1995). Aside from the cause of death, death certifications also record information on date of birth, gender, marital status, the place of residence and religion. The aim of the SNC is to examine all-cause and cause-specific mortality according to socioeconomic determinants.

Due to the lack of a unique person identifier and the anonymous death registration in Switzerland, the linkage used a combination of deterministic and probabilistic methods based on sex, gender, date of birth, marital status, nationality, religion and place of residence. For the linkage procedure the Generalized Record Linkage System package developed by Statistics Canada was used (Fair, 2004). Results of a pilot study in the canton of Zurich indicated that the linkage can be improved by including emigration records as well (Bopp and Gutzwiller, 2000).

Of the 1,122,376 deaths recorded in the mortality statistics, 93.8% could be linked to a census record from 1990 or 2000. The main characteristics of the unlinked deaths were: young (10-29 years), no Swiss nationality, female and single. Furthermore, 6.9% of the persons registered in the 1990 census couldn't be linked to a mortality, emigration or 2000 census record. The majority of these unlinked records are related to young individuals (10-29 years), which most likely refers to their higher mobility and residence in large cities (Spoerri et al., 2010) (see figure 1).



Figure 1: Structure of the Swiss National Cohort from Spoerri et al 2010.

The accuracy of the official mortality records differ according to the cause of death. Well-defined diagnoses are better reported than less well-defined diagnoses. The quality should be satisfactory for malignant neoplasms, cerebrovascular disease, ischemic heart disease and accidents, whereas for diseases of the nervous system, chronic respiratory diseases and other forms of heart disease the accuracy of the death certificates are less reliable (Bopp et al., 2009).

Another limitation is the lack of information about the income, capital or other assets of the individuals (Spoerri et al., 2010). Nevertheless, Panczak et al. were able to develop the Swiss neighborhood socioeconomic position index (SEP) based on the census data using the variables median rent, education and occupation of household heads and household crowding (Panczak et al., 2012). The development of the SEP broadened the possibility for subsequent studies to include the socioeconomic position of the neighborhood of the individual.

Similar to other countries, the census procedure has changed in Switzerland. Since 2010 the census is conducted every year using the data from registries (county and cantonal resident registries, federal registry of buildings) instead of sending questionnaires to the entire population. Just 5% of the residents have been interviewed in written or oral form each year to add information that is not recorded in the registries (e.g. work, mobility, education, language etc.). The registry data, the micro survey as well as the death and emigration records will be linked with each other and added to the current SNC data (BFS 2011).

The study design of the SNC is described in detail by Bopp et al and Spoerri et al (Bopp et al., 2009; Spoerri et al., 2010). Further information (e.g. the census questionnaires) can also find here: www.swissnationalcohort.ch. In article 4 of this thesis I used the SNC from 2000 to 2008 to examine the effect of distance to hospital on mortality due to AMI and stroke.

Additional data

In addition to the major data sets presented above, additional data that were used in this thesis were:

- SFSO census data from 2010, number of persons per community stratified by age and gender (SHAPE project)
- Community classification data set from the SFSO (Raumgliederung)
- A list of physicians and their specialisation, sector of employment (ambulatory, stationary, other), and postcode, from the Swiss Medical association
- Billing records of dead persons insured 12 months before their death from 6 major Swiss health insurances

1.6 Geographical units and their spatial congruence

Having several data sets with different geographical reference units (e.g. administrative areas, postcodes) is challenging, especially when they are not congruent with each other or change over time. In the following I give an overview and description of all used geographical units and how they relate to each other.

Communities

Communities are the smallest administrative units in Switzerland and are the basis of higher-level administrative units (districts, canton), regional planning regions and analytic regions (e.g. language regions, commuter regions, urban or rural classification). Community borders and numbers change as communities frequently merge, separate or otherwise restructure (reference date 31.12.2010: 2584 communities; reference date 31.12.2015: 2324 communities) (SFSO, 2016a).

Postcodes

A Swiss postcode is a series of four digits used in the address for the purpose of sorting mail. Normally, they are referring to a specific geographical area. There are also postcodes assigned to individual addresses or institutions. Postcodes are assigned by the Swiss Post and are subject to changes (implementation of new or abolition of old postcodes) due to population decrease or increase. Since postcodes are assigned independently of the community administrative units, they may not map perfectly to one another. As of 1st August 2015, there were 3,199 postcodes in Switzerland and 2,324 communities. Around 60% of these 3,199 postcodes mapped to one community or part of one community only. The remaining postcodes areas belonged to more than one community (see figure 2) (SFSO, 2015b; Swisstopo, 2016).

MedStat

The 705 Swiss MedStat regions are used in the hospital discharge and hospital statistics to determine the geographical region of the patients' place of residence and the location of the hospital. They were developed to prevent the identification of persons with rare diseases. MedStat regions consist of aggregated postcode areas resulting in more or less the same number of inhabitants per MedStat. Because postcodes are changing, the SFSO publishes a new table each year determining which postcode belongs to which MedStat region. The hospitals have to incorporate this updated list into their hospital information system to assign the patient to the correct MedStat region (SFSO, 2016b). In the article about avoidable hospitalisations we used the term aggregated zip-code areas instead of MedStat regions (see article 1).

In 2008, the SFSO changed the formation of the MedStat regions, i.e. different postcodes to before were aggregated to new MedStat regions. Old names were used for new regions at new locations. The new MedStat regions are not compatible with MedStat regions before 2008. Unfortunately, my investigations showed that not all hospitals updated the postcode-MedStat list instantly but one or two years later. Consequently, we found huge variation in the number of hospitalisations per MedStat region in the hospital discharge statistics from 2008 to 2010 due to the wrong assignment of the MedStat region (Berlin et al., 2014b). Therefore, we decided to exclude 6 cantons from the

analysis of the study of avoidable hospitalisations (see article 1) (Berlin et al., 2014a), changed the focus from small area analysis in the treatment article to the difference between the volume of cases of hospitals (see article 2) and limited our analysis in the end of life and treatment articles to the data from 2010 and/or 2011 (see article 2 and 3).



Figure 2: Communities, postcodes and MedStat regions and their spatial congruence. The four maps presenting the same geographical extent of the area around the city Winterthur.

Hospital service areas

Hospital service areas (HSAs) are created on the basis of the hospital discharge statistics and represent utilisation-based areas. HSAs were constructed by cross-tabulating the sum of the discharges of every MedStat region of the patients to the MedStat region of all possible hospitals. The hospital MedStat region with the highest number of discharges from a specific residential MedStat region was the main hospital provider region for the population of that particular residential MedStat region. Some assignments had to be adjusted manually e.g. when the patients went to two or more hospital regions equally often, i.e. the number of discharges was almost similar. In summary, one HSA consists of one or more MedStat regions and can also be seen as the major catchment area of the hospitals. In areas with a low hospital density the HSAs can be geographically large. It is also possible to construct disease-specific HSAs by only using the discharges with this specific disease. More details about the construction of HSAs is described elsewhere (Klauss et al., 2005; Wennberg and Gittelsohn, 1973). Hospital service areas may also be called health service areas, as we did in article 1.

Geographical coordinates

The Swiss building and flat register (www.housing-stat.ch) provides, besides other variables, the geographical coordinates of all buildings used for living. The data of the registry were linked to the census data of 2000 and are therefore also included in the SNC data set.

1.7 Objective of this thesis

The overall aim of this thesis is to make a substantial contribution to the investigation of the determinants of regional variation in CVD health care and mortality in Switzerland.

Specific objectives included:

- 1) To examine regional variation in avoidable hospitalisations and to identify factors that affect them, such as medical resources, reimbursement systems or rurality (Article 1).
- To analyze differences in evidence-based treatment of STEMI cases by hospital volume (Article 2).
- 3) To investigate the variation in costs for end-of-life care and detect the factors influencing the variation across regions (Article 3).
- To explore the influence of distance from place of residence to different hospital types on AMI and stroke mortality (Article 4).

1.8 References

- Agarwal, S., Menon, V., Jaber, W.A., 2015. Outcomes after acute ischemic stroke in the United States: does residential ZIP code matter? J. Am. Heart Assoc. 4, e001629. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001629
- Andersen, K.K., Olsen, T.S., Dehlendorff, C., Kammersgaard, L.P., 2009. Hemorrhagic and ischemic strokes compared: stroke severity, mortality, and risk factors. Stroke. 40, 2068–72.
 doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.540112

BAG, B. für G., 2015. Faktenblatt Versorgungsforschung. Bundesamt für Gesundheit BAG.

- Berlin, C., Busato, A., Rosemann, T., Djalali, S., Maessen, M., 2014a. Avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland: a small area analysis on regional variation, density of physicians, hospital supply and rurality. BMC Health Serv. Res. 14, 289. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-289
- Berlin, C., Panczak, R., Egger, M., 2014b. Versorgungsforschung mit Routinedaten in der Schweiz: eine Herausforderung. Schweizerische Ärztezeitung 95, 1892–5.
- Biller-Andorno, N., Zeltner, T., 2015. Individual Responsibility and Community Solidarity The Swiss
 Health Care System. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2193–2197. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1508256
- Bopp, M., Gutzwiller, F., 2000. Record Linkage in der Volkszählung 1990 und Todesursachenstatistik 1990-97 in der Schweiz.
- Bopp, M., Spoerri, A., Zwahlen, M., Gutzwiller, F., Paccaud, F., Braun-Fahrländer, C., Rougemont, A.,
 Egger, M., 2009. Cohort Profile: the Swiss National Cohort--a longitudinal study of 6.8 million
 people. Int. J. Epidemiol. 38, 379–84. doi:10.1093/ije/dyn042
- Bundesamt für Statistik, B., 2014. Todesursachenstatistik: Sterblichkeit und deren Hauptursachen in der Schweiz, 2012. Neuchâtel.
- Bundesamt für Statistik, B., 1996. Schweizerische Todesursachenstatistik Richtlinien für die ärztliche Bescheinigung der Todesursachen. Bern.
- Busato, A., Matter, P., Künzi, B., Goodman, D., 2012. Geographic variation in the cost of ambulatory care in Switzerland. J. Health Serv. Res. Policy 17, 18–23. doi:10.1258/jhsrp.2011.010056

Carneiro, I., Howard, N., 2011. Introduction to Epidemiology. Open University Press, London.

D'Agostino, R.B., Pencina, M.J., Massaro, J.M., Coady, S., 2013. Cardiovascular Disease Risk

Assessment: Insights from Framingham. Glob. Heart 8, 11–23. doi:10.1016/j.gheart.2013.01.001

- David E.Wennberg, John D. Birkmeyer, 1999. Dartmouth Atlas of Cardiovascular Health Care.
- Davis, N.E., 2005. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory process. J. Insur. Med. 37, 72–5.
- Doll, R., 2001. Cohort studies: history of the method. I. Prospective cohort studies. Sozial- und Präventivmedizin 46, 75–86.
- Eriksson, M., Carlberg, B., Eliasson, M., 2012. The disparity in long-term survival after a first stroke in patients with and without diabetes persists: the Northern Sweden MONICA study. Cerebrovasc.

Dis. 34, 153-60. doi:10.1159/000339763

- European Stroke Organisation Executive Committee, E., 2008. Guidelines for management of ischaemic stroke and transient ischaemic attack 2008. Cerebrovasc. Dis. 25, 457–507. doi:10.1159/000131083
- Fair, M., 2004. Generalized Record Linkage System Statistics Canada 's Record Linkage Software. Austrian J. Stat. 33, 37–53.
- Gordis, L., 2009. Epidemiology, 4th ed. Elsevier Saunders, Philadelphia.
- Hacke, W., Donnan, G., Fieschi, C., Kaste, M., von Kummer, R., Broderick, J.P., Brott, T., Frankel, M.,
 Grotta, J.C., Haley, E.C., Kwiatkowski, T., Levine, S.R., Lewandowski, C., Lu, M., Lyden, P., Marler,
 J.R., Patel, S., Tilley, B.C., Albers, G., Bluhmki, E., Wilhelm, M., Hamilton, S., 2004. Association of
 outcome with early stroke treatment: pooled analysis of ATLANTIS, ECASS, and NINDS rt-PA
 stroke trials. Lancet 363, 768–74. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)15692-4
- Hamm, C.W., Bassand, J.-P., Agewall, S., Bax, J., Boersma, E., Bueno, H., Caso, P., Dudek, D., Gielen, S.,
 Huber, K., Ohman, M., Petrie, M.C., Sonntag, F., Uva, M.S., Storey, R.F., Wijns, W., Zahger, D.,
 2011. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting
 without persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute coronary
 syndromes (ACS) in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevatio. Eur. Heart J. 32,
 2999–3054. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr236
- Hense, H.W., 2000. [Epidemiology of arterial hypertension and implications for its prevention. 10yeart results of the MONICA Study Augsburg]. Dtsch. Med. Wochenschr. 125, 1397–402. doi:10.1055/s-2000-8316
- Insam, C., Paccaud, F., Marques-Vidal, P., 2014. The region makes the difference: disparities in management of acute myocardial infarction within Switzerland. Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol. 21, 541–8. doi:10.1177/2047487312469122
- Insam, C., Paccaud, F., Marques-Vidal, P., 2013. Trends in hospital discharges, management and inhospital mortality from acute myocardial infarction in Switzerland between 1998 and 2008.
 BMC Public Health 13, 270. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-270
- Khaw, A. V, Kessler, C., 2006. [Stroke: epidemiology, risk factors, and genetics]. Hämostaseologie 26, 287–97.
- Klauss, G., Staub, L., Widmer, M., Busato, A., 2005. Hospital service areas -- a new tool for health care planning in Switzerland. BMC Health Serv. Res. 5, 33. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-5-33
- Kumar, A., Cannon, C.P., 2009a. Acute coronary syndromes: diagnosis and management, part I. Mayo Clin. Proc. 84, 917–38. doi:10.1016/S0025-6196(11)60509-0
- Kumar, A., Cannon, C.P., 2009b. Acute Coronary Syndromes: Diagnosis and Management, Part II.Mayo Clin. Proc. 84, 1021–1036. doi:10.4065/84.11.1021

- Luengo-Fernández, R., Leal, J., Gray, A., Petersen, S., Rayner, M., 2006. Cost of cardiovascular diseases in the United Kingdom. Heart 92, 1384–9. doi:10.1136/hrt.2005.072173
- Maeder, M.T., Windecker, S., Pedrazzini, G., Roffi, M., Kaiser, C.A., Stauffer, J., Rickli, H., 2010. Interventional cardiology in Switzerland during the years 2008 and 2009. Cardiovasc. Med. 13, 370–375.
- Marques-Vidal, P., Paccaud, F., 2012. Regional differences in self-reported screening, prevalence and management of cardiovascular risk factors in Switzerland. BMC Public Health 12, 246. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-246
- McManus, D.D., Gore, J., Yarzebski, J., Spencer, F., Lessard, D., Goldberg, R.J., 2011. Recent trends in the incidence, treatment, and outcomes of patients with STEMI and NSTEMI. Am. J. Med. 124, 40–7. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2010.07.023
- Mendis, S.,. The contribution of the Framingham Heart Study to the prevention of cardiovascular disease: a global perspective. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis. 53, 10–4. doi:10.1016/j.pcad.2010.01.001
- Molyneux, A., Kerr, R., Stratton, I., Sandercock, P., Clarke, M., Shrimpton, J., Holman, R., 2002.
 International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomized trial. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 11, 304–14. doi:10.1053/jscd.2002.130390

Morabia, A., 2004. A History of Epidemiologic Methods and Concepts. Birkhaeuser Verlag, Basel.

- Moser, D.K., Kimble, L.P., Alberts, M.J., Alonzo, A., Croft, J.B., Dracup, K., Evenson, K.R., Go, A.S.,
 Hand, M.M., Kothari, R.U., Mensah, G.A., Morris, D.L., Pancioli, A.M., Riegel, B., Zerwic, J.J.,
 2006. Reducing delay in seeking treatment by patients with acute coronary syndrome and
 stroke: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on cardiovascular
 nursing and stroke council. Circulation 114, 168–82. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.176040
- NHS Right Care, 2016. NHS Atlas [WWW Document]. URL http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/nhs-atlas/ (accessed 1.19.16).
- NIH, N.L. of M., 2014. Intro to HSR e-class: Module 1 What is Health Services Research (HSR)? [WWW Document]. URL https://www.nlm.nih.gov/nichsr/ihcm/01whatis/whatis07.html (accessed 1.14.16).
- O'Gara, P.T., Kushner, F.G., Ascheim, D.D., Casey, D.E., Chung, M.K., de Lemos, J.A., Ettinger, S.M.,
 Fang, J.C., Fesmire, F.M., Franklin, B.A., Granger, C.B., Krumholz, H.M., Linderbaum, J.A.,
 Morrow, D.A., Newby, L.K., Ornato, J.P., Ou, N., Radford, M.J., Tamis-Holland, J.E., Tommaso,
 C.L., Tracy, C.M., Woo, Y.J., Zhao, D.X., Anderson, J.L., Jacobs, A.K., Halperin, J.L., Albert, N.M.,
 Brindis, R.G., Creager, M.A., DeMets, D., Guyton, R.A., Hochman, J.S., Kovacs, R.J., Ohman, E.M.,
 Stevenson, W.G., Yancy, C.W., 2013. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of STelevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology

Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 127, e362–425. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e3182742cf6

- OECD/WHO, 2011. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland 2011. OECD Publishing. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264120914-en
- Panczak, R., Galobardes, B., Voorpostel, M., Spoerri, A., Zwahlen, M., Egger, M., 2012. A Swiss
 neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position: development and association with mortality. J.
 Epidemiol. Community Health 66, 1129–36. doi:10.1136/jech-2011-200699
- Peltonen, M., Stegmayr, B., Asplund, K., 1998. Time trends in long-term survival after stroke: the Northern Sweden Multinational Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease (MONICA) study, 1985-1994. Stroke. 29, 1358–65.
- Radovanovic, D., Nallamothu, B.K., Seifert, B., Bertel, O., Eberli, F., Urban, P., Pedrazzini, G., Rickli, H.,
 Stauffer, J.-C., Windecker, S., Erne, P., 2012. Temporal trends in treatment of ST-elevation
 myocardial infarction among men and women in Switzerland between 1997 and 2011. Eur.
 Hear. J. Acute Cardiovasc. Care 1, 183–191. doi:10.1177/2048872612454021
- Reinhardt, U.E., 2004. The Swiss health system: regulated competition without managed care. JAMA 292, 1227–31. doi:10.1001/jama.292.10.1227
- Roussot, A., Cottenet, J., Gadreau, M., Giroud, M., Béjot, Y., Quantin, C., 2016. The use of national administrative data to describe the spatial distribution of in-hospital mortality following stroke in France, 2008–2011. Int. J. Health Geogr. 15, 2. doi:10.1186/s12942-015-0028-2
- SFSO, 2016a. Historisiertes Gemeindeverzeichnis der Schweiz [WWW Document]. URL http://www.portal-stat.admin.ch/gde-tool/core/xshared/gewo.php?lng=de-de (accessed 1.18.16).
- SFSO, 2016b. Nomenklaturen Medstat-Regionen [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/infothek/nomenklaturen/blank/blank/medstat/ 02.html (accessed 1.19.16).
- SFSO, 2015a. Gesundheit Taschenstatistik 2015. Neuchâtel.
- SFSO, 2015b. Ortschaftenverzeichnis der Schweiz [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/infothek/nomenklaturen/blank/blank/gem_liste /04.html (accessed 1.19.16).
- SNSF, 2015. 74 NRP: Smarter Health Care Call for proposals.
- Song, J.W., Chung, K.C., 2010. Observational studies: cohort and case-control studies. Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 126, 2234–42. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181f44abc
- Spoerri, A., Zwahlen, M., Egger, M., Bopp, M., 2010. The Swiss National Cohort: a unique database for national and international researchers. Int. J. Public Health 55, 239–42. doi:10.1007/s00038-010-0160-5

- Steg, P.G., James, S.K., Atar, D., Badano, L.P., Blömstrom-Lundqvist, C., Borger, M.A., Di Mario, C.,
 Dickstein, K., Ducrocq, G., Fernandez-Aviles, F., Gershlick, A.H., Giannuzzi, P., Halvorsen, S.,
 Huber, K., Juni, P., Kastrati, A., Knuuti, J., Lenzen, M.J., Mahaffey, K.W., Valgimigli, M., van 't
 Hof, A., Widimsky, P., Zahger, D., 2012. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial
 infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Eur. Heart J. 33, 2569–619.
 doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs215
- Steiner, T., Kaste, M., Katse, M., Forsting, M., Mendelow, D., Kwiecinski, H., Szikora, I., Juvela, S.,
 Marchel, A., Chapot, R., Cognard, C., Unterberg, A., Hacke, W., 2006. Recommendations for the management of intracranial haemorrhage part I: spontaneous intracerebral haemorrhage. The European Stroke Initiative Writing Committee and the Writing Committee for the EUSI Executive Committee. Cerebrovasc. Dis. 22, 294–316. doi:10.1159/000094831
- Swisstopo, 2016. Amtliches Ortschaftenverzeichnis [WWW Document]. URL http://www.cadastre.ch/internet/kataster/de/home/services/service/plz.html (accessed 1.18.16).
- The Dartmouth institute, 2016. The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care [WWW Document]. URL http://www.dartmouthatlas.org/publications/reports.aspx (accessed 1.19.16).
- Tisminetzky, M., Coukos, J.A., McManus, D.D., Darling, C.E., Joffe, S., Gore, J., Lessard, D., Goldberg,
 R.J., 2014. Decade-long trends in the magnitude, treatment, and outcomes of patients aged 30 to 54 years hospitalized with ST-segment elevation and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Am. J. Cardiol. 113, 1606–10. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.02.012

Wennberg, J., Gittelsohn, 1973. Small area variations in health care delivery. Science 182, 1102–8.

- White, H.D., Chew, D.P., 2008. Acute myocardial infarction. Lancet (London, England) 372, 570–84. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61237-4
- WHO, 2015a. Noncommunicable diseases [WWW Document]. Fact sheet. URL http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/ (accessed 1.7.16).
- WHO, 2015b. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) [WWW Document]. Fact sheet Number 317. URL http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/ (accessed 1.7.16).
- WHO, 2011. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- WHO, 2008. 2008-2013 Action Plan for the Global Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva.
- Windecker, S., Kolh, P., Alfonso, F., Collet, J.-P., Cremer, J., Falk, V., Filippatos, G., Hamm, C., Head,
 S.J., Juni, P., Kappetein, A.P., Kastrati, A., Knuuti, J., Landmesser, U., Laufer, G., Neumann, F.-J.,
 Richter, D.J., Schauerte, P., Sousa Uva, M., Stefanini, G.G., Taggart, D.P., Torracca, L., Valgimigli,
 M., Wijns, W., Witkowski, A., Zamorano, J.L., Achenbach, S., Baumgartner, H., Bax, J.J., Bueno,

H., Dean, V., Deaton, C., Erol, C., Fagard, R., Ferrari, R., Hasdai, D., Hoes, A.W., Kirchhof, P.,
Lancellotti, P., Linhart, A., Nihoyannopoulos, P., Piepoli, M.F., Ponikowski, P., Sirnes, P.A.,
Tamargo, J.L., Tendera, M., Torbicki, A., Pepper, J., Anyanwu, A., Badimon, L., Bauersachs, J.,
Baumbach, A., Beygui, F., Bonaros, N., De Carlo, M., Dobrev, D., Dunning, J., Eeckhout, E.,
Gielen, S., Luckraz, H., Mahrholdt, H., Montalescot, G., Paparella, D., Rastan, A.J., Sanmartin, M.,
Sergeant, P., Silber, S., Tamargo, J., ten Berg, J., Thiele, H., van Geuns, R.-J., Wagner, H.-O.,
Wassmann, S., Wendler, O., 2014. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization:
The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and
the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) * Developed with the special
contributio. Eur. Heart J. ehu278–. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu278

2 Manuscripts

2.1 Article 1: Avoidable hospitalisations

Title:

Avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland: a small area analysis on regional variation, density of physicians, hospital supply and rurality

Claudia Berlin¹, André Busato^{1, 2}, Thomas Rosemann¹, Sima Djalali², Maud Maessen¹

¹ Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM), University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland ² Institute of General Practice and Health Services Research, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

> BMC Health Services Research 2014 DOI: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-289
RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

Avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland: a small area analysis on regional variation, density of physicians, hospital supply and rurality

Claudia Berlin¹, André Busato^{1,2^{*}}, Thomas Rosemann², Sima Djalali² and Maud Maessen^{1*}

Abstract

Background: Avoidable hospitalizations (AH) are hospital admissions for diseases and conditions that could have been prevented by appropriate ambulatory care. We examine regional variation of AH in Switzerland and the factors that determine AH.

Methods: We used hospital service areas, and data from 2008–2010 hospital discharges in Switzerland to examine regional variation in AH. Age and sex standardized AH were the outcome variable, and year of admission, primary care physician density, medical specialist density, rurality, hospital bed density and type of hospital reimbursement system were explanatory variables in our multilevel poisson regression.

Results: Regional differences in AH were as high as 12-fold. Poisson regression showed significant increase of all AH over time. There was a significantly lower rate of all AH in areas with more primary care physicians. Rates increased in areas with more specialists. Rates of all AH also increased where the proportion of residences in rural communities increased. Regional hospital capacity and type of hospital reimbursement did not have significant associations. Inconsistent patterns of significant determinants were found for disease specific analyses.

Conclusion: The identification of regions with high and low AH rates is a starting point for future studies on unwarranted medical procedures, and may help to reduce their incidence. AH have complex multifactorial origins and this study demonstrates that rurality and physician density are relevant determinants. The results are helpful to improve the performance of the outpatient sector with emphasis on local context. Rural and urban differences in health care delivery remain a cause of concern in Switzerland.

Keywords: Ambulatory care, Health services, Small area variation analysis, Hospitalization

Background

Increasing utilization and rising health care costs threaten the financial sustainability of many western health care systems. Governments and researchers have a growing interest in identifying ineffective and unnecessary health care. Avoidable hospitalizations (AH), also referred to as hospitalizations for ambulatory care sensitive conditions (ACSC) are hospital admissions for diseases and conditions that might have been avoided if better ambulatory care were available [1]. AH are indicators of access and quality of ambulatory care and have been used to monitor

* Correspondence: mmaessen@ispm.unibe.ch

Deceased

¹Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Finkenhubelweg 11, 3012 Bern, Switzerland health system performance in several countries, including the United States, Canada, Brazil, several European countries, New Zealand and Australia [2-11]. Comparisons between countries that show AH rates for different health care systems may point out strengths and weaknesses of each system.

Structural deficits of care provision such as inequitable access across different societal groups, e.g. urban rural differences, racial and ethnic minorities or different levels of health insurance coverage were identified mainly in the US literature as important predictors of AH's [12,13]; but AH can also be seen as an indicator of process quality resulting in medical procedures not warranted by effective needs [14]. We are in favor of this process based view as it seems to be more relevant for the Swiss health system



© 2014 Berlin et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

which is characterized by high density of supply and generally unlimited access to care [15].

For Switzerland, comprehensive data on AH in different regions and its causal factors are currently unavailable [11]. Switzerland is an interesting country to study AH, because it spends more on health care per capita (5270 USD) than any other country except the United States (8233 USD) and Norway (5388 USD) [16]. Switzerland is also an OECD country with among the highest per capita availability of physicians and nurses and it has one of the world's highest life expectancies [17].

Health care services in Switzerland are reimbursed by private insurances with compulsory basic health plans that cover a comprehensive catalogue of goods and services for all Swiss inhabitants. There are practically no uninsured patients and limited access to health care is rarely a factor in AH. However, Swiss health care is also characterized by considerable fragmentation due to cantonal autonomy [18] and heterogeneity regarding the distribution of physicians, hospitals and medical facilities, so regional variation of AH rates is to be expected. This project was initiated by the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health (SFOPH) with the goal of documenting regional variation in AH, and identifying relevant determinants of AH rates in Switzerland.

Methods

Design of the study

The study is designed as a retrospective analysis of all hospitalizations in Switzerland for the years 2008-2010. In 2002, the OECD initiated the Health Care Quality Indicator Project to measure and compare the quality of health care provision across countries and to develop a set of health care quality indicators [15,19,20]. Within this framework, the OECD uses AH as a measure of quality for prevention and management of chronic diseases in primary care. For comparability reasons, these indicators, including hospitalizations with a principal ICD10 code of asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes complications, congestive heart failure (CHF), and hypertension [19], are used to define AH for this study. Based on OECD eligibility criteria, we included only patients aged 15 and up (15+) and patients not transferred from other hospitals. Detailed ICD codes and additional information on inclusion and exclusion criteria of these conditions as defined by the OECD are given in the Additional file 1.

Data

We used data from multiple sources. Inpatient care data, including patient demographics, regional data of patient residency, characteristics of hospitalizations (length of stay, type of discharge, referral pathways, health insurance status) and diagnostic and treatment data (ICD10, procedure codes and All Patient Diagnosis Related Groups (APDRG's)) were extracted from the "Medizinische Statistik der Krankenhäuser", housed at the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO) [21]. These data cover all hospitalizations of acute care hospitals in Switzerland. One patient can be hospitalised multiple times (multiple cases). Anonymized unique patient identifiers allow tracking patients across hospitals in case of multiple hospitalizations. Data on structural attributes of acute care hospitals (localization, type, size and specialization of hospitals) are also available from the SFSO (Krankenhausstatistik).

Demographic data at the community level, including age and gender distribution, were available from the SFSO (census data) [22]. In 2010, a new federal population census was introduced by the SFSO (SHAPE project) and the population aged 15+ was used to build the denominator to calculate regional rates of AH for 2010. SHAPE data were also used to directly standardize rates by sex and age groups.

Geographic unit

Utilization-based health service areas (HSA) of acute care hospitals were the unit of geographic analyses. HSA's were constructed by analysing discharge data of all acute care hospitals in Switzerland for the period of 2008-2010 [23,24]. We used HSA's and aggregated zipcode areas of patient residence as the smallest geographic unit (MedStat areas). HSA's were constructed by crosstabulating the sum of discharges of every zip-code cluster with all possible hospital regions, and then these regions were merged into an HSA by assigning to the hospital region in which the highest number of patients were treated [25]. Using HSA's has the advantage of describing where patients actually receive care, without regard to cantonal or other administrative borders [21,23,24,26,27]. This approach is well established and has become an indispensable source of information for current US healthcare reformers [28].

In 2008, the SFSO modified the concept of MedStat areas to make them compatible with other geographic classification systems. However, these changes were not equally implemented in the data collection procedures of all Swiss cantons during the course of the study. In consequence, geographic classification of hospitals and of patient residence was inconsistent in some cantons. Data from cantons Appenzell Innerrhoden, Appenzell Ausserrhoden, Schaffhausen, St. Gallen, Thurgau and Zurich were therefore discarded from the small area analysis.

Statistical procedures

All hospitalizations corresponding to the list of AH published by the OECD were included [15]. Statistical analysis of the data was performed in two steps. The first included a descriptive nationwide analysis of AH; the second step identified determinants of regional differences of AH-rates in cantons with eligible data. Descriptive procedures documented overall rates, demographic characteristics, comorbid conditions of patients (Charlson index [29]), length of stay, APDRG cost-weights, and inpatient mortality of all AH in Switzerland. APDRG cost weights that accounted for outliers of length of stay were calculated according to version 6.0 of the specifications of APDRG-Suisse [30].

Regional rates of AH were calculated at the level of zip-code clusters; the number of AH admittances in the numerator and the total regional population aged 15+ were the denominator. Direct standardization of rates by sex and age was performed at the level of zip-code clusters and used the total 15+ Swiss population of 2010 as the reference.

For geographic analyses we summarized the data at two levels (utilization-based health service areas [n = 59]and aggregated zip-code clusters [n = 436]) and developed statistical models to explore the relationship between rates of AH and characteristics of regional supply of medical care. For each zip code cluster, we determined the density of primary care physicians and of specialists in own practice (physicians per 10000 population). Physician groups were defined based on definitions established by the Swiss Medical association [31]. We also calculated the proportion of the population living in rural communities [32]. At the level of HSA's we calculated the number of acute care hospital beds per 10000 people as a measure of regional hospital supply.

We used a multilevel poisson regression model with the natural logarithm of the age and sex standardized number of AH as the outcome. We used the log number of the population of zip-code clusters as a fixed offset term in the regression equation. We added information on regional supply of ambulatory care and of population characteristics at the level of zip-code clusters, and added predictors at the level of HSA to estimate effects related to hospital supply. The final set of explanatory variables was obtained after a series of preliminary analyses that explored bivariate associations between the outcome and various measures of physician's supply, including full time equivalents, and other methods to classify patient residency geographically. We eventually included explanatory variables which explained the largest variability of AH admissions.

These are the explanatory variables included in the final model:

Level 1 (436 zip code areas)

- Year (2008, 2009, 2010)
- Number of primary care physicians per 10000 population

- Number of specialists per 10000 population (all medical specialists with office based practice)
- Proportion of the population living in rural areas
- Type of hospital reimbursement system (APDRG vs. other systems)

Level 2 (59 utilization based health service areas)

- Number of hospital beds per 10000 population

We added random intercepts at the level of HSA's and zip-code clusters to allow for unexplained variation around the respective means. We used the same model to analyse effects associated with the overall rate, and for condition specific rates of AH's. In order to explore linear relationships between continuous explanatory variables and AH, we additionally defined a second model and replaced the continuous data with quintiles of the respective variables. Differences to the first quintile were documented as incidence risk ratios. SAS 9.3 (proc GLIMMIX) was used for multilevel modeling and ArcGis 10 to create maps, the level of significance was set to p < 0.05 throughout the study.

Results

Characteristics of avoidable hospitalizations

For 2008-2010, 3470812 hospitalizations of patients were documented in the discharge data of the "Medizinische Statistik der Krankenhäuser". Of these, 92804 hospitalizations fulfilled the OECD inclusion criteria and had an ICD10 diagnose that corresponded with a AH. The overall rate of AH for the 15+ population during this period was 467 hospitalizations per 100000. The respective rates were 455 for women and 483 for men. From 2008 to 2010, we observed an increase of 2.7%. Annual rates for 2008-2010 were 463, 467 and 476 per 100000. In 2010, AH accounted for 3.1% of all hospital stays (n = 31805) and generated 180-200 Mio CHF of direct hospital costs (depending on annual cantonal APDRG base rates). The proportion of patients with additional health insurance in the study population was 15.2% - slightly below the Swiss average of 16.6% of all hospitalized patients. 74.3% of the AH were classified as emergencies, i.e. with a need for treatment within 12 hours, and 11.8% of patients were re-hospitalized within 3 months. On average, patients with a rehospitalization had 2.7 hospitalizations during the study period (2.3 for hypertension, 2.6 for Asthma, CHF and Diabetes and 3.0 for COPD). Inpatient mortality of AH was 5.1%. Characteristics of disease specific AH are given in Table 1.

Hospital characteristics

We used the specification of the SFSO to categorize hospitals into five hospital groups based on annual number of all hospitalizations. Characteristics of AH across these groups are given in Table 2. It is important to note the differences between low-volume clinics, usually located in

ICD10 Group	Rate [*]	Avg. age of patients	Avg. length of stay (days)	Emergency admissions	In-hospital deaths	3-month Rehospitalization [§]
Asthma	18.6	54.1	6.8	84.0%	0.5%	5.6%
CHF [†]	211.0	78.8	12.2	78.1%	9.0%	11.5%
COPD [‡]	110.0	71.3	11.3	73.7%	3.6%	14.9%
Diabetes	70.7	62.6	12.2	63.7%	1.0%	7.5%
Hypertension	58.3	70.1	6.3	71.4%	0.4%	3.5%
All Avoidable hospitalizations	468.6	72.5	11.0	74.3%	5.1%	10.4%

*Rate per 100000 total population.

[†]Congestive heart failure.

[†]Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

[§]Percentage of patient rehospitalized within 3 months after the initial hospitalization.

peripheral areas, and high volume clinics, located in urban areas. There was almost twice the proportion of AH in low-volume clinics (4% vs. 2%); average length of stay was six days longer; patients were older; and, in-hospital mortality was higher. In high volume clinics, APDRG cost-weights per case were almost double those of low volume clinics.

Regional differences

The 59 HSA's included in the study covered 87.0% of the area of Switzerland and 69.2% of the Swiss population in 2010. Key characteristics of these areas are given in Table 3. Depending on year, we observed up to 12-fold regional differences of age and sex standardized rates of AH across HSA's. As an example, geographic patterns are documented for 2010 in Figure 1. The three year averages of AH rates of HSA's showed only a 3.6-fold regional variation (range: 274–982 admittances per 100000 population). Rate ratios to the mean of the three year averages were used to document the regional variation of AH across disease groups (Figure 2). This data implies particularly high levels of variation for asthma and hypertension and less variation for congestive heart failure, COPD and diabetes.

The results of multilevel modelling are summarized in Table 4. The data show a significant increase in all AH

over time, and significantly lower rates for all AH areas with more primary care physicians. Rates were increased in areas with more specialists, and also increased rates in areas with a higher proportion of rural residents. There was an insignificant association of all AH for regional hospital capacity (hospital beds per 10000 population) and for type of hospital reimbursement (APDRG vs. other). Quintiles of supply and population data show a 0.91 times lower incidence of AH in areas with more than 8.1 primary care physicians per 10000 compared to areas with less than 3.8 physicians (p < 0.05); there was a 1.15 times higher incidence in areas with more than 4.2 specialists in comparison to areas with zero specialists (p < 0.05) and a 1.12 times greater incidence in areas where more than 42% of the population lived in rural communities (reference: areas with zero rural residents, p < 0.05) (Table 4).

Inconsistent patterns of significant incidence ratios across different disease groups were observed for regional care supply. For asthma, a higher number of primary care physicians was partially associated with fewer AH, but increased rates of AH were observed for diabetic patients in areas with more primary care physicians. We observed more consistent significant associations of AH with regional specialist supply; higher supply was associated with higher rates irrespective of disease group. Inconsistent and

Hospital group [*]	% avoidable hospitalizations [†] (%)	Patient age (mean)	Length of stay (days)	Charlson index (mean)	Cost weights [‡] (mean)	3-month Rehospitalization (%)	In-hospital Mortality (%)
Centrally provided treatments 1 (>30'000 admittances/year)	2.1	68.2	10.5	0.23	2.33	9.8%	4.1%
Centrally provided treatments 2 (9'000-30'000 admittances/year)	2.9	73.0	10.6	0.29	1.12	9.8%	5.5%
Basic care 1 (6'000-9'000 admittances/year)	3.0	70.8	10.0	0.31	1.14	9.4%	5.1%
Basic care 2 (3'000-6'000 admittances/year)	2.2	70.4	10.8	0.21	1.29	10.0%	4.2%
Basic care 3 (<3000 admittances/year)	4.0	74.0	16.8	0.20	1.26	13.2%	6.3%

*Based on definitions of the Swiss Federal Statistical office.

[†]Proportion of avoidable hospitalizations among all hospitalizations.

[‡]Average APDRG cost weights per avoidable hospitalization.

Table 3 Regional variation, characteristics of 59 health service areas (averages of 2008–2010)

Characteristic	Average	Min	Max	HILO ratio [‡]
Population size	94301	1614	507789	314.6
Population density [*]	303.4	26.4	1863.0	70.6
Number of hospitals	2.4	1	12	12.0
Hospital beds per 10000	41.1	13.5	414.0	30.7
Primary care physicians per 10000	6.5	1.9	10.9	5.7
Specialists per 10000	2.1	0.0	6.2	?
-Rate of avoidable hospitalizations [†]				
- Asthma	21.5	2.2	79.5	36.1
- congestive heart failure	236.2	146.0	569.2	3.9
- COPD	122.0	55.4	252.9	4.6
- Diabetes	74.1	30.4	136.3	4.5
- Hypertension	59.9	18.4	207.0	11.3
- all ICD10 groups	495.2	274.5	982.4	3.6

*Population per km² surface below 2000 meters altitude.

[†]Age and sex standardized rate per 100000 population.

[‡]Ratio of highest vs. lowest values.

partially non-linear relationships across disease groups were also seen for significant associations of AH with more rural populations (Table 4).

Discussion

Our study highlights up to 12-fold regional differences of AH over a period of three years. Research on medical practice variation shows that regional differences of this extent are mainly associated with the medical care system including provider factors and less to regional variation in the incidence of the underlying disease categories [8,9,33]. Comparative data across countries for avoidable hospitalizations are available from the OECD for Asthma, COPD and uncontrolled diabetes [17]. These data show low overall rates of avoidable hospitalizations for all three conditions in Switzerland implying a high quality of primary care. However, patterns of variation observed in our data point to difficulties of the Swiss health system to provide effective and equitable medical care to all societal groups.

Theoretically, hospital admissions for ACSC can be prevented by effective ambulatory care, irrespective of disease prevalence. However in practice, even the best ambulatory care may not be able to prevent these hospitalizations. Some factors are beyond the scope of ambulatory care providers, for example: different propensity of patients to seek care; advanced stage and complexity of some conditions; lack of compliance with preventive measures; financial constraints; and, poor access to transportation. To some degree, regional differences of AH rates will continue to reflect differences in prevalence of the underlying disease. However, studies which took regional variation of health status into account still found an independent association between AH and care supply [34,35]. It is therefore unlikely that adjacent geographical areas have a high enough difference in prevalence to produce up to 12-fold regional differences of AH. Our results also showed that, irrespective of condition, the majority of





AH were categorized as emergencies. These findings may raise questions about how avoidable these hospitalizations are, but they may also suggest inappropriate use of costly emergency services and indicate non-optimal quality and efficacy of outpatient care in Switzerland. Our data allow no further analysis of potential causes of emergency admissions as the data obtained from the Federal Statistical Office contain no variables on type of physicians referring patients to a hospital.

Characteristics of supply

Regional variation in the data suggest distinct differences between the decisions of primary care physicians and specialists to admit patients to hospitals, even demographic characteristics of patients and higher rates of AH in predominantly rural populations are both accounted for. An explanation of the patterns would require further comparison of physician practice styles. Risk ratios show that patients living in areas with a high density of primary care physicians are less likely to be admitted to hospitals for conditions that can be treated in ambulatory care. But it is important to note that we observed mostly non-linear relationships between AH and primary care supply. Our results show that AH can only be reduced in areas with very high density of primary care physicians. We also found differences across major disease groups indicating that primary care physicians may have varying ability to treat health problems and to prevent exacerbations, depending on the conditions they treat.

Our general findings are consistent with multiple studies performed in many countries, with a variety of health care delivery systems [35-37]. The data highlight the importance of primary care as an effective first-contact access to health care irrespective of the characteristics of the health system in which care takes place.

In contrast to the data on primary care physicians, we observed a consistent pattern of higher risks of AH in areas with a high density of specialists who work in own practices. Specialist practices in Switzerland are almost exclusively located near hospitals (not shown). We cannot confirm other research that established an association between AH and regional hospital beds supply [38]. Our findings suggest that primary care physicians and specialists have different priorities when they refer patients to hospitals, irrespective of regional hospital capacity.

It may be that specialists are treating more patients with more severe conditions which are more likely to require hospitalization. Our analyses, however, used age and sex standardized population-based rates on a small area scale as an outcome, and it is unlikely that populations in areas with high specialist density are characterized by a higher burden of disease. Specialists working in own practice are often affiliated with local hospitals

Characteristic	All avoidable hospitalizations	Asthma	CHF	COPD	Diabetes	Hypertension
Intercept	0.005*	0.000*	0.002*	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*
Year 2008 [†]	-	-	-	-	-	-
Year 2009	1.155*	0.979	0.923*	1.011	0.954	1.066*
Year 2010	1.168*	1.105*	0.940*	1.042*	0.904*	1.016
Primary care physicians per 10000	0.986*	0.989	0.998	1.006	1.015*	1.003
Q1 [‡]	-	-	-	-	-	-
Q2	1.033	0.827*	1.060	1.043	1.174 [*]	1.064
Q3	1.028	0.819*	0.996	1.049	1.152*	1.043
Q4	1.043	0.769*	1.021	1.046	1.132*	1.065
Q5	0.905*	0.883	1.002	1.029	1.189 [*]	1.020
Specialists per 10000	1.017*	1.048*	1.017*	1.017*	1.019*	1.013
Q1 [‡]	-	-	-	-	-	-
Q2	1.019	1.162	0.961	0.996	1.073	1.018
Q3	1.066*	1.044	1.008	1.031	1.126*	0.985
Q4	1.067*	1.262*	1.040	1.101*	1.063	1.005
Q5	1.152*	1.330 [*]	1.132*	1.125*	1.162*	1.131
Proportion of residents in rural communities	1.113*	0.799	1.207*	1.061	0.981	0.888
Q1 [‡]	-	-	-	-	-	-
Q2	0.987	0.918	1.023	0.895*	0.999	0.887
Q3	1.038	0.842	1.044	1.148*	0.990	0.967
Q4	1.037	0.771*	1.047	1.006	1.055	0.972
Q5	1.115*	0.859	1.171*	1.022	1.009	0.897
Hospital beds per 10000	1.000	1.001	0.999	1.001	1.000	0.998
Q1 [‡]	-	-	-	-	-	-
Q2	1.008	1.144	1.040	0.959	1.134	0.918
Q3	1.023	1.076	1.027	1.069	1.141	0.804*
Q4	1.026	1.023	1.032	1.073	1.141	0.838*
Q5	1.024	1.062	1.001	1.069	1.070	0.877
Type of hospital reimbursement	0.949	1.414*	1.005	0.909	0.932	0.662*

Table 4 Incidence rate ratios of health system characteristics associated with avoidable hospitalizations

*

*Significant incidence risk ratio, p < 0.05.

[†]Year 2008 as the reference.

⁺Incidence risk ratio from a model with annual quintiles of continuous explanatory variables with the first quintile as the reference, quintiles are varying across years therefore no threshold levels are given in the table.

and, to some degree, hospital admissions may be influenced by financial incentives [39].

We observed distinct differences between patient characteristics and outcome indicators for high- and low volume clinics. AH in low-volume clinics were characterized by older patients with fewer comorbid conditions, higher 3-month rehospitalization rates, and higher in-patient mortality. These results appear contradictory and raise questions about the validity of diagnostic data; it is unlikely that older patients have lower burden of disease and fewer comorbid conditions. We speculate that this may be explained by different procedures for coding diagnoses across hospitals. Larger hospitals usually have dedicated staff for his task, while coding in smaller hospitals is normally done by clinicians.

Hospital data also show higher proportions of AH and considerable longer hospital stays in low volume clinics. Consistent with our geographic analysis of rurality, and with other research [40], these results suggest potential effects scarcity of outpatient resources in proximity to low-volume clinics. However, we cannot exclude in this setting that supply sensitive effects of such hospitals are also promoting AH in order to legitimate the viability of low-volume hospitals. Due to lack of data, we cannot discriminate between the two mechanisms.

Patient characteristics

Our data showed more AH in men and confirmed gender associated differences documented in other research [20,41]. Our evidence on the socio-economic status of patients was in conflict with other research [37,42]. Some characteristics of Swiss health care are therefore important to note. All Swiss residents are required to purchase compulsory health insurance, covering a comprehensive catalogue of goods and services. Residents may also have supplementary health insurance contracts that typically provide superior levels of accommodation, give more choice of in-hospital physicians in hospitals and may provide cash benefits for sickness absence [18]. Data from the 2007 Swiss health survey shows that supplementary health insurance is typically purchased by those with high income [43]. Type of insurance coverage is thus a good proxy for the socio-economic status of patients. Our data on health insurance status of patients hospitalized for ACSC show 1.4% less patients with supplementary coverage compared to the overall Swiss average of 16.6% of patients with supplementary coverage. The results do not support the evidence that AH is influenced by a socioeconomic gradient in the setting of Swiss health care.

As in previous research [40,44], regional variation in our data indicates positive associations between AH and rurality of patient residence. Appropriate allocation of resources in rural areas is of concern to health care planners. However, we cannot distinguish between the effects of limited access to care and patient level factors that have been observed among rural residents in previous research, such as lower propensity to seek care [7]. More data is required to explain this regional variation within Swiss health care, and until it is collected and analyzed, specific policy recommendations cannot be made.

Strengths and limitations

Although we used hierarchical mixed models with random effects at the level of HSA's and zip-code clusters, which should address some concerns about unmeasured variables, it is important to recognize that health care delivery in the out-patient sector is highly complex. Statistical modelling is difficult because factors like physician behaviour, perceptions of quality of the interaction between patients and physicians, social status of patients and cultural norms including differential propensity among subpopulations to seek care are not fully understood [45]. The search for determinants is further complicated by a scarcity of data that measures the impact of different forms of care delivery on patient health at the health system level.

We were also limited by the lack of ambulatory care sensitive conditions specifically validated as indicators of quality of care for Switzerland. When using administrative data it is not always possible to directly discriminate between AH and necessary hospitalizations. A major limitation is that we have no knowledge about the patient's history of disease before the admission to the hospital: We don't know whether the patient's disease or symptoms of the disease were diagnosed, appropriate treated and monitored by ambulatory care before [1]. So we cannot determine with certainty that the hospitalization was clinically preventable or necessary. Although this misclassification on clinical level is unfortunate, we believe that the AH selection of the OECD can still be useful as a health indicator from a health service perspective.

The concept of avoidable hospitalizations is based on specific diagnoses that should not be treated in hospitals. Database information allows therefore only indirect identification of avoidable hospitalizations. We used the criteria of the OECD initiated Health Care Quality Indicator Project as the case definition of AH, but clinical criteria and appropriateness of hospitalization remains subject of constant debate. It will continue to be, as long as the concept of AH is not validated by patient-level outcomes. The concept of AH does not take into account the potential benefits for patients of a theoretically avoidable hospital stay. But as long as valid data regarding the outcome of hospitalizations on patient health remain unavailable, AH is currently the best approach for estimating the appropriateness of care.

We used administrative hospital data not specifically designed for this type of research, which caused a number of problems. Our results indicate that completeness and accuracy of coding diagnoses may differ between hospitals and that accuracy of geographic data of hospital location and patient residence were compromised in some cantons. This forced us to exclude data from six cantons for small area analysis. These difficulties directly reflect effects of federalism and cantonal autonomy in Swiss health care and point to an urgent need to improve the quality of nationwide health data collection.

Finally, we used age and sex standardized rates of AH for the whole population as the outcome in this study. This outcome may underestimate the overall burden of ACSC, and rates adjusted to the underlying disease prevalence should be used instead [46]. Unfortunately, small area data for disease prevalence are not available, and an expensive data collection processes would be required to obtain such data. However regional differences of rates of AH can also be interpreted as differential ability of a health system to meet region-specific burdens of ACSC; a prevalence adjusted analysis would obliterate such differences.

The major strength of this study is its nationwide approach; it gives insight into AH rates that transcend cantonal administrative boundaries. It proves that small area analysis in a complex setting is feasible, and has opened the door to further monitoring of regional variations of health interventions, which will support evidence-based policy making in Swiss health care. Another strength is our use of OECD definitions for AH and reported disease specific characteristics. This well established approach improves the generalizability of our data and allows comparative analyses across multiple health systems [15].

Conclusions

We identified significant determinants of AH in the Swiss health system that are important for health care planning. We uncovered disease specific characteristics of AH, indicating that disease specific health policy may be effective. However, we are limited by the quality of the data we used; more valid data must be collected by hospitals and ambulatory care providers. Our results may be used to improve the performance of the outpatient sector, particularly in local regional contexts. Rural and urban differences remain a cause of concern. Future research should assess specific physician characteristics that contribute to AH, with the goal of reducing the number of unnecessary procedures.

Additional file

Additional file 1: These tables represent the in- and exclusion criteria for avoidable hospitalizations based of on the criteria from the OECD Health Care Quality Indicator Project.

Abbreviations

AH: Avoidable hospitalizations; ACSC: Ambulatory care sensitive conditions; COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CHF: Congestive heart failure; SFOPH: Swiss Federal Office of Public Health; OECD: Organization for economic co-operation and development; SHAPE: System of household and personal statistics; HSA: Health service areas; ICD10: The International Classification of Diseases version 10; APDRG: All patient diagnosis related groups; CHF: Swiss Franc.

Competing interests

All authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

CB analysed the validity of the geographic data, produced the geographical map and interpreted the results. AB, deceased on 12th November 2013, designed the original study project and performed the data analyses. MM helped drafting the manuscript and interpreting and prioritising the results. All authors contributed to revising the manuscript and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The study was funded by the SFOPH and Prof. Busato partly by the Swiss Medical Association. By contractual agreement, the funding organizations had no influence in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

Author details

¹Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Finkenhubelweg 11, 3012 Bern, Switzerland. ²Institute of General Practice and Health Services Research, University of Zurich, Pestalozzistrasse 24, 8091 Zurich, Switzerland. Received: 18 June 2013 Accepted: 18 June 2014 Published: 3 July 2014

References

- 1. Caminal J, Starfield B, Sanchez E, Casanova C, Morales M: The role of primary care in preventing ambulatory care sensitive conditions. *Eur J Public Health* 2004, **14**(3):246–251.
- Ahern MM, Hendryx M: Avoidable hospitalizations for diabetes: comorbidity risks. Dis Manag 2007, 10(6):347–355.
- Cheng SH, Chen CC, Hou YF: A longitudinal examination of continuity of care and avoidable hospitalization: evidence from a universal coverage health care system. *Arch Intern Med* 2010, **170**(18):1671–1677.
- Cloutier-Fisher D, Penning MJ, Zheng C, Druyts EB: The devil is in the details: trends in avoidable hospitalization rates by geography in British Columbia, 1990–2000. BMC Health Serv Res 2006, 6:104.
- Burgdorf F, Sundmacher L: Potentially avoidable hospital admissions in Germany: an analysis of factors influencing rates of ambulatory care sensitive hospitalizations. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2014, 111(13):215–223.
- Jackson G, Tobias M: Potentially avoidable hospitalisations in New Zealand, 1989–98. Aust N Z J Public Health 2001, 25(3):212–221.
- Longman JM, Singer JB, Gao Y, Barclay LM, Passey ME, Pirotta JP, Heathcote KE, Ewald DP, Saberi V, Corben P, Morgan GG: Community based service providers' perspectives on frequent and/or avoidable admission of older people with chronic disease in rural NSW: a qualitative study. *BMC Health* Serv Res 2011, 11:265.
- Magan P, Otero A, Alberquilla A, Ribera JM: Geographic variations in avoidable hospitalizations in the elderly, in a health system with universal coverage. BMC Health Serv Res 2008, 8:42.
- Page A, Ambrose S, Glover J, Hetzel D: Atlas of Avoidable Hospitalisations in Australia: Ambulatory Care-Sensitive Conditions. Adelaide: PHIDU, University of Adelaide; 2007.
- Pappas G, Hadden WC, Kozak LJ, Fisher GF: Potentially avoidable hospitalizations: inequalities in rates between US socioeconomic groups. *Am J Public Health* 1997, 87(5):811–816.
- Rosano A, Abo Loha C, Falvo R, van der Zee J, Ricciardi W, Guasticchi G, de Belvis AG: The relationship between avoidable hospitalization and accessibility to primary care: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health 2012.
- Basu J, Friedman B, Burstin H: Managed care and preventable hospitalization among Medicaid adults. *Health Serv Res* 2004, 39(3):489–510.
- Ricketts TC, Randolph R, Howard HA, Pathman D, Carey T: Hospitalization rates as indicators of access to primary care. *Health Place* 2001, 7(1):27–38.
- 14. Jankowski R: What do hospital admission rates say about primary care? *BMJ* 1999, **319**(7202):67–68.
- 15. OECD: Health at a Glance 2011. In OECD Indicators. Paris, France: OECD; 2011.
- OECD: OECD Health Data 2012 How Does Switzerland Compare. 2012. http://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/oecdreviewsofhealthsystemsswitzerland.htm.
- 17. OECD: Health at a Glance 2012. In *OECD Indicators*. Paris, France: OECD; 2012.
- OECD/WHO: OECD Reviews of Health Systems: SWITZERLAND 2011. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; 2011.
- Marshall M, Klazinga N, Leatherman S, Hardy C, Bergmann E, Pisco L, Mattke S, Mainz J: OECD Health Care Quality Indicator Project. The expert panel on primary care prevention and health promotion. *Int J Qual Health Care* 2006, 18(Suppl 1):21–25.
- 20. OECD: Health at a Glance 2009. In OECD Indicators. Paris, France: OECD; 2009.
- 21. Busato A, von Below G: The implementation of DRG based hospital reimbursement in Switzerland: a population based perspective. *Health Res Policy Syst* 2010, **8**:31. Oct 16.
- 22. Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M, Bopp M: The Swiss National Cohort: a unique database for national and international researchers. *Int J Public Health* 2010, **55**(4):239–242.
- 23. Klauss G, Staub L, Widmer M, Busato A: Hospital service areas a new tool for health care planning in Switzerland. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2005, 5:33.
- Widmer M, Matter P, Staub L, Schoeni-Affolter F, Busato A: Regional variation in orthopedic surgery in Switzerland. *Health Place* 2009, 15(3):761–768.

- Dartmouth Medical School. Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences: The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care 1998. In *The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care in the United States*. Edited by Wennberg J, Cooper M. Chicago, USA: American Hospital Publishing; 1998.
- 26. The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice: *Glossary Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care.* www.dartmouthatlas.org/tools/glossary.aspx.
- Matter-Walstra K, Widmer M, Busato A: Analysis of patient flows for orthopedic procedures using small area analysis in Switzerland. BMC Health Serv Res 2006, 6:119.
- Wennberg JE SB, Fisher ES, Skinner J, Weinstein JN: An Agenda for Change Improving Quality and Curbing Health Care Spending: Opportunities for the Congress and the Obama Administration. In A Dartmouth Atlas White Paper. Lebanon, NH: The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policiy & Clinical Practice; 2008.
- Sundararajan V, Henderson T, Perry C, Muggivan A, Quan H, Ghali WA: New ICD-10 version of the Charlson comorbidity index predicted in-hospital mortality. J Clin Epidemiol 2004, 57(12):1288–1294.
- APDRG-Suisse: Kostengewichte Version 6.0. Ecublens, Switzerland: APDRG Suisse; 2008.
- Jaccard Ruedin H, Roth M, Bétrisey C, Marzo N, Busato A: Offre et recours aux soins médicaux ambulatoires en Suisse. In *Document de travail 22*. Neuchatel, Switzerland: Schweizerisches Gesundheitsobservatorium; 2007. http://www.obsan.admin.ch/bfs/obsan/de/index/01/02.html? publicationID=2605.
- Schuler M, Dessermontet P, Joye D: Eidgenössische Volkszählung 2000: Die Raumgliederungen der Schweiz. Neuenburg, Switzerland: Swiss Federal Statistical Office; 2005.
- 33. Goodman DC, Brownlee S, Chang C, Fisher ES: Regional and Racial Variation in Primary Care and the Quality of Care among Medicare Beneficaries. In A Report of the Dartmouth Atlas Project. Hanover, USA: The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice; 2010:37.
- Parchman ML, Culler SD: Preventable hospitalizations in primary care shortage areas. An analysis of vulnerable Medicare beneficiaries. Arch Fam Med 1999, 8(6):487–491.
- Laditka JN, Laditka SB, Probst JC: More may be better: evidence of a negative relationship between physician supply and hospitalization for ambulatory care sensitive conditions. *Health Serv Res* 2005, 40(4):1148–1166.
- Dusheiko M, Gravelle H, Martin S, Rice N, Smith PC: Does better disease management in primary care reduce hospital costs? Evidence from English primary care. J Health Econ 2011, 30(5):919–932.
- Agabiti N, Pirani M, Schifano P, Cesaroni G, Davoli M, Bisanti L, Caranci N, Costa G, Forastiere F, Marinacci C, Russo A, Spadea T, Perucci CA, Italian Study Group on Inequalities in Health Care: Income level and chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions in adults: a multicity population-based study in Italy. *BMC Public Health* 2009, 9:457.
- Schreiber S, Zielinski T: The meaning of ambulatory care sensitive admissions: urban and rural perspectives. J Rural Health 1997, 13(4):276–284.
- Budetti PP, Shortell SM, Waters TM, Alexander JA, Burns LR, Gillies RR, Zuckerman H: Physician and health system integration. *Health Aff* 2002, 21(1):203–210.
- Chen LW, Zhang W, Sun J, Mueller KJ: The magnitude, variation, and determinants of rural hospital resource utilization associated with hospitalizations due to ambulatory care sensitive conditions. J Public Health Manag Pract 2009, 15(3):216–222.
- Magan P, Alberquilla A, Otero A, Ribera JM: Hospitalizations for ambulatory care sensitive conditions and quality of primary care: their relation with socioeconomic and health care variables in the Madrid regional health service (Spain). *Med Care* 2011, 49(1):17–23.
- 42. Roos LL, Walld R, Uhanova J, Bond R: **Physician visits, hospitalizations, and socioeconomic status: ambulatory care sensitive conditions in a canadian setting.** *Health Serv Res* 2005, **40**(4):1167–1185.
- Swiss Federal Statistical Office: Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung 2007: Erste Ergebnisse. Neuenburg, Switzerland: Swiss Federal Statistical Office; 2008.
- Ansari Z, Barbetti T, Carson NJ, Auckland MJ, Cicuttini F: The Victorian ambulatory care sensitive conditions study: rural and urban perspectives. Soz Praventivmed 2003, 48(1):33–43.

- Hossain MM, Laditka JN: Using hospitalization for ambulatory care sensitive conditions to measure access to primary health care: an application of spatial structural equation modeling. Int J Health Geogr 2009, 8:51.
- Lui CK, Wallace SP: A common denominator: calculating hospitalization rates for ambulatory care-sensitive conditions in California. *Prev Chronic Dis* 2011, 8(5):A102.

doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-289

Cite this article as: Berlin *et al.*: Avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland: a small area analysis on regional variation, density of physicians, hospital supply and rurality. *BMC Health Services Research* 2014 14:289.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Additional file

These tables represent the in- and exclusion criteria for avoidable hospitalizations based of on the criteria from the OECD Health Care Quality Indicator Project.

Asthma admission rate

Numerator: All non-maternal hospital discharges (age 15+) with a principal diagnosis code of asthma in a specified year.

Asthma diagnosis codes:

ICD-10-WHO
J450 Predominantly allergic asthma
J451 Nonallergic asthma
J458 Mixed asthma
J459 Asthma, unspecified
J46 Status asthmaticus

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution

- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium

- newborn and other neonates

- with any diagnosis code of cystic fibrosis and anomalies of the respiratory system

- same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Exclude diagnostic codes cystic fibrosis and anomalies of the respiratory system:

ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
27700 Cystic Fibros W/O Ileus	E840 Cystic fibrosis with pulmonary manifestations
27701 Cystic Fibros W Ileus	E841 Cystic fibrosis with intestinal manifestations
27702 Cystic Fibros W Pul Man	E848 Cystic fibrosis with other manifestations
27703 Cystic Fibrosis W Gi Man	E849 Cystic fibrosis, unspecified
27709 Cystic Fibrosis Nec	P27.0 Wilson-Mikity syndrome
74721 Anomalies Of Aortic Arch	P27.1 Bronchopulmonary dysplasia originating in the perinatal period
7483 Laryngotrach Anomaly Nec	P27.8 Other chronic respiratory diseases originating in the perinatal period
7484 Congenital Cystic Lung	P27.9 Unspecified chronic resp disease originating in the perinatal period
7485 Agenesis Of Lung	Q25.4 Other congenital malformations of aorta
74860 Lung Anomaly Nos	Q31.1 Congenital subglottic stenosis
74861 Congen Bronchiectasis	Q31.2 Laryngeal hypoplasia

74869 Lung Anomaly Nec	Q31.3 Laryngocele
7488 Respiratory Anomaly Nec	Q31.5 Congenital laryngomalacia
7489 Respiratory Anomaly Nos	Q31.8 Other congenital malformations of larynx
7503 Cong Esoph Fistula/Atres	Q31.9 Congenital malformation of larynx,
7593 Situs Inversus	Q32.0 Congenital tracheomalacia
7707 Perinatal Chr Resp Dis	Q32.1 Other congenital malformations of trachea
	Q32.2 Congenital bronchomalacia
	Q32.3 Congenital stenosis of bronchus
	Q32.4 Other congenital malformations of bronchus
	Q33.0 Congenital cystic lung
	Q33.1 Accessory lobe of lung
	Q33.2 Sequestration of lung
	Q33.3 Agenesis of lung
	Q33.4 Congenital bronchiectasis
	Q33.5 Ectopic tissue in lung
	Q33.6 Hypoplasia and dysplasia of lung
	Q33.8 Other congenital malformations of lung
	Q33.9 Congenital malformation of lung, unspecified
	Q34.0 Anomaly of pleura
	Q34.1 Congenital cyst of mediastinum
	Q34.8 Other specified congenital malformations of respiratory system
	Q34.9 Congenital malformation of respiratory system, unspecified
	Q39.0 Atresia of oesophagus without fistula
	Q39.1 Atresia of oesophagus with tracheo- oesophageal fistula
	Q39.2 Congenital tracheo-oesophageal fistula without atresia
	Q39.3 Congenital stenosis and stricture of oesophagus
	Q39.4 Oesophageal web
	Q39.8 Other congenital mailformations of oesophagus
	Q89.3 Situs inversus

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

COPD admission rate

Numerator: All non-maternal hospital discharges (age 15+) with a principal diagnosis code for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in a specified year.

COPD diagnosis codes:

ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
490 BRONCHITIS NOS*	J40 Bronchitis*
4660 AC BRONCHITIS*	J410 Simple chronic bronchitis
4910 Simple Chr Bronchitis	J411 Mucopurulent chronic bronchitis
4911 Mucopurul Chr Bronchitis	J418 Mixed simple and mucopurulent chronic bronchitis
49120 Obs Chr Brnc W/O Act Exa	J42 Unspecified chronic bronchitis
49121 Obs Chr Brnc W Act Exa	J430 MacLeod's syndrome
4918 Chronic Bronchitis Nec	J431 Panlobular emphysema
4919 Chronic Bronchitis Nos	J432 Centrilobular emphysema
4920 Emphysematous Bleb	J438 Other emphysema
4928 Emphysema Nec	J439 Emphysema, unspecified
494 Bronchiectasis Oct00-	J440 COPD with acute lower respiratory infection
4940 Bronchiectas W/O Ac Exac Oct00-	J441 COPD with acute exacerbation, unspecified
4941 Bronchiectasis W Ac Exac Oct00-	J448 Other specified chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
496 Chr Airway Obstruct Nec	J449 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, unspecified J47 Bronchiectasis
*Qualifies only if accompanied by secondary diagnosis of 491.xx, 492.x, 494.x or 496 (i.e., any other code on this list).	*Qualifies only if accompanied by secondary diagnosis of J41, J43, J44, J47

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution

- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium

newborn and other neonates)
same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

Diabetes lower extremity amputation rate

Numerator: All non-maternal discharges (age 15+) with procedure code for lower extremity amputation in any field and diagnosis code of diabetes in any field in a specified year.

Diabetes lower extremity amputation diagnostic codes:

Procedure codes for lower-extremity amputation Procedure codes for lower-extremity amputation 8410 Lower Limb Amputat Nos Not specified 8411 Toe Amputation Not specified 8412 Amputation Through Foot 8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Malleoli 8414 Robustion Through Malleoli 8414 Amputation Mec 8418 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8418 8419 Hindquarter Amputation 8419 Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: Diagnosis codes for diabetes mellitus with coma 25000 Dmil Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25002 Dmil Wo Cmp Uncntrid E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25010 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrid E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrid E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications 25012 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrid E10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications 25012 Dmil Keto AU controld E10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nultiple complications 25021 Dmil Hprsm Nt St Uncntrid	ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
8410 Lower Limb Amputat Nos Not specified 8411 Toe Amputation 8412 Amputation Through Foot 8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Maleoli 8414 Amputat Through Maleoli 8415 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Maleoli 8416 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: Diagnosis codes for diabetes mellitus with coma 25000 Dmil Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmil Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrd E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25002 Dmil Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25012 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25012 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25012 Dmil Keto Ad Uncontrold E10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25020 Dmil Hprasm Nt St Uncntrld E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes m	Procedure codes for lower-extremity amputation	Procedure codes for lower-extremity amputation
8410 Lower Limb Amputation Not specified 8411 Toe Amputation Response of the second secon		
8411 De Amputation 8412 Amputation Through Foot 8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Malleoli 8415 Below Knee Amputat Nec 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25013 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld 25021 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25023 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25024 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25025 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25026 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld <t< td=""><td>8410 Lower Limb Amputat Nos</td><td>Not specified</td></t<>	8410 Lower Limb Amputat Nos	Not specified
8412 Amputation Through Foot 8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Malleoli 8415 Below Knee Amputat Nec 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nutrological complications 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes	8411 Toe Amputation	
8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle 8414 Amputat Through Malleoli 8415 Below Knee Amputat Nec 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25004 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25005 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25006 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25013 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25021 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25023 Dmi Hprosmlr Uncontrold 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl 25023 Dmi Hprosmlr Uncontrold 25024 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld 25023 Dmi Hprosmlr Uncontrold 2511.1 Non-insulin-dependent diab	8412 Amputation Through Foot	
8414 Amputat Through Malleoli 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrl E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld	8413 Disarticulation Of Ankle	
8415 Below Knee Amputat Nec 8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25003 Dmii Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.5 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nutliple complications 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25023 Dmi Hprosmlr Uncontrold E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus wi	8414 Amputat Through Malleoli	
8416 Disarticulation Of Knee 8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: Diagnosis codes for diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.5 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nutple complications 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mell	8415 Below Knee Amputat Nec	
8417 Above Knee Amputation 8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25010 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.5 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications 25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25022 Dmii Hprosmlr Uncontrold E11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25023 Dmi Hprosmlr Uncontrold E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25030 Dmi O Cm Nt St Uncntrl E11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25030 Dmi O Cm	8416 Disarticulation Of Knee	
8418 Disarticulation Of Hip 8419 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: Diagnosis codes for diabetes: 25000 Dmil Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25002 Dmil Wo Cmp Uncntrld E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications 25010 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25010 Dmil Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld E10.5 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications 25012 Dmil Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications 25020 Dmil Hersm Nt St Uncntrld E10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nultiple complications 25021 Dmil Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications 25022 Dmil Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25023 Dmil Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld E11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25023 Dmil Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld E11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25032 Dmil Hprosmlr Uncontrold E11.1	8417 Above Knee Amputation	
Bit 19 Hindquarter Amputation Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr 25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrld 25010 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25010 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25010 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrl 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrld 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold 25020 Dmii Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrl 25020 Dmii Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrl 25021 Dmi Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrl 25022 Dmii Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrl 25023 Dmi Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrl 25020 Dmii Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrld 25021 Dmi Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrld 25022 Dmii Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrld 25023 Dmi Hyrsm Nt St Uncntrld 25030 Dmi Ocm Nt St Uncntrld 25030 Dmi Ocm Nt St Uncntrld	8418 Disarticulation Of Hip	
Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes: Diagnosis codes for diabetes: 25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntri E10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25002 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntri E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrid E10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrid E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic 25003 Dmi Wo Cmp Uncntrid E10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic 25010 Dmii Keto Nt St Uncntrid E10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic 25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Uncntrid E10.5 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic 25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified 25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold E10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified 25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrid E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified 25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St Uncntrid E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25022 Dmii Hprosmlr Uncontrold E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St Uncntrid E11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal 25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St Uncntrid E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma 25032 Dmii O Cm Nt St Uncn	8419 Hindquarter Amoutation	
Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes:Diagnosis codes for diabetes:25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St UncntriE10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma E10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25002 Dmii Wo Cmp UncntridE10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntridE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25011 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25012 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25023 Dmi Hprosmir UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma complications25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25033 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neuro		
25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St UncntriE10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St UncntridE10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntridE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25012 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25013 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntridE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrol	Diagnosis Codes For Diabetes:	Diagnosis codes for diabetes:
25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St UncntriE10.1Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25002 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntridE10.2Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntridE10.3Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntridE10.5Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25012 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.6Insulin-dependentDM withperipheralcirculatory25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6Insulin-dependentDM withother specified25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.7Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.7Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithmultiple25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.8Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE11.0Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith coma25023 Dmi Hprosmir UncontroldE11.1Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.2Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDM with	25000 Dmii Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntr	F10.0 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma
Loos Dmi Ho Cmp Hor AndrikExtra analysis25002 Dmii Wo Cmp UncntrldE10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntrldE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complicat	25001 Dmi Wo Cmp Nt St Uncntrl	F10.1 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with
25002 Dmii Wo Cmp UncntrldE10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntrldE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25033 Dmi Oc m Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications		ketoacidosis
25002 Drink Wo Cmp UnchtridEnd and Complications25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UnchtridE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UnchtridE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UnchtridE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nultiple complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with nultiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UnchtridE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UnchtridE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25033 Dmi Oc m Nt St UnchtridE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UnchtridE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications	25002 Dmii Wa Cmp Upentrld	F10.2 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal
25003 Dmi Wo Cmp UncntrldE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM etabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications		complications
25005 Dnii Wo Chip DictinitiCan Balin Wo Chip Dictiniti25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntridE10.3 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntridE10.4 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulations	25002 Dmi Wa Cmp Upentrid	E10.2 Insulin dependent disbetes mellitus with epothalmic
25010 Dmii Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.4 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		complications
25010 Dini Reto Nt St UnchtridE10.4E10.4CalabetesMeintusWith neurological complications25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UnchtridE10.5Insulin-dependentDM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6Insulin-dependentDM with otherspecified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7Insulin-dependentDM with otherspecified complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntriE10.8Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith multiple complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntridE10.9Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith other25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith other25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.2Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswith25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntridE11.3Non-insulin-dependentDM withophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4Non-insulin-dependentDM withneurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDM withperipheral25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDM withperipheral	25010 Dmill Kata Nt Ct Lla antid	F10.4 Inculin dependent disketes mellitus with
25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UncntrldE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral	25010 Dimil Keto Nt St Unchtrid	e 10.4 insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with
25011 Dmi Keto Nt St UnchtridE10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with out complications25022 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral		
25012 Dmii Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6 Insulin-dependentDM with other specified complications25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependentdiabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM endent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM erulator complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM erulator complications	25011 Dmi Keto Nt St Unchtrid	E10.5 Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory
25012 Dmil Ketoacd UncontroldE10.6Insulin-dependentDMwithotherspecified25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithmultiple25020 Dmil Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithunspecified25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithout25022 Dmil Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithout25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithcomplications25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithrenal25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithrenal25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3Non-insulin-dependentDMputhalmiccomplications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4Non-insulin-dependentDMwithneurological25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDMwithperipheral25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDMwithperipheral25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDMwithperipheral		
25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	25012 Dmii Ketoacd Uncontrold	E10.6 Insulin-dependent DM with other specified
25013 Dmi Ketoacd UncontroldE10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		complications
25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	25013 Dmi Ketoacd Uncontrold	E10.7 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple
25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St UncntrlE10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with renal complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral complications		complications
25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral complications	25020 Dmii Hprsm Nt St Uncntrl	E10.8 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with unspecified
25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St UncntrldE10.9Insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithout25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithcomplete25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithcomplete25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependentdiabetesmellituswithrenal25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithophthalmic25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependentDM withneurological25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithperipheral		complications
complications25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DMwith ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	25021 Dmi Hprsm Nt St Uncntrld	E10.9 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without
25022 Dmii Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DMwith ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		complications
25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DMwith ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	25022 Dmii Hprosmlr Uncontrold	E11.0 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma
25023 Dmi Hprosmlr UncontroldE11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DMwith ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	'	
Line of potent and potent an	25023 Dmi Horosmlr Uncontrold	E11.1 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with
25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St UncntrldE11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal complications25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependent DM with ophthalmic complications25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		ketoacidosis
25030 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithophthalmic25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependentDM withneurological25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependentDM withperipheral	25030 Dmii O Cm Nt St Unchtrld	F11.2 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with renal
25031 Dmi O Cm Nt St UncntrlE11.3 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithophthalmic25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithneurological25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5 Non-insulin-dependentDMwithperipheral		complications
25031 Diff O Chrint St OrichthE11.3Non-insulin-dependentDiff withOphthalmic ophthalmic25032 Dmii Oth Coma UncontroldE11.4Non-insulin-dependentDM withneurological complications25033 Dmi Oth Coma UncontroldE11.5Non-insulin-dependentDM withperipheral circulatory complications	25021 Dmi O Cm Nt St Upontri	E11.2 Non inquir dependent DMwith entrhalmin
25032 Dmii Oth Coma Uncontrold E11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications 25033 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrold E11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		complications
25032 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrold E11.4 Non-insulin-dependent DM with neurological complications E11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications	25022 Dmii Oth Come Uncentrald	E11.4 Non inculin dependent DM with resurch time
25033 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrold E11.5 Non-insulin-dependent DM with peripheral	25032 Dimil Oth Coma Uncontrold	complications
25033 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrold E11.5 Non-Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications		F44.5 Neg inculia descede (DM - 11 - 11
	25033 Dmi Oth Coma Uncontrold	E11.5 Non-Insulin-dependent DM with peripheral circulatory complications

25040 Dmii Renl Nt St Uncntrld

25041 Dmi Renl Nt St Uncntrld

25042 Dmii Renal Uncntrld

25043 Dmi Renal Uncntrld

25050 Dmii Ophth Nt St Uncntrl 25051 Dmi Ophth Nt St Uncntrld

25052 Dmii Ophth Uncntrld

25053 Dmi Ophth Uncntrld

25060 Dmii Neuro Nt St Uncntrl

25061 Dmi Neuro Nt St Uncntrld

25062 Dmii Neuro Uncntrld

25063 Dmi Neuro Uncntrld

25070 Dmii Circ Nt St Uncntrld

25071 Dmi Circ Nt St Uncntrld

25072 Dmii Circ Uncntrld 25073 Dmi Circ Uncntrld 25080 Dmii Oth Nt St Uncntrld 25081 Dmi Oth Nt St Uncntrld 25082 Dmii Oth Uncntrld 25083 Dmi Oth Uncntrld 25090 Dmii Unspf Nt St Uncntrld 25091 Dmi Unspf Nt St Uncntrld 25092 Dmii Unspf Uncntrld 25093 Dmi Unspf Uncntrld E11.6 Non-insulin-dependent DM with other specified complications

E11.7 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with multiple complications

E11.8 Non-insulin-dependent DM with unspecified complications

E11.9 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus without complications

E13.0 Other specified diabetes mellitus with coma

E13.1 Other specified diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

E13.2 Other specified diabetes mellitus with renal complications

E13.3 Other specified diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications

E13.4 Other specified diabetes mellitus with neurological complications

E13.5 Other specified DM with peripheral circulatory complications

E13.6 Other specified diabetes mellitus with other specified complications

E13.7 Other specified diabetes mellitus with multiple complications

E13.8 Other specified diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications

E13.9 Other specified diabetes mellitus without complications

Diagnosis codes for diabetes (continued):

E14.0 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with coma E14.1 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

E14.2 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with renal complications

E14.3 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with ophthalmic complications

E14.4 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with neurological complications

E14.5 Unspecified DM with peripheral circulatory complications

E14.6 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with other specified complications

E14.7 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with multiple complications

E14.8 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with unspecified complications

E14.9 Unspecified diabetes mellitus without complications

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution
- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium)
- newborn and other neonates)
- with trauma diagnosis code in any field

- same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Exclude trauma diagnosis codes:

ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
8950 Amputation Toe	S78.0 Traumatic amputation at hip joint
8951 Amputation Toe-Complicat	S78.1 Traumatic amputation at level between hip and knee
8960 Amputation Foot, Unilat	S78.9 Traumatic amputation of hip and thigh, level unspecified
8961 Amput Foot, Unilat-Compl	S88.0 Traumatic amputation at knee level
8962 Amputation Foot, Bilat	S88.1 Traumatic amputation at level between knee and ankle
8963 Amputat Foot, Bilat-Comp	S88.9 Traumatic amputation of lower leg, level unspecified
8970 Amput Below Knee, Unilat	S98.0 Traumatic amputation of foot at ankle level
8971 Amputat Bk, Unilat-Compl	S98.1 Traumatic amputation of one toe
8972 Amput Above Knee, Unilat	S98.2 Traumatic amputation of two or more toes
8973 Amput Abv Kn, Unil-Compl	S98.3 Traumatic amputation of other parts of foot
8974 Amputat Leg, Unilat Nos	S98.4 Traumatic amputation of foot, level unspecified
8975 Amput Leg, Unil Nos-Comp	T05.3 Traumatic amputation of both feet
8976 Amputation Leg, Bilat	T05.4 Traumatic amputation of 1 foot and other leg [any level, except foot]
8977 Amputat Leg, Bilat-Compl	T05.5 Traumatic amputation of both legs [any level] T13.6 Traumatic amputation of lower limb, level unspecified

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

Diabetes Short-term Complications Admission Rate

Numerator: All non-maternal/non-neonatal hospital discharges (age 15+) with a principal diagnosis code for Diabetes short-term complications (i.e. ketoacidosis, hyperosmolarity, coma) in a specified year.

Diabetes short-term diagnostic codes:

ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
25010 Dm Keto T2, Dm Cont	E100 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma

25011 Dm Keto T1, Dm Cont

25012 Dm Keto T2, Dm Uncont

25013 Dm Keto T1, Dm Uncont

25020 Dm W/ Hyprosm T2, Dm Cont 25021 Dm W/ Hyprosm T1, Dm Cont

25022 Dm W/ Hyprosm T2, Dm Uncnt 25023 Dm W/ Hyprosm T1, Dm Uncnt 25030 Dm Coma Nec Typ Ii, Dm Cnt 25031 Dm Coma Nec T1, Dm Cont 25032 Dm Coma Nec T2, Dm Uncont 25033 Dm Coma Nec T1, Dm Uncont E101 Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

E110 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with coma

E111 Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

E130 Other specified diabetes mellitus with coma

E131 Other specified diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

E140 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with coma

E141 Unspecified diabetes mellitus with ketoacidosis

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution
- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium)
- newborn and other neonates)
- with trauma diagnosis code in any field

- same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

CHF admission rate

Numerator: All non-maternal/non-neonatal hospital discharges (age 15+) with principal diagnosis code for Congestive Heart Failure (CHF) in a specified year.

CHF diagnostic codes: ICD-9-CM ICD-10-WHO 39891 Rheumatic Heart Failure I11.0 Hypertensive heart disease with (congestive) heart failure 40201 Mal Hypert Hrt Dis W Chf 113.0 Hypertensive heart and renal disease with (congestive) heart failure 40211 Benign Hyp Hrt Dis W Chf 113.2 Hypertensive heart and renal disease with both (congestive) heart failure and renal failure 40291 Hyperten Heart Dis W Chf 150.0 Congestive heart failure 40401 Mal Hyper Hrt/Ren W Chf 150.1 Left ventricular failure 150.9 Heart failure, unspecified 40403 Mal Hyp Hrt/Ren W Chf/Rf 40411 Ben Hyper Hrt/Ren W Chf 40413 Ben Hyp Hrt/Ren W Chf/Rf 40491 Hyper Hrt/Ren Nos W Chf 40493 Hyp Ht/Ren Nos W Chf/Rf 4280 Congestive Heart Failure 4281 Left Heart Failure 42820 Systolic Hrt Failure Nos Oct02-42821 Ac Systolic Hrt Failure Oct02-42822 Chr Systolic Hrt Failure Oct02-42823 Ac On Chr Syst Hrt Fail Oct02-42830 Diastolc Hrt Failure Nos Oct02-42831 Ac Diastolic Hrt Failure Oct02-42832 Chr Diastolic Hrt Fail Oct02-42833 Ac On Chr Diast Hrt Fail Oct02-42840 Syst/Diast Hrt Fail Nos Oct02-42841 Ac Syst/Diastol Hrt Fail Oct02-42842 Chr Syst/Diastl Hrt Fail Oct02-42843 Ac/Chr Syst/Dia Hrt Fail Oct02-4289 Heart Failure Nos

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution
- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium)
- newborn and other neonates)
- with cardiac procedure codes in any field
- with trauma diagnosis code in any field

- same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

Hypertension Admission Rate

Numerator: All non-maternal hospital discharges (age 15+) with principal diagnosis code for Hypertension in a specified year.

Hypertension diagnostic codes:

ICD-9-CM	ICD-10-WHO
4010 Malignant Hypertension	I10 Essential (primary) hypertension
4019 Hypertension Nos	I119 Hypertensive heart disease without (congestive) heart failure
40200 Mol Liveortee Hit Die Nee	1420 Hypertensive rend disease without rend foilure
40200 Mai hyperten hit Dis Nos	1129 Hypertensive renai disease without renai failure
40210 Ben Hyperten Hrt Dis Nos	1139 Hypertensive heart and renal disease, unspecified
40290 Hypertensive Hrt Dis Nos 40300 Mal Hyp Ren W/O Ren Fail 40310 Ben Hyp Ren W/O Ren Fail 40390 Hyp Ren Nos W/O Ren Fail 40400 Mal Hy Ht/Ren W/O Chf/Rf	
40410 Ben Hy Ht/Ren W/O Chf/Rf	
40490 Hy Ht/Ren Nos W/O Chf/Rf	

Exclude cases:

- transferring from another institution
- pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium)

- newborn and other neonates)

- with cardiac procedure codes in any field
- with cardiac procedure codes in any field

- same day/day only admissions (admissions with a length of stay less than 24 hours. In those countries where a timestamp of admission or discharge is not available cases with a length of stay of 0 days shall be excluded.

Denominator: 100,000 Population (age 15+ years).

2.2 Article 2: Revascularization treatment of STEMI patients

Title:

Revascularization treatment of emergency patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in Switzerland:

Results from a nationwide, cross-sectional study in Switzerland for 2010-2011

Claudia Berlin¹, Peter Jüni^{2,3}, Olga Endrich⁴, Marcel Zwahlen¹

¹Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM), University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

² Applied Health Research Centre (AHRC), Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute of St. Michael's Hospital, and Department of Medicine, University of Toronto, Canada

³Institute of Primary Health Care (BIHAM), University of Bern, Switzerland

⁴ Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland

PLOS ONE 2016

DOI: 10.1271/journal.pone.0153326



Citation: Berlin C, Jüni P, Endrich O, Zwahlen M (2016) Revascularization Treatment of Emergency Patients with Acute ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction in Switzerland: Results from a Nationwide, Cross-Sectional Study in Switzerland for 2010-2011. PLoS ONE 11(4): e0153326. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0153326

Editor: Ingo Ahrens, University Hospital Medical Centre, GERMANY

Received: July 20, 2015

Accepted: March 28, 2016

Published: April 14, 2016

Copyright: © 2016 Berlin et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Individual data from different data sets were used for this study. All these data are the property of the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO) (www.bfs.admin.ch) and can only be made available to other researchers by legal agreements with the SFSO.

Funding: This study was funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF), grant number 32473B_138056 (www.snf.ch). Grant holder was MZ. The funders had no role in study design, data RESEARCH ARTICLE

Revascularization Treatment of Emergency Patients with Acute ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction in Switzerland: Results from a Nationwide, Cross-Sectional Study in Switzerland for 2010-2011

Claudia Berlin¹, Peter Jüni^{2,3}, Olga Endrich⁴, Marcel Zwahlen¹*

1 Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM), University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland, 2 Applied Health Research Centre (AHRC), Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute of St. Michael's Hospital, and Department of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada, 3 Institute of Primary Health Care (BIHAM), University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland, 4 Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland

* marcel.zwahlen@ispm.unibe.ch

Abstract

Background

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death worldwide and in Switzerland. When applied, treatment guidelines for patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) improve the clinical outcome and should eliminate treatment differences by sex and age for patients whose clinical situations are identical. In Switzerland, the rate at which STEMI patients receive revascularization may vary by patient and hospital characteristics.

Aims

To examine all hospitalizations in Switzerland from 2010–2011 to determine if patient or hospital characteristics affected the rate of revascularization (receiving either a percutaneous coronary intervention or a coronary artery bypass grafting) in acute STEMI patients.

Data and Methods

We used national data sets on hospital stays, and on hospital infrastructure and operating characteristics, for the years 2010 and 2011, to identify all emergency patients admitted with the main diagnosis of acute STEMI. We then calculated the proportion of patients who were treated with revascularization. We used multivariable multilevel Poisson regression to determine if receipt of revascularization varied by patient and hospital characteristics.



collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Results

Of the 9,696 cases we identified, 71.6% received revascularization. Patients were less likely to receive revascularization if they were female, and 80 years or older. In the multivariable multilevel Poisson regression analysis, there was a trend for small-volume hospitals performing fewer revascularizations but this was not statistically significant while being female (Relative Proportion = 0.91, 95% CI: 0.86 to 0.97) and being older than 80 years was still associated with less frequent revascularization.

Conclusion

Female and older patients were less likely to receive revascularization. Further research needs to clarify whether this reflects differential application of treatment guidelines or limitations in this kind of routine data.

Introduction

Mortality for cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) has continually decreased in developed countries, but CVDs are still the leading cause of death in Switzerland for both sexes [1]. More rapid and improved treatment of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) has substantially reduced CVD mortality [2]. International guidelines recommend, for optimal treatment, that AMI patients receive evidence-based therapies [3–5]. Treatment guidelines differ by type of AMI: ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) is differentiated from non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI). If treatment guidelines are consistently followed, they should reduce or eliminate sex- or age-based treatment differences for patients whose clinical situations are identical.

In Switzerland, however, there is evidence that AMI patients are treated inconsistently, and that guidelines are more likely to be followed for men than for women. Radovanovic et al analyzed patients of the Swiss AMI registry (AMIS) between 1997–2011 and saw that percutaneous coronary interventions (PCI) had increased in STEMI patients overall. But, since 2006, they found that over 80% of male patients received PCI, while only 70% of women were treated with PCI [6]. Women were less likely to receive primary reperfusion (thrombolysis and PCI) and medications according to evidence-based guidelines [6,7]. Other studies documented that AMI treatment in Switzerland varied by region, hospital characteristics (presence or absence of 24 hour/7day cardiac catheterization facility), age, and number of comorbidities [7–9].

We used nation-wide hospital data of patients admitted to all Swiss hospitals in 2010 and 2011, with the goal of including all patients with acute STEMI as their main diagnosis because well-established treatment guidelines exist for these patients [3]. Our goal was to investigate the effect of patient and hospital characteristics on receipt of revascularization in acute STEMI patients accounting for hospital transfers and use of treatment information over the whole course of treatment.

Data and Methods

Ethics

Ethical approval was not required for this analysis of data, which are available to research institutions according to the ordinance on federal statistical monitoring activities and surveys.

Data sets

We used two national data sets from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO) that provided information about inpatient care and hospital infrastructure in 2010 and 2011. The first data set, *Medizinische Statistik der Krankenhäuser*, focuses on hospital stays (HS) and includes mandatory information on all patients hospitalized for at least a day, recording age, sex, place of residence, date of admission and discharge (month) of the patient, as well as main and concomitant diagnoses, and treatment provided. The second data set, *Krankenhausstatistik*, focuses on hospital characteristics (HC) and contains information on hospital infrastructure for all hospitals in Switzerland, including type of hospital, number of beds, number of physicians and nurses, number of angiography devices, CT or MRI machines, presence of an emergency room. The information in these data sets can be cross-referenced by hospital-ID. To ensure data is protected, the patient residence and the geographical location of the hospital are aggregated into zip code areas consolidated into 705 medical statistics (Medstat) regions.

Ethical approval was not required for this analysis of data, which are available to research institutions according to the ordinance on federal statistical monitoring activities and surveys.

We used the community classification data set (*Raumgliederung*) from the SFSO (reference date December 31st, 2010) to determine the level of urbanization of Medstat regions. The variable urban/rural region in the community classification data set included four categories: (1) main city of an agglomeration; (2) other agglomeration community; (3) isolated city; and, (4) rural community. One Medstat region usually contains more than one community. If at least one community in the Medstat region was classified as 1, 2 or 3, we coded the whole Medstat region as urban. Otherwise we coded it as rural.

Construction of course of treatment

The years 2010–2011 included a total of 2,708,942 hospital stays (2010: 1.345.245; 2011: 1,363,697; Fig 1). We excluded 44,338 records for which date of entry, date of exit, hospital-ID or patient-ID were missing. Of that, the majority (99.7%) had no date of exit because these patients were hospitalized over New Year. So they had an incomplete record the year they entered the hospital and a complete record the year they were discharged. So we excluded them to eliminate duplicates and just use complete records. To protect patient anonymity, the treating hospital uses a Hash code (derived from the patient's name, gender and date of birth) to create a patient ID, which can be used to track patients with multiple hospital stays, either in the same, or in another hospital.

Patients with several hospital stays recorded close together may have been referred between hospitals to treat the same condition. For example, STEMI patients would be recorded twice in the HS data if they were treated in one hospital for a day, and then transferred to spend several days in another hospital for further treatment. To avoid double counting of patients, we reconstructed each of these short courses of treatment, searching for sequential hospitalizations in the HS record by patient-ID, sequence number, days to next hospitalization (< = 1), and month of entry. A case may thus contain several hospital stays. For the years 2010 and 2011, we constructed 2,418,502 full cases.

Selection of STEMI patients

The International Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death (ICD) 10 codes were used to code main and secondary diagnoses in the HS data set. The ICD 10 code that starts with I21 is for acute transmural myocardial infarctions. To select AMI patients with STEMI specifically, we excluded cases with acute subendocardial myocardial infarction (I21.4) and unspecified acute myocardial infarction (I21.9). Cases with acute transmural myocardial



doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153326.g001

PLOS ONE

infarction of anterior wall (I21.0), acute transmural myocardial infarction of inferior wall (I21.1), acute transmural myocardial infarction of other sites (I21.2) or acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified site (I21.3) were included. These four main diagnoses (I21.0, I21.1, I21.2, and I21.3) had to appear at the first or second hospitalization record. If mentioned on the second record we restricted the selection to cases matching predefined main diagnoses at the first record (see <u>S1 Table</u>). We chose these predefined diagnoses as they have similar symptoms like AMI and we wanted to identify just patients being hospitalized as an emergency with AMI. We only included cases if the first record was an emergency admission. This way we excluded patients with planned hospital stays, who were unlikely to have an acute STEMI. After applying these restrictions, we included 9,696 full treatment cases in our analysis.

Information on treatment received

To describe the treatments that STEMI patients received, we considered all records of treatment for each case. We coded information on treatment procedures in the HS data according to the Swiss operation classification system (CHOP), which was derived and modified from the American International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification: ICD-9-CM, volume 3, 1994. We also coded it according to classification in All Patient Diagnosis Related Groups (APDRG). We classified the 9,696 AMI cases into four groups, based on available treatment information: (1) codes that indicated a PCI; (2) codes that indicated a coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG); (3) codes that indicated treatments other than PCI or CABG; and, (4) patients with no available treatment codes (see <u>S2</u> and <u>S3</u> Tables for the exact CHOP and APDRG codes we used). We then created a variable that described if patients were treated with revascularization (PCI, CABG, or both) or not.

Patient characteristics

We assessed the following socio-demographic variables: sex, age (grouped 18–44, 45–49, 50– 54, 55–59, 60–64, 65–69, 70–74, 75–79, 80–84, 85+ years), and nationality (Swiss, foreign). As a proxy for the patient's socio-economic position, we used the patients insurance status (public, semi-private, or private), which indicates the type of insurance used for billing. Public insurance is mandatory, semi-private and private insurance are optional and paid for by patients in addition to paying public insurance. Semi private insurance is associated with a hospital stay in a two-bed room, private insurance with a stay in a single-bed room. We also used information on who referred the patient to the hospital (the patient or relatives, rescue service or a physician). To characterize the comorbidities of the patient, we used the maximum number of secondary diagnoses recorded either in the first or, if the patient was referred, the second record in the HS data (grouped into no, 1 to 2, 3 to 4, 5 to 6, and 7 or more secondary diagnoses).

Hospital characteristics

We used the following hospital level information: presence of an angiography device; full-time equivalent (FTE) of the physicians by 1,000 cases (grouped into tertiles); type of hospital region (urban or rural); language region of the hospital (German, French or Italian); and the number of hospital stays per year. As has been done previously [10], we divided hospitals into three groups: small-volume (<15,001 cases/year), medium-volume (15,001–30,000 cases/year) or high-volume (> 30,000 cases/year) volume.

Except for treatment information and comorbidities, we derived both patient and hospital characteristics from the first hospital stay of the short course of treatment. Coding guidelines for HS data imply that the referring hospital coded the treatment when it referred a patient to another hospital for ambulatory treatment, e.g., an ambulatory PCI. This explains why we focused on the first hospital, which also took the lead in providing treatment and made the decision to refer a patient to another hospital.

Statistical analysis

We calculated the number and percentage of patients who received revascularization and computed crude relative proportions with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) when comparing groups of patients. We used Pearson Chi-square-test with a two-sided significance level p<0.05 to test for differences by patient or hospital characteristics. We then estimated relative proportions using multivariable multilevel Poisson regression to adjust for confounders and to identify characteristics independently associated with receiving revascularization [11]. We included patient characteristics (sex, age, nationality, bed category, maximum number of secondary diagnoses at first or second hospital, entry decision) and hospital characteristics (angiography device, fulltime equivalent of physicians per 1,000 cases, type of hospital region, language region, and hospital groups). We used multilevel Poisson regression as implemented in Stata, with the **xtpoisson** command, to account for the multilevel structure of the data (clustering of patients within the first contact hospital), and used Wald tests to examine the significance of association. In the analyses of variables with ordered levels we used the lowest level as the reference group and for dichotomous variables the level without the corresponding characteristic. We performed a sensitivity analysis by analyzing treatment with PCI alone, excluding CABG and found no major differences between the model with PCI alone and the model with

PCI/CABG, hence we used PCI/CABG in all further analyses. All analyses were performed using Stata version 13 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Results

In Switzerland, in 2010 and 2011, 300 hospitals provided inpatient care, including specialized services for acute care, psychiatry, rehabilitation/geriatrics, or delivery/obstetrics. More than half these hospitals had an acute care division (2010: 179, 2011: 180). Of these 300 hospitals, 98 were the site of first contact in 2010, and 96 in 2011, for the 9,696 STEMI cases we included. In both years, 77 of the hospitals were located in an urban area. Of the first contact hospitals, 54 in 2010, and 56 in 2011, had at least one angiography device. Over both years, 35.4% of the included STEMI patients were initially treated in a small-volume hospital, 31.9% in a medium-volume hospital, and 32.6% in a high-volume hospital.

Study population

The 9,696 STEMI cases (total: 9,598 different persons) were, on average, 65.8 years old (range: 18–102 years); 70.8% were male, and the mean length of stay was 11.7 days. In the group treated with revascularization (6,946 of the 9,696, or 71.6% of all), mean age was 63.3 years, 75.6% were men, and average length of stay was 11.4 days. The 2,750 patients who did not receive revascularization were, on average, 72 years old; 58.7% were male, and mean length of stay was 12.5 days.

The proportion of cases who received revascularization was highest in the 50–54 age group (83.5%), and lowest in the 85+ years age group (29.6%). The proportion was highest in the private (76.8%), and lowest in the public insurance category (70.9%). It was highest in the high-volume hospital group (81.3%), and lowest in the small-volume hospital group (55.3%). In the Italian hospital language region, 80.6% of all hospitalized STEMI cases received revascularization, while in the French language region, 70.9% received the treatment (see Table 1).

Factors associated with receiving a revascularization

The results of the univariable Poisson regression analyses showed revascularization was less common in female patients, those older than 69 and those who were Swiss (see <u>Table 1</u>). Patients were more likely to receive revascularization if they were referred to the hospital by their physician, had any secondary diagnoses, were in the private insurance category, were first treated in a medium- or high-volume hospital, or were hospitalized in the Italian language region. The relative proportion of revascularization treatments increased with the number of FTE of physicians per 1,000 cases. Patients treated in an urban hospital, and in hospitals with an angiography device were more likely to receive revascularization.

In the multivariable multilevel Poisson regression analysis most of these associations disappeared, while following associations persisted: A negative association of revascularization with being female (RP = 0.91, 95% CI: 0.86 to 0.97) and with being 80 years and older (age group 80–84 years: RP = 0.80, 95% CI: 0.70 to 0.91; age group 85+ years: RP = 0.42, 95% CI: 0.36 to 0.49). Having more comorbidities did not reduce the likelihood for revascularization (see Fig.2 and S4 Table).

Furthermore, we present (Figs $\underline{3}$ and $\underline{4}$; $\underline{55}$ and $\underline{56}$ Tables) separate multilevel Poisson regression analyses for men and women, stratified by age (younger age group: 18–64 years, older age group: 65+ years).

Having comorbidities wasn't a limiting factor to receive revascularization for young or old men and old women. In the adjusted analyses, revascularization was lower for men and women over 80. Women in the older age group had more often revascularization (RP = 1.18, 95% CI:

PLOS ONE

Table 1. Socio-demographic, socioeconomic and healthcare-related factors of the study population and crude rates of receiving a revascularization, Switzerland 2010–2011.

	N (%)	PCI/CABG (%)	Unadjusted model crude relative proportions (95% Cl)
Total	9,696 (100.00%)	6,946 (71.64%)	
Sex		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
Male	6,869 (70.84%)	5,254 (76.49%)	1.0
Female	2,827 (29.16%)	1,692 (59.85%)	0.78 (0.76,0.81)
Age groups		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
18 to 44 years	567 (5.85%)	454 (80.07%)	1.0
45 to 49 years	727 (7.50%)	594 (81.71%)	1.02 (0.97,1.08)
50 to 54 years	988 (10.19%)	825 (83.50%)	1.04 (0.99,1.10)
55 to 59 years	1,113 (11.48%)	888 (79.78%)	1.00 (0.95,1.05)
60 to 64 years	1,189 (12.26%)	946 (79.56%)	0.99 (0.94,1.04)
65 to 69 years	1,174 (12.11%)	952 (81.09%)	1.01 (0.96,1.06)
70 to 74 years	1,003 (10.34%)	756 (75.37%)	0.94 (0.89,0.99)
75 to 79 years	1,063 (10.96%)	727 (68.39%)	0.85 (0.81,0.91)
80 to 84 years	916 (9.45%)	521 (56.88%)	0.71 (0.66,0.76)
85+ years	956 (9.86%)	283 (29.60%)	0.37 (0.33,0.41)
Citizenship		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
Foreign	1,731 (17.85%)	1,331 (76.89%)	1.0
Swiss	7,965 (82.15%)	5,615 (70.50%)	0.92 (0.89,0.94)
Entry decision		p<0.0386	p<0.0382
Herself/Himself, relatives	2,415 (24.91%)	1,693 (70.10%)	1.0
Rescue services	3,730 (38.47%)	2,659 (71.29%)	1.02 (0.98,1.05)
Physician	3,551 (36.62%)	2,594 (73.05%)	1.04 (1.01,1.08)
Comorbidities		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
No	276 (2.85%)	91 (32.97%)	1.0
1–2	2,298 (23.70%)	1,757 (76.46%)	2.32 (1.96,2.75)
3–4	3,072 (31.68%)	2,384 (77.60%)	2.35 (1.99,2.79)
5–6	1,908 (19.68%)	1,415 (74.16%)	2.25 (1.90,2.67)
7+	2,142 (22.09%)	1,299 (60.64%)	1.84 (1.55,2.18)
Insurance status		p<0.0030	p<0.0013
Public	7,700 (79.41%)	5,462 (70.94%)	1.0
Half Private	1,401 (14.45%)	1,027 (73.30%)	1.03 (1.00,1.07)
Private	595 (6.14%)	457 (76.81%)	1.08 (1.03,1.13)
Hospital groups		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
Small (<15001 cases)	3,435 (35.43%)	1,900 (55.31%)	1.0
Medium (15001–30000 cases)	3,097 (31.94%)	2,475 (79.92%)	1.44 (1.40,1.50)
High (>30000 cases)	3,164 (32.63%)	2,571 (81.26%)	1.47 (1.42,1.52)
Language region		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
German	7,140 (73.64%)	5,085 (71.22%)	1.0
French	2,052 (21.16%)	1,455 (70.91%)	1.00 (0.96,1.03)
Italian	504 (5.20%)	406 (80.56%)	1.13 (1.08,1.18)
FTE physicians/1000 cases		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
1. tertile (<11.86)	3,236 (33.37%)	1,932 (59.70%)	1.0
2. tertile (11.86-<17.46)	3,300 (34.03%)	2,454 (74.36%)	1.25 (1.20,1.29)
3. tertile (17.46+)	3,151 (32.50%)	2,556 (81.12%)	1.36 (1.31,1.40)
n/a	9 (0.09%)	4 (44.44%)	

(Continued)



Table 1. (Continued)

	N (%)	PCI/CABG (%)	Unadjusted model crude relative proportions (95% CI)
Hospital region		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
Rural	504 (5.20%)	230 (45.63%)	1.0
Urban	9,192 (94.80%)	6,716 (73.06%)	1.60 (1.45,1.76)
Angiography device		p<0.0000	p<0.0000
No	1,290 (13.30%)	666 (51.63%)	1.0
Yes	8,406 (86.70%)	6,280 (74.71%)	1.45 (1.37,1.53)

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153326.t001





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153326.g002





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153326.g003

1.01 to 1.38) if their insurance status was semi-private. Young and old men as well as young women were more often treated with revascularization when admitted first to a medium size hospital (young men: RP = 1.29, 95% CI: 1.03 to 1.60; old men: RP = 1.32, 95% CI: 1.10 to 1.58; young women: RP = 1.38, 95% CI: 1.05 to 1.81).

In a sensitivity analysis we excluded cases which died the same day of admission, were 85 + years old or were admitted to hospitals with less than 3000 cases/year. This left 8,188 cases for the analysis. The stratified models showed that being hospitalized first in a small hospital led to less revascularization than an admission to a medium or high-volume hospital. The full model showed no significant association.



Fig 4. Results of multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization for male and female patients 65 years and older.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153326.g004

Discussion

Main findings

In patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction admitted as emergencies to Swiss hospitals in 2010 and 2011, close to three-quarters (71.6%) received revascularization. Women were less likely than men to be treated with PCI or CABG. Independent of other patient and hospital characteristics, patients 80 years and older underwent revascularization less frequently. In younger women, we observed no incremental association with number of comorbidities. Compared to patients with no comorbidities, having comorbidities was not a barrier to receive revascularization for old male and female patients as well as for young men. Patients admitted to a medium-sized (15001–30000 hospitalizations per year) hospital were more likely to receive a PCI or CABG. In a sensitivity analysis excluding patients died the day of admission, patients being 85 years and older or admitted to hospitals with less than 3000 cases/year we found a positive trend for revascularization when admitted to a medium or high-volume hospital compared to cases first hospitalized in a small hospital.

Limitations and strengths

Our study had some limitations. We used secondary data that was not collected for our study purpose, so we did not know why patients received no revascularization, or what kind of medication they received. For patients treated in more than one hospital, coding guidelines limit our ability to clearly determine which hospital provided which treatment [12]. We addressed this in two ways. First, for our analysis, we used the characteristics of the first hospital a patient went to. Second, we used treatment information across all hospitals in which a patient stayed during the course of treatment.

We chose the ICD-10 codes I21.0, I21.1, I21.2 and I21.3 to identify STEMI cases after consulting cardiologists and a coding expert from the Bern University hospital. ICD-10 codes do not distinguish between STEMI or NSTEMI cases [13,14]. Although they found difficulties in identifying the correct proportion of STEMI and NSTEMI on the bases of ICD-10 Alexandrescu et al. suggest to use I22.0, I22.1 and I22.8 additional to our chosen codes (I21.0-I21.3) to identify STEMI cases. When we included these ICD-10 codes, additional 44 cases were identified with almost identical results when included in the regression analyses.

We lacked specific information about the capability of a hospital to offer revascularization, and used the presence of an angiography device as a proxy without information about service hours of catheter labs (e.g. 24/7). Since treatments are coded, and diagnoses are made at the hospital where the patient is treated, coding practices may differ between hospitals e.g. due to variation in adherence to coding guidelines; this could introduce differential misclassification. The official coding guidelines are changed almost yearly. To limit the impact of changes, we restricted our analysis to 2010 and 2011. Although we used multilevel multivariable regression analyses, we cannot exclude residual confounding, bias due to variation of data collection procedures across hospitals, especially in information on prognostic factors of patients.

We examined the referral pattern per hospital group and the length of stay to consider difference in comorbidity coding. Of the 3,771 cases being transferred, 773 had no comorbidities coded in the first hospital. Considering the length of stay of these cases 88.4% (683) left the first hospital to another hospital the same day they were admitted. Therefore we believe that due to the short length of stay the registration of the comorbidities of the patient was poor in the first hospital. To overcome these differences in comorbidity coding we decided to use the maximum number of comorbidities at the first or second hospital. In a first analysis we used the number of comorbidities coded just by the first hospital. We found that having more than six comorbidities leads to less revascularization. We are convinced that the new variable of the maximum number of comorbidities is a better proxy for the real number of comorbidities of the patients. Nevertheless, this improvement is just referring to cases which were transferred.

Our study has several strengths. We analyzed standardized data of all hospitalized patients in all hospitals in Switzerland, so our results are valid for the whole country. The data set not only included patient characteristics and treatment provided, but also, via linkage to hospital characteristics data of the SFSO, it contained information on the personnel and technical infrastructure of Swiss hospitals. By constructing the course of treatment of emergency STEMI patients, we accounted for referrals and used the treatment information from all hospitals the patient visited during treatment. To our knowledge, previous Swiss studies did not take into account the treatments the patients received at all hospitals in case of hospital transfers [6-9,14]. The studies reporting on patients monitored in the AMIS registry restricted their analysis

to patients exclusively treated at hospitals collaborating in the AMIS registry [6,7,9]. As 39% of all cases in our study were transferred at least once, it was important to consider all treatment information available over the whole course of treatment.

Comparison with other studies

Like other studies of AMI patients, the receipt of optimal revascularization varied by age and gender when we adjusted for age and other patient and hospital characteristics [6,15-18]. Studies in the US and UK observed higher rates of invasive cardiac procedures in hospitals with onsite revascularization facilities [19,20]. In our univariable analysis, patients in hospitals with an angiography device more often received revascularization, but in the multivariable analysis, this association was no longer statistically significant.

Tung, et al, showed more PCI use among physicians who had high overall case volume [21]. Although the total number of annual hospitalizations does not directly reflect the frequency with which a hospital performs PCI and CABG we found a trend for less revascularization when admitted first to a small-volume hospital but the association was not significant. Just in the stratified (by age and gender) sensitivity analysis (exclusion of cases admitted to hospitals with less than 3000 cases/year, 85 years and more of age or patients which died the day of admission) this trend was significant.

Insam and colleagues analyzed hospitalizations for AMI in Switzerland before 2009 to determine if clinical management of AMI varied across seven major regions. They observed significant geographical differences and explained that Swiss hospitals are largely autonomous in defining their standards of care [8,14], but did not account for urbanization. Like studies from Canada [22,23], we found no regional differences, either between the language regions or between urban and rural hospitals.

Conclusions

Older patients and women were less likely to receive revascularization. Further research needs to clarify whether this reflects differential application of treatment guidelines or limitations in this kind of routine data.

Supporting Information

S1 Table. Predefined main diagnosis at first hospitalization record if second hospitalization record is STEMI.

(DOCX)

S2 Table. CHOP and APDRG codes used to identify PCI treatment. (DOCX)

S3 Table. CHOP and APDRG codes used to identify CABG treatment. (DOCX)

S4 Table. Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization. (DOCX)

S5 Table. Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization for male and female patients younger than 65 years. (DOCX) S6 Table. Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization for male and female patients 65 years and older. (DOCX)

(DOCX

Acknowledgments

Special thanks goes to Prof. André Busato who developed the original design of the study and was responsible for data and funding acquisition. Unfortunately, he died November 2013. We thank the SFSO for their persistent support in conducting the study (contract number: 11362). We also thank Kali Tal for her editorial assistance. The comments of the reviewers had a great influence in improving our analysis. We really appreciated their help. Thank you.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: MZ PJ. Analyzed the data: CB MZ. Wrote the paper: CB MZ. Developed study design: MZ PJ. Selection of ICD-10, APDRG, CHOP codes for the study: OE PJ.

References

- SFSO. Todesursachenstatistik: Sterblichkeit und deren Hauptursachen in der Schweiz, 2012. Neuchâtel; 2014.
- O'Flaherty M, Buchan I, Capewell S. Contributions of treatment and lifestyle to declining CVD mortality: why have CVD mortality rates declined so much since the 1960s? Heart. 2013; 99: 159–62. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1136/heartjnl-2012-302300</u> PMID: <u>22962283</u>
- Steg PG, James SK, Atar D, Badano LP, Blömstrom-Lundqvist C, Borger MA, et al. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33: 2569–619. doi: <u>10.1093/eurheartj/ehs215</u> PMID: <u>22922416</u>
- 4. Hamm CW, Bassand J-P, Agewall S, Bax J, Boersma E, Bueno H, et al. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevatio. Eur Heart J. 2011; 32: 2999–3054. doi: <u>10.1093/eurheartj/ehr236</u> PMID: <u>21873419</u>
- Windecker S, Kolh P, Alfonso F, Collet J-P, Cremer J, Falk V, et al. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) * Developed with the special contributio. Eur Heart J. 2014; ehu278–. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu278
- 6. Radovanovic D, Nallamothu BK, Seifert B, Bertel O, Eberli F, Urban P, et al. Temporal trends in treatment of ST-elevation myocardial infarction among men and women in Switzerland between 1997 and 2011. Eur Hear J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2012; 1: 183–191. doi: 10.1177/2048872612454021
- Radovanovic D, Urban P, Simon R, Schmidli M, Maggiorini M, Rickli H, et al. Outcome of patients with acute coronary syndrome in hospitals of different sizes: A report from the AMIS plus registry. Swiss Med Wkly. 2010; 140: 314–322. <u>http://dx.doi.org/smw-12986</u> PMID: 20407959
- Insam C, Paccaud F, Marques-Vidal P. The region makes the difference: disparities in management of acute myocardial infarction within Switzerland. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2014; 21: 541–8. doi: <u>10.1177/</u> <u>2047487312469122</u> PMID: <u>23169865</u>
- Radovanovic D, Seifert B, Urban P, Eberli FR, Rickli H, Bertel O, et al. Validity of Charlson Comorbidity Index in patients hospitalised with acute coronary syndrome. Insights from the nationwide AMIS Plus registry 2002–2012. Heart. 2014; 100: 288–94. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2013-304588 PMID: 24186563
- Weiss J, Coslovsky M, Keel I, Immer FF, Jüni P. Organ donation in Switzerland—an analysis of factors associated with consent rate. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e106845. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0106845</u> PMID: <u>25208215</u>
- Zou G. A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol. 2004; 159: 702–6. Available: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15033648</u> PMID: <u>15033648</u>
- 12. SFSO. Krankenhaustypologie [Internet]. 2006. Available: http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/ infothek/erhebungen__guellen/blank/blank/kh/02.html

- Alexandrescu R, Bottle A, Jarman B, Aylin P. Impact of transfer for angioplasty and distance on AMI inhospital mortality. Acute Card Care. 2012; 14: 5–12. doi: <u>10.3109/17482941.2012.655291</u> PMID: <u>22356567</u>
- Insam C, Paccaud F, Marques-Vidal P. Trends in hospital discharges, management and in-hospital mortality from acute myocardial infarction in Switzerland between 1998 and 2008. BMC Public Health. 2013; 13: 270. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-270 PMID: 23530470
- 15. Leurent G, Garlantézec R, Auffret V, Hacot JP, Coudert I, Filippi E, et al. Gender differences in presentation, management and inhospital outcome in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction : Data from 5000 patients included in the ORBI prospective French regional registry. Arch Cardiovasc Dis. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2014; 107: 291–298. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2014.04.005
- Gnavi R, Rusciani R, Dalmasso M, Giammaria M, Anselmino M, Roggeri DP, et al. Gender, socioeconomic position, revascularization procedures and mortality in patients presenting with STEMI and NSTEMI in the era of primary PCI. Differences or inequities? Int J Cardiol. 2014; 176: 724–30. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.107</u> PMID: <u>25183535</u>
- 17. Claassen M, Sybrandy KC, Appelman YE, Asselbergs FW. Gender gap in acute coronary heart disease: Myth or reality? World J Cardiol. 2012; 4: 36–47. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v4.i2.36 PMID: 22379536
- Pilgrim T, Heg D, Tal K, Erne P, Radovanovic D, Windecker S, et al. Age- and Gender-related Disparities in Primary Percutaneous Coronary Interventions for Acute ST-segment elevation Myocardial Infarction. PLoS One. 2015; 10: e0137047. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137047 PMID: 26352574
- Alter D a, Naylor CD, Austin PC, Tu J V. Long-term MI outcomes at hospitals with or without on-site revascularization. JAMA. 2001; 285: 2101–2108. doi: <u>10.1016/S1062-1458(01)00357-9</u> PMID: <u>11311099</u>
- Birkhead JS, Weston C, Lowe D. Impact of specialty of admitting physician and type of hospital on care and outcome for myocardial infarction in England and Wales during 2004–5: observational study. BMJ. 2006; 332: 1306–1311. doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.38849.440914.AE</u> PMID: <u>16705004</u>
- Tung Y-C, Chang G-M, Chien K-L, Tu Y-K. The relationships among physician and hospital volume, processes, and outcomes of care for acute myocardial infarction. Med Care. 2014; 52: 519–27. doi: <u>10.</u> <u>1097/MLR.00000000000132</u> PMID: <u>24783991</u>
- Pilote L, Joseph L, Bélisle P, Penrod J. Universal health insurance coverage does not eliminate inequities in access to cardiac procedures after acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J. 2003; 146: 1030–7. doi: <u>10.1016/S0002-8703(03)00448-4</u> PMID: <u>14660995</u>
- Blais C, Hamel D, Rinfret S. Impact of socioeconomic deprivation and area of residence on access to coronary revascularization and mortality after a first acute myocardial infarction in Québec. Can J Cardiol. 2012; 28: 169–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2011.10.009 PMID: 22200334
Supporting Information

S1: Predefined main diagnosis at first hospitalization record if second hospitalization record is

STEMI

ICD 10 code	Diagnosis
120.0	Unstable angina
120.1	Angina pectoris with documented spasm
120.8	Other forms of angina pectoris
120.9	Angina pectoris, unspecified
124.8	Other forms of acute ischaemic heart disease
124.9	Acute ischaemic heart disease, unspecified
125.1	Atherosclerotic heart disease
146.0	Cardiac arrest with successful resuscitation
149.0	Other cardiac arrhythmias
R06.0	Dyspnoea
R07.1	Chest pain on breathing
R07.2	Precordial pain
R07.3	Other chest pain
R07.4	Chest pain, unspecified
R57.0	Cardiogenic shock
R57.9	Shock, unspecified

CHOP code	
indicating PCI	Explanation
Z00.45	One stent inserted
Z00.46	Two stents inserted
Z00.47	Three stents inserted
Z00.48	Four or more stents inserted
Z00.66	Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty [PTCA] or coronary atherectomy
Z36.0	Removal of coronary artery obstruction and insertion of stent(s)
Z36.06	Insertion of non-drug-eluting coronary artery stent(s)
Z36.07	Insertion of drug-eluting coronary artery stent(s)
APDRG code	
indicating PCI	Explanation
112	Percutaneous cardiovascular intervention without acute myocardial infarction,
	cardiac insufficiency/heart failure or shock
1112	Percutaneous cardiovascular intervention without acute myocardial infarction,
	cardiac insufficiency/heart failure or shock, with multiple interventions
808	Percutaneous cardiovascular intervention with acute myocardial infarction,
	cardiac insufficiency/heart failure or shock
1808	Percutaneous cardiovascular intervention with acute myocardial infarction,
	cardiac insufficiency/heart failure or shock, with multiple interventions

S2: CHOP and APDRG codes used to identify PCI treatment

S3: CHOP and APDRG	codes used to i	dentify CABG treatment

CHOP code	
indicating	
CABG	Explanation
Z36.1	Bypass anastomosis for heart revascularization
Z36.10	Aortocoronary bypass for heart revascularization, not otherwise specified
Z36.11	(Aorto)coronary bypass of one coronary artery
Z36.12	(Aorto)coronary bypass of two coronary arteries
Z36.13	(Aorto)coronary bypass of three coronary arteries
Z36.14	(Aorto)coronary bypass of four or more coronary arteries
Z36.15	Single internal mammary-coronary artery bypass
Z36.16	Double internal mammary-coronary artery bypass
Z36.19	Other bypass anastomosis for heart revascularization
APDRG code	
indicating	
CABG	Explanation
106	Coronary bypass, with intracardiac catheter
107	Coronary bypass, without intracardiac catheter
546	Coronary bypass, with severe complications

S4: Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization

	All patients (95% CI)
Sex	p<0.0023
Male	1.0
Female	0.91 (0.86,0.97)
Age groups	p<0.0000
18 to 44 years	1.0
45 to 49 years	1.02 (0.90,1.15)
50 to 54 years	1.04 (0.93,1.16)
55 to 59 years	1.01 (0.90,1.13)
60 to 64 years	0.99 (0.88,1.10)
65 to 69 years	1.01 (0.90,1.13)
70 to 74 years	0.97 (0.86,1.10)
75 to 79 years	0.91 (0.81,1.03)
80 to 84 years	0.80 (0.70,0.91)
, 85+ years	0.42 (0.36,0.49)
Citizenship	p<0.9026
Foreign	1.0
Swiss	1.00 (0.93.1.06)
Entry decision	p<0.3483
Herself/Himself, relatives	1.0
Rescue services	0.96 (0.89.1.02)
Physician	0.96 (0.89.1.02)
Comorbidities	n<0.0000
No	1.0
1 - 2	1 87 (1 51 2 32)
3 - 4	1 92 (1 56 2 38)
5 - 6	1 88 (1 51 2 33)
7+	1 60 (1 29 1 99)
nsurance status	n<0 2585
Public	1.0
Half Private	1.0
	1.05 (0.98,1.15)
Hospital groups	n<0 2157
Small (<15001 cases)	μ<0.2137 1 0
Modium (15001 cases)	1.0
High (>20000 cases)	1.17 (0.94,1.47)
	1.27 (0.89,1.82)
	p<0.2404
German	1.0
French	1.20 (0.94,1.54)
	1.30 (0.77,2.19)
FIE physicians/1000 cases	p<0.8691
1. tertile (<11.86)	1.0
2. tertile (11.86-<17.46)	1.02 (0.88,1.18)
3. tertile (17.46+)	1.06 (0.85,1.31)
Hospital region	p<0.8227
Kural	1.0
Urban	1.03 (0.78,1.37)
Angiography device	p<0.2886
No	1.0
Yes	1.13 (0.90,1.41)

S5: Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization for male and female patients

younger than 65 years

	Men	Women
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age groups	n<0 8529	n<0 9728
18 to 11 years	1 0	1 0
15 to 49 years	1.0	1.0 0.97 (0.69 1.38)
50 to 51 years	1.02 (0.90,1.17)	1 06 (0 77 1 <i>4</i> 6)
55 to 59 years	1.04(0.92,1.17)	1.00(0.77, 1.40) 1.02(0.76, 1.30)
	1.00(0.88,1.14)	1.02(0.70, 1.33) 1.06(0.70, 1.44)
Citizonshin	0.90(0.07,1.11)	1.00(0.79, 1.44)
Eoroign	p<0.9420	p<0.7214
Swice	1.0	1.0
Swiss	1.00(0.92,1.09)	0.90(0.77,1.20)
	p<0.9014	μ<0.0007
Rersell/Himsell, relatives	1.0	1.0
Rescue services	0.98 (0.90,1.08)	1.05 (0.84,1.31)
Priysician	0.98 (0.89,1.08)	1.12 (0.89,1.40)
Comorbidities	p<0.0000	p<0.3332
No		1.0
1-2	2.06 (1.52,2.79)	1.68 (0.82,3.45)
3 - 4	2.06 (1.52,2.79)	1.80 (0.88,3.68)
5 - 6	2.02 (1.48,2.75)	1.91 (0.93,3.94)
7+	1.72 (1.25,2.36)	1.59 (0.77,3.29)
Insurance status	p<0.7019	p<0.7939
Public	1.0	1.0
Half Private	1.04 (0.93,1.17)	1.08 (0.84,1.38)
Private	1.04 (0.89,1.22)	0.94 (0.61,1.44)
Hospital groups	p<0.0655	p<0.0703
Small (<15001 cases)	1.0	1.0
Medium (15001-30000 cases)	1.29 (1.03,1.60)	1.38 (1.05,1.81)
High (>30000 cases)	1.20 (0.91,1.60)	1.29 (0.95,1.75)
Language region	p<0.4001	p<0.7709
German	1.0	1.0
French	1.09 (0.88,1.34)	1.06 (0.86,1.31)
Italian	1.28 (0.84,1.95)	1.13 (0.70,1.84)
FTE physicians/1000 cases	p<0.5446	p<0.8723
1. tertile (<11.86)	1.0	1.0
2. tertile (11.86-<17.46)	1.00 (0.85,1.19)	1.03 (0.81,1.31)
3. tertile (17.46+)	1.14 (0.90,1.44)	1.08 (0.81,1.43)
Hospital region	p<0.4421	p<0.7278
Rural	1.0	1.0
Urban	1.12 (0.84,1.48)	1.09 (0.67,1.76)
Angiography device	p<0.9030	p<0.6044
No	1.0	1.0
Yes	1.01 (0.82,1.26)	1.10 (0.77,1.57)

S6: Results of the multilevel Poisson regression for revascularization for male and female patients 65 years and older

	Men	Women
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age groups	p<0.0000	p<0.0000
65 to 69 years	1.0	1.0
70 to 74 years	0.96 (0.86,1.07)	0.95 (0.79,1.14)
75 to 79 years	0.91 (0.81,1.03)	0.83 (0.69,1.00)
80 to 84 years	0.79 (0.68,0.91)	0.74 (0.62,0.89)
85+ years	0.46 (0.38,0.55)	0.35 (0.28,0.44)
Citizenship	p<0.8817	p<0.7658
Foreign	1.0	1.0
Swiss	1.01 (0.89,1.15)	1.03 (0.83,1.29)
Entry decision	p<0.4203	p<0.6750
Herself/Himself, relatives	1.0	1.0
Rescue services	0.96 (0.85,1.09)	0.93 (0.77,1.11)
Physician	1.04 (0.91,1.18)	0.97 (0.81,1.17)
Comorbidities	p<0.0001	p<0.0135
No	1.0	1.0
1 - 2	1.83 (1.24,2.71)	2.35 (1.24,4.44)
3 - 4	1.90 (1.29,2.79)	2.52 (1.33,4.74)
5 - 6	1.85 (1.25,2.74)	2.34 (1.24,4.43)
7+	1.54 (1.04,2.27)	2.09 (1.11,3.94)
Insurance status	p<0.6274	p<0.0359
Public	1.0	1.0
Half Private	1.00 (0.89,1.12)	1.18 (1.01,1.38)
Private	1.08 (0.92,1.26)	1.25 (0.98,1.59)
Hospital groups	p<0.0102	p<0.0873
Small (<15001 cases)	1.0	1.0
Medium (15001-30000 cases)	1.32 (1.10,1.58)	1.27 (1.00,1.60)
High (>30000 cases)	1.19 (0.95,1.48)	1.26 (0.95,1.67)
Language region	p<0.3227	p<0.1167
German	1.0	1.0
French	1.04 (0.88,1.24)	1.12 (0.90,1.40)
Italian	1.26 (0.93,1.73)	1.50 (0.99,2.28)
FTE physicians/1000 cases	p<0.1582	p<0.2855
1. tertile (<11.86)	1.0	1.0
2. tertile (11.86-<17.46)	1.02 (0.88,1.19)	0.98 (0.80,1.20)
3. tertile (17.46+)	1.21 (0.99,1.48)	1.21 (0.93,1.57)
Hospital region	p<0.2783	p<0.4489
Rural	1.0	1.0
Urban	1.17 (0.88,1.55)	1.15 (0.80,1.66)
Angiography device	p<0.2043	p<0.3051
No	1.0	1.0
Yes	1.14 (0.93,1.41)	1.15 (0.88,1.49)

2.3 Article 3: The geography of end of life care cost

Title:

The geography of end of life care cost in Switzerland:

retrospective analysis using insurance claims data

Panczak Radoslaw¹, Luta Xhyljeta¹, Maessen Maud¹, Stuck Andreas E^{1,2}, Berlin Claudia¹, Schmidlin Kurt¹, Reich Oliver³, von Wyl Viktor⁴, Goodman David C⁵, Egger Matthias¹, Zwahlen Marcel¹, Clough-Gorr Kerri^{1,6}

¹ Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Switzerland

² University Department of Geriatrics, Inselspital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

³ Department of Health Sciences, Helsana Insurance Group, Zurich, Switzerland

⁴ Institute for Epidemiology, Biostatistics & Prevention, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

⁵ The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice, Lebanon, NH, United States of America

⁶ Section of Geriatrics, Boston University Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States of America

Medical Care

(submitted in February 2016)

Title: The geography of end of life care cost in Switzerland: retrospective analysis using insurance claims data

Brief title: The geography of end of life care cost

Authors: Panczak Radoslaw ^{1*}, Luta Xhyljeta ¹, Maessen Maud ¹, Stuck Andreas E ^{1,2}, Berlin Claudia ¹, Schmidlin Kurt ¹, Reich Oliver ³, von Wyl Viktor ⁴, Goodman David C ^{1,5}, Egger Matthias ¹, Zwahlen Marcel ¹, Clough-Gorr Kerri ^{1,6,}

Affiliations:

¹ Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Switzerland

² University Department of Geriatrics, Inselspital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

³ Department of Health Sciences, Helsana Insurance Group, Zurich, Switzerland

⁴ Institute for Epidemiology, Biostatistics & Prevention, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

⁵ The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice, Lebanon, NH, United States of America

⁶ Section of Geriatrics, Boston University Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States of America

* Corresponding author

Corresponding address:

Radoslaw Panczak

Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM)

University of Bern

Finkenhubelweg 11

CH-3012 Bern

Email: radoslaw.panczak@ispm.unibe.ch

Phone: +41 (0)31 631 35 57

FAX: +41 (0)31 631 35 20

Funding:

This work was supported by funds from Swiss National Science Foundation (grant number 406740_1393333) and by the joint grant of FMH Swiss Medical Association, KKA Konferenz der Kantonalen Ärztegesellschaften and NewIndex AG. The funding bodies had no influence in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

Conflict of interest:

All authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Acknowledgements:

We are extremely grateful to the insurance companies that were part of the study – CSS, Groupe Mutuel, Helsana, Sanitas, SWICA and Visana. They provided us with the data used in the study and offered helpful comments at the stage of data management. We also express our gratitude to the FMH Swiss Medical Association for providing data on number of Swiss physicians. Original idea, obtaining funding and data and exploratory analyses were undertaken by André Busato, who deceased on 12th November 2013. We thank Kali Tal for her editorial contributions.

Keywords:

End-of-life, delivery of health care, health care cost, health insurance, small area analysis, regional variation, Switzerland

Abstract (250 words)

Background

Healthcare spending increases sharply at end of life (EOL). As the population ages, this places more and more pressure on the healthcare system. However, we know little about variation of EOL care between regions, or determinants of that care in Switzerland.

Methods

We used basic health insurance (BHI) claims of individuals who died between 2008 and 2010 to derive EOL care costs. We linked to the mortality database for information on cause of death and individual characteristics. We described characteristics of regions of residence, including healthcare supply measures. We used multilevel regression models to estimate differences in costs across regions and characteristics.

Results

Study population consisted of 111,275 individuals. Reimbursement by BHI was, on average, 33.1k (thousand) Swiss Francs (standard deviation 33.2k) during last year of life. Variance was reduced by 62-85% when we added individual and regional characteristics, with strong effect of language region. The highest cost ratios were observed for cause of death, particularly for cancer. These were followed by age and language region. Civil status and area-based socioeconomic position had smaller effects. Nationality, urbanicity and healthcare supply measures had little effect. We found spatial pattern in cost across regions: higher values clustered in the Eastern (French-speaking) part of the country, and around the cities of Bern, Basel and Zurich.

Conclusions

BHI data show that in Switzerland, EOL care cost depends mainly on the cause of death and age at death. Variation might indicate that that EOL care process seems to be organized differently between linguistic regions.

Introduction

Two factors characterize the Swiss healthcare system: high performance and high cost. An aging population and advances in medicine raise healthcare costs even higher. ¹ Treatment patterns, intensity, and resulting costs depend both on medical condition, and on demographic and socioeconomic patient characteristics. ² Since HCE are unevenly distributed across the life span ³, and end of life (EOL) is often associated with sharp increases in spending on health, the imbalance in spending may be attributable to rising costs and demands for resources placed on healthcare systems by EOL patients. ^{4–6}

A growing body of literature suggests that regional provider factors, such as financial incentives, and physicians' beliefs or practice norms result in different patterns of healthcare use and expense. ^{7–9} For instance, several Swiss studies found that in regions where density of physicians was higher, the cost of care also increased ^{10–14} suggesting supply-induced demand. Others pointed out that different reimbursement schemes affect cost-efficiency among hospitals that provide inpatient care. ^{15,16} These patterns do not necessarily match the preferences of patients and their families ^{17,18}, it is not clear that more or more expensive services increase patient satisfaction or improve outcomes. ^{19,20}

Unfortunately, tracking variation in healthcare and identifying its causes, is non-trivial exercise. ²¹ It is particularly difficult in Switzerland, where strong federalism and regulated competition within the healthcare system, and a very culturally diverse population, can interact in various ways to cause myriad differences in healthcare utilization and costs among and across regions. ^{2,4,11,14,22} This may explain why only a handful of studies attempted to examine the importance of EOL care (EOLC) in the Swiss health system. Reich et al. ¹⁸ examined differences in healthcare utilization across place of death; Matter-Walstra et al. ^{2,23} looked at the delivery of care to cancer patients, and, von Wyl et al. ²⁴ developed typology of cost trajectories in EOLC. All these studies had limited power to investigate small-area patterns across the country despite importance of such research for informing policy makers and clinicians. ^{6,11,25} In addition, some of these studies are limited because they used heterogeneous areas such as Swiss cantons that may not be best suited for regional analyses. ^{26,27}

We set out to study regional variation in cost of EOLC in Switzerland. We first constructed a nationally representative dataset of EOLC, allowing us to perform studies across small-areas. We then identified contextual factors and described how, and to what degree, context shaped variation in cost across regions.

Methods

Study setting

Switzerland is a small European federal republic of 26 cantons, stretched between the Alps, the Swiss Plateau and the Jura Mountains. Its consumer-driven healthcare system is chiefly financed by compulsory basic health insurance (BHI) and out-of-pocket payments. The package covers all essential benefits related to medical illness and pregnancy and deemed medically- and cost-appropriate. [see **Text 1, SDC** for more details].

Data sources

We harmonized and combined anonymized BHI claims of six large companies and used them as the primary data source for our study (**Table 1, SDC**). We included all individuals with BHI who died between 1.1.2008 and 31.12.2010. Information on sex, age, date of birth and death, and place of residence were available for each insuree. We aggregated all BHI claims within the last 12 months of life, and used the total amount reimbursed to derive overall EOLC cost.

The Swiss Federal Statistical Office's (SFSO) database of causes of death was probabilistically linked to insurance records using date of birth, date of death, sex, and community of residence to derive information on cause of death, nationality, civil status and religion. Based on SFSO data, we also assessed representativeness of the data. Characteristics of communities, supply of ambulatory, inpatient and non-acute care together with population denominator were derived from available sources (**Table 1, SDC**).

Analytical regions

We used 705 MedStat regions - basic unit of delivery of SFSO's health statistics, and aggregated them into 564 custom regions (hereinafter referred to as MedStat) that best approximated boundaries of Swiss

communities. We then used SFSO's classification of communities (the lowest level of administrative division) to derive urbanicity and language region of MedStat. Swiss-SEP (area-based socioeconomic position) index ²⁸ was derived as a median value of all neighbourhoods that overlapped MedStat and divided into quintiles. Utilization-based HSAs were created using methodology described in details elsewhere ²⁶. In short, we used individual-level discharges of all Swiss hospitals in 2010 to create matrix of patient flows and then aggregated them to form 71 units, where majority of residents were hospitalized [**Figure 1, SDC**].

Study population & measures

We excluded individuals below age 19, those who lived abroad, and those whose address was not known. We also excluded individuals who were not linked to mortality records, and those with no claims reimbursed by BHI during their last 12 months of life.

We aggregated age into 5-year bands. Civil status was categorized into 'single', 'married', 'widowed' and 'divorced'; nationality into 'Swiss' and 'foreigner' (including missing values); religion into 'Protestant', 'Catholic', 'No affiliation' and 'Other/Unknown'. Primary causes of death were simplified to eight categories, based on the main groupings of the 10th revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10) classification (see **Table 1** for detailed codes).

Characteristics of regions of residence included urbanicity ('urban', 'peri-urban', 'rural') and language ('German', 'French', 'Italian'). Ambulatory care supply was measured by density of physicians per 10,000 inhabitants, acute care as number of utilized hospital beds per 10,000 inhabitants, and non-acute care as number of nursing home beds per 10,000 inhabitants 65 year old and older (all in quintiles).

Analyses

We calculated frequencies and described overall cost (mean, standard deviation [SD]) across characteristics. We used individual level data to fit multilevel regression models; MedStat regions were nested within HSAs. Main outcome was the log transformed overall EOLC cost. ^{29,30} In sensitivity analyses

we used alternative measures of cost correcting for ambulatory care billed under the tariff system (TARMED): we used tariff points instead of CHF, and costs of inpatient care that included cantonal subsidies (based on first available data from 2012).

We assessed interaction of sex, and, within sex strata, also a binary age indicator (divided into 19-65 yearolds and those >66) with remaining variables. We considered four models, gradually increasing complexity by adjusting for more characteristics. Models were assessed according to the reduction of variance compared to unadjusted model. ³¹ For each region we calculated deviation from the national mean using the random part of the models.

Data management and analyses were done with Stata 14 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas, USA) and we used The Generalized Record Linkage System for record linkage. ³²

Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Canton of Bern.

Results

Study population

The initial dataset consisted of 119,613 individuals. We excluded 620 (0.5%) individuals younger than 19, 172 (0.1%) individuals who lived abroad, and 364 (0.3%) whose address was missing [Figure 2, SDC]. Remaining population was probabilistically linked to 2008-2010 mortality data with 95.6% success rate; 5,180 unlinked individuals were similar to the linked ones [Table 2, SDC] and were excluded. We also excluded 2,002 individuals who had no reimbursed claims [Table 3, SDC]. The study population covered 61% of deaths in Switzerland between 2008-2010 [Table 4, SDC]. The sex, age nationality, civil status urbanicity, language region, Swiss-SEP and, most importantly, cause of death distributions were almost identical to overall mortality in that time period.

Final study population consisted of 111,275 individuals (**Table 1**). Of these, 85% were 66 years or older; women were older at the time of death. Main causes of death were CVD (36%) and cancer (26%). Cancer

was more frequent among younger people and CVD more frequent among older. Relatively, older women more often died from mental and behavioural disorders, and older men more often from respiratory diseases. Young men were most likely to die of external causes. Study participants were almost all Swiss (92%), and either married (39%) or widowed (40%) at time of death. There were more foreigners and single individuals among younger age groups and older women were widows. There were few differences by religious affiliation, urbanicity and SEP.

EOL healthcare costs

Reimbursement by BHI was, on average, 33.1k (thousand) Swiss Francs (CHF; SD 33.2k) during last year of life [**Table 5**, **SDC**]. Average spending was higher among younger individuals, particularly women. For both sexes spending tended to first increase with age, and then decrease among the oldest age groups. Cancer deaths, especially among younger individuals, were the most expensive (range 40.4k to 66.4k CHF, depending on age). The next most expensive were diseases of the nervous system (particularly among younger individuals) and respiratory diseases (particularly for young women) - range of cost 30.4k – 46.0k CHF. CVD, external causes and, among younger individuals, mental and behavioural diseases, were on average, less expensive (range 13.5k - 26.3k CHF). Average EOL cost tended to be higher among foreigners, married persons, and those resident in French-speaking parts of Switzerland, and areas where SEP was higher but lower in areas with a higher density of nursing home beds.

Determinants of EOL healthcare costs

We found evidence of interaction of sex and age with other variables [**Table 6, SDC**]. We thus used separate models for younger (aged 19-65) and older (66 and above) men and women. Extending models by including more variables gradually reduced variance (**Table 2**). Model 2, which was adjusted for characteristics of individuals and their place of residence, reduced HSA level variance by 39% for younger men and 12% for older men, with smaller reductions for women (9% and 3%). When we also considered healthcare supply measures (Model 3) variance was 18% to 46% less than in the unadjusted model. Large effects appeared when we considered language region (Model 4): HSA level variance was less than half for

all age and sex groups, when compared only to Model 3. Different variance patterns were observed on the MedStat level with slight reductions of variance for older individuals, drop for younger women and slight increase for younger men after first adjustment (model 2).

There was little change in the estimates of the covariates between Models 2 and 4 [**Tables 7-10, SDC**]. The fully adjusted model (4) showed wide variation of cost ratio across variables (**Table 5**). Cause of death had the strongest influence; cancer deaths were associated with the highest cost ratio, particularly for younger males and women. Costs were lower for cancer deaths among older men and older women. Death from diseases of the nervous system generated the second highest costs. The third costliest group varied based on age of death. For younger people, respiratory diseases were most expensive. For older people, mental and behavioural disorders were most expensive. Unsurprisingly, the cost was lowest for people who died from external causes. Age effect was weaker than cause of death and varied slightly between sexes. Young persons, and particularly men accumulated less costs. Costs increased among middle-aged individuals and then decrease again around age 70. We found moderate effects of increased cost among individuals from French- and Italian-speaking parts of Switzerland. We found small effects of decreased cost for people who were single, divorced, had no religious affiliation, and lived in areas of lowest SEP. Healthcare supply measures had little effect.

Geographical variation in EOL healthcare costs

There was considerable variation in spatial distribution of random effects (**Figure 1**). The highest cost was in the Western (French-speaking) parts of the country (regions around cities of Lausanne and Geneva), in canton Ticino (Italian-speaking) and near large German-speaking cities (Basel, Bern, Zurich). Costs associated with death among older people were higher in parts of canton Graubünden and Valais. The Alps and central and north-west regions had lower costs. Adjusting for individual, regional and supply care covariates (models 2 and 3) only slightly changed the random effects [**Figure 3** and **4**, **SDC**]. Adjusting for language region, however, had significant impact (**Figure 2**) and diminished the contrast between West, the South and rest of the country. The range of estimates significantly decreased: fewer regions fell into

extreme classes of maps. Higher costs, mainly among older individuals, were still present around large cities (Bern, Zurich, Basel) and in parts of Canton Vaud. Among older women, pockets of increased cost were found in Eastern Valais and parts of Graubünden. The belt of lower costs stretched, in the north, between cantons Neuchatel and Thurgau (with the exception of Basel), and the western part of Valais (particularly for older women).

Discussion

Main findings

We studied geographical variation in EOLC cost in Switzerland and assessed possible determinants of cost across individual, regional and healthcare supply factors. We found strong associations of cost with cause of death and age of the decedent. When we included language region, variance was greatly reduced, and supply factors played virtually no role. The strong spatial patterning of cost between regions could be only explained by covariates.

Strengths

The biggest strength of the study is its sample size. This was the largest and most comprehensive dataset of EOLC ever assembled in Switzerland. Coverage and representativeness of the data allowed us to analyse, for the first time, small-area variation. Earlier Swiss studies used language regions ^{18,33} or cantons ^{10,11,14,23,34} to track variation in intensity and cost of care. But, as this study demonstrated, cantons are heterogeneous. Unlike other insurance-based EOLC studies from Switzerland ^{2,18,24}, we included reliable cause of death information and socio-demographic characteristics recorded on the death certificate. By using BHI claims data, we were able to cover the full range of care providers and include cost from ambulatory, inpatient and non-acute settings. Finally, ancillary databases allowed us to describe communities and capture supply of healthcare. Supply measures, have been described using utilizationbased areas which are better suited for this purpose than administrative units. ^{26,27}

Limitations

The study has some limitations. First, studies based on health insurance claims contain limited patient-level information. Quality or appropriateness of care are also difficult to measure from administrative data. We supplemented this data by linking to other sources, but important aspects of EOLC cost determinants may not be included; for instance, we could not include non-claims based measures of illness severity ³⁵, patient and family preferences ^{36,37}, functional impairment, or presence of relative nearby. ³¹ Second, overall cost is only one possible outcome in analyses of EOLC. ^{35,38,39}, so our ongoing analyses will aim at disaggregating costs and exploring alternative measures of intensity of care. Third, focusing on the last 12 months of life is an arbitrary choice and, as in any retrospective design for a study of EOLC, we might have included costs unrelated to EOLC. ⁴⁰ However, it is also one of the most frequently used time frames and facilitates comparability with other studies. A retrospective design efficiently identifies the members of EOLC studies so we could construct large representative datasets. Our study doesn't suffer from inaccurate prognostication of survival and incomplete enrolment of patients. Langton and colleagues ³⁹ describe two retrospective and prospective cancer EOLC studies with comparable results. ^{41,42} Our own sensitivity analyses indicated that alternative, shorter time frames of six and one month provided similar results. Fourth, relying only on BHI claims could cause us to underestimate overall cost. Our estimates do not include costs covered by supplementary insurance, claims paid directly by patients or not delivered to insurers. ^{18,33} About 50% of inpatient cost are subsidized by cantons and BHI pays only about 18% of costs of nursing home stays (mainly for medical treatments).²⁴ However, our sensitivity analyses showed that while monetary cost understandably increases when we use cost corrected for cantonal subsidies of hospital care, the direction and strength of the associations remained unaffected.

Relation to other studies

Our reports of HCE during last 12 months of life is comparable with previous studies. Von Wyl et al. ²⁴ estimated median cost to be 30.3k CHF (individuals aged 65 and over, last 12 months of life) and Reich et al. ¹⁸ to be 17.7k CHF (general population, last six months of life). These are considerably higher than among the general population in Switzerland: mean annual HCE is about 3,5k CHF ⁴³; for people aged 65

and over it is about 6.7k CHF per year. ³³ Such a magnitude of difference with EOLC population was also reported in the U.S. ⁴⁴, and points to importance of EOLC in delivery of care.

Cancer is the costliest cause of death in both Switzerland and the U.S. ⁴⁴, and the highest cost trajectory of Swiss decedents identified by von Wyl et al. ²⁴ found a high share of cancer patients. The high cost of cancer been linked to expensive new drugs and therapies. Decreases in the intensity and cost of EOLC with age were reported in Switzerland ^{4,23,24} and elsewhere. ^{5,31,39,44} Even among the general, older Swiss population, age was associated with decrease of HCE. ³³ Less use of inpatient care (including Intensive Care Units) and/or less "aggressive" treatments for the elderly lower costs in older people, and this study may support these findings. The elderly also tend to die closer to diagnosis of serious illness, which lower expenses because time since diagnosis is often associated with intensity and cost of treatments. ⁴⁰ Similarly, as in the U.S. ³¹ and the Netherlands ⁵, single and divorced individuals had slightly lower EOLC costs. Religious association seemed to play no role, which matches Kelley et al., ³¹ who found no association of EOLC cost with religiosity.

We found evidence for large geographic variation in cost, yet were unable to completely explain its causes. The influence of language region suggests that regional differences in provision and consumption of care could be factors. In Switzerland, we knew the differences across cantons in overall cost of care ^{10,14,25}, overall number of hospitalizations ³⁴, and intensity of EOLC of cancer patients. ² Language region also played a role in treatment intensity in ambulatory settings. ¹² These findings overlap with ours: costs were higher in many regions of French- and Italian-speaking Switzerland. More people died in the hospital in French- and Italian-speaking cantons, and since hospital deaths tend to cost more, this may be a partial explanation. ^{18,45} Doctors' EOL decisions also vary across cultural regions: Fisher, et al. demonstrated, for instance, that French-speaking physicians were more likely to manage pain and symptoms aggressively, but were less willing than their German-speaking colleagues to comply with patient wishes for non-treatment. ⁴⁶ We found no association of the cost of EOLC with urbanization, but after we adjusted for urbanicity, we found increased EOL costs around the biggest cities. Others reported a lack of association of

urbanicity with number of hospitalizations of cancer patients. ². Deaths at home, which are associated with lower cost, are more common in rural areas, which might explain part of the pattern. ¹⁸

We found no association with healthcare supply measures. Density of physicians, which was associated with intensity and cost of general healthcare in Switzerland in earlier studies ^{11,12,14}, was not a factor associated with EOLC cost. Both earlier studies, however, used aggregated data which might have biased their results. Similarly, hospital bed density was not associated with cost of care, resembling previous results from Switzerland ¹⁰, but not from the U.S. ^{8,19,37} Our results suggest that, after other characteristics are adjusted for, a larger supply of inpatient care does not raise EOLC cost by increasing use of hospitals.

Implications

Previous efforts have been made to track variation in EOLC cost across place of death ¹⁸ and across time. ²⁴ This study adds regional analyses, which can be used to target interventions that will improve care. Policies that shape the cost of EOLC in Switzerland should focus more on individual-level characteristics of patients, but also account for regional differences in healthcare delivery and consumption. Supply of care does not seem to play a role in shaping EOLC costs. EOLC might not be the most efficient place for curbing the growing HCE ⁴⁷, but we did identify significant variation that may indicate under- or overuse of services in EOLC. But if regions that spend more offer better quality of care and have higher patient satisfaction, the rest of the country should follow suit. If future research finds that this is not the case, then the areas highlighted by our findings should become the focus of regionally tailored interventions. Finally, regional findings may point to different patient preferences between regions. If serving these preferences, independent of medical needs, is considered a valid social goal ³⁷, then substantial variation in cost of EOLC in Switzerland will persist.

Conclusion

BHI claims data show that in Switzerland EOLC cost depends on the cause of death and age of the decedents. Variation across language might indicate that care process for EOL seems to be organized differently between regions. However, supply of care does not seem to play a major role. In the light of the

2012 Swiss-wide changes to new inpatient reimbursement system, this study proves a benchmark for

tracking the effects of these changes on EOLC.

References

- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland 2011 [Internet]. 2011. Available from: /content/book/9789264120914en\nhttp://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264120914-en
- Matter-Walstra KW, Achermann R, Rapold R, Klingbiel D, Bordoni A, Dehler S, et al. Cancer-Related Therapies at the End of Life in Hospitalized Cancer Patients from Four Swiss Cantons: SAKK 89/09. Oncology. 2015;88(1):18–27.
- 3. Rosella LC, Fitzpatrick T, Wodchis WP, Calzavara A, Manson H, Goel V. High-cost health care users in Ontario, Canada: demographic, socio-economic, and health status characteristics. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14(1):532.
- Felder S, Meier M, Schmitt H. Health care expenditure in the last months of life. J Health Econ.
 2000;19(5):679–95.
- Rolden HJ a, van Bodegom D, Westendorp RGJ. Variation in the costs of dying and the role of different health services, socio-demographic characteristics, and preceding health care expenses. Soc Sci Med. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;120:110–7.
- 6. Daveson B a., Alonso JP, Calanzani N, Ramsenthaler C, Gysels M, Antunes B, et al. Learning from the public: Citizens describe the need to improve end-of-life care access, provision and recognition across Europe. Eur J Public Health. 2014;24(3):521–7.
- Skinner J. Causes and Consequences of Regional Variations in Health Care. In: Pauly M V., Mcguire
 TG, Barros PP, editors. Handbook of Health Economics, Volume 2. Elsevier; 2011. p. 45–93.
- Pritchard RS, Fisher ES, Teno JM, Sharp SM, Reding DJ, Knaus WA, et al. Influence of patient preferences and local health system characteristics on the place of death. SUPPORT Investigators. Study to Understand Prognoses and Preferences for Risks and Outcomes of Treatment. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1998;46(10):1242–50.
- 9. Biller-Andorno N, Zeltner T. Individual Responsibility and Community Solidarity The Swiss Health

Care System. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(23):2193-7.

- 10. Crivelli L, Filippini M, Mosca I. Federalism and regional health care expenditures: An empirical analysis for the Swiss cantons. Health Econ. 2006;15(5):535–41.
- 11. Camenzind P. Explaining regional variations in health care utilization between Swiss cantons using panel econometric models. BMC Health Serv Res. BioMed Central Ltd; 2012;12(1):62.
- 12. Busato A, Künzi B. Primary care physician supply and other key determinants of health care utilisation: the case of Switzerland. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008;8(8):1–8.
- Busato A, Matter P, Ku B, Goodman DC. Geographic variation in the cost of ambulatory care in Switzerland. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2012;17:18–23.
- Schleiniger R. Health care cost in Switzerland: Quantity- or price-driven? Health Policy (New York).
 Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2014;117(1):83–9.
- Meyer S. Payment schemes and cost efficiency: evidence from Swiss public hospitals. Int J Heal Econ Manag. 2014;15(1):73–97.
- 16. Busato A, von Below G. The implementation of DRG-based hospital reimbursement in Switzerland: A population-based perspective. Heal Res policy Syst. BioMed Central Ltd; 2010 Jan;8(1):31.
- 17. Morden NE, Chang CH, Jacobson JO, Berke EM, Bynum JPW, Murray KM, et al. End-of-life care for Medicare beneficiaries is highly intensive overall and varies widely. Health Aff. 2012;31(4):1–24.
- Reich O, Signorell A, Busato A. Place of death and health care utilization for people in the last 6 months of life in Switzerland: a retrospective analysis using administrative data. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:116.
- Fisher E, Wennberg D, Stukel T. The Implications of Regional Variations in Medicare Spending. Part 1: The Content, Quality, and Accessibility of Care. Ann Intern Med. 2003;138:273–311.
- 20. Fisher E, Wennberg D, Stukel T. The Implications of Regional Variations in Spending. Part 2: Health Outcomes and Satisfaction with Care. Ann Intern Med. 2003;138:288–98.

- Corallo AN, Croxford R, Goodman DC, Bryan EL, Srivastava D, Stukel T a. A systematic review of medical practice variation in OECD countries. Health Policy (New York). Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2014;114(1):5–14.
- Busato A, Matter P, Künzi B. Factors related to treatment intensity in Swiss primary care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2009 Jan;9:49.
- 23. Matter-Walstra KW, Achermann R, Rapold R, Klingbiel D, Bordoni A, Dehler S, et al. Delivery of health care at the end of life in cancer patients of four swiss cantons a retrospective database study (SAKK 89/09). BMC Cancer. 2014 May 1;14(1):306.
- 24. von Wyl V, Telser H, Weber A, Fischer B, Beck K. Cost trajectories from the final life year reveal intensity of end-of-life care and can help to guide palliative care interventions. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2015;(Online First 16.10.15).
- 25. Reich O, Weins C, Schusterschitz C, Thöni M. Exploring the disparities of regional health care expenditures in Switzerland: Some empirical evidence. Eur J Heal Econ. 2012;13(2):193–202.
- 26. Klauss G, Staub L, Widmer M, Busato A. Hospital service areas -- a new tool for health care planning in Switzerland. BMC Health Serv Res. 2005 Jan;5:33.
- Goodman DC, Mick SS, Bott D, Stukel T, Chang C, Marth N, et al. Primary Care Service Areas : A New
 Tool for the Evaluation of Primary Care Services. Health Serv Res. 2003;38(1p1):287–309.
- Panczak R, Galobardes B, Voorpostel M, Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M. A Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position: development and association with mortality. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2012 Dec;66(12):1129–36.
- 29. Nixon RM, Thompson SG. Parametric modelling of cost data in medical studies. Stat Med.
 2004;23(8):1311–31.
- 30. Dodd S, Bassi A, Bodger K, Williamson P. A comparison of multivariable regression models to analyse cost data. J Eval Clin Pract. 2006;12(1):76–86.
- 31. Kelley AS, Ettner SL, Morrison RS, Du Q, Wenger NS, Sarkisian CA. Determinants of Medical

Expenditures in the Last 6 Months of Life. Ann Intern Med. 2011;154:235–42.

- Fair M. Generalized Record Linkage System Statistics Canada 's Record Linkage Software.
 2004;33(1&2):37–53.
- 33. Bähler C, Huber C a, Brüngger B, Reich O. Multimorbidity, health care utilization and costs in an elderly community-dwelling population: a claims data based observational study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015;15:23.
- Pellegrini S, Kohler D, Otto S. Variations géographiques dans les soins de santé. La situation en Suisse
 (Obsan Dossier 42) [Internet]. Neuchâtel; 2014. Available from:
 http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/fr/index/themen/14/22/publ.html?publicationID=5712
- 35. Neuberg GW. The cost of end-of-life care: a new efficiency measure falls short of AHA/ACC standards. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2009 Mar;2(2):127–33.
- 36. Kelley AS, Morrison RS, Wenger NS, Ettner SL, Sarkisian C a. Determinants of Treatment Intensity for Patients with Serious Illness: A New Conceptual Framework. J Palliat Med. 2010;13(7):807–13.
- Baker L, Bundorf K, Kessler D. Patients' Preferences Explain A Small But Significant Share Of Regional Variation In Medicare Spending. Health Aff. 2014;33(6):957–63.
- Luta X, Maessen M, Egger M, Stuck AE, Goodman D, Clough-Gorr KM. Measuring Intensity of End of Life Care: A Systematic Review. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0123764.
- 39. Langton JM, Blanch B, Drew AK, Haas M, Ingham JM, Pearson S-A. Retrospective studies of end-oflife resource utilization and costs in cancer care using health administrative data: A systematic review. Palliat Med. 2014;
- 40. Bach PB, Schrag D, Begg CB. Resurrecting Treatment Histories of Dead Patients. A Study Design That Should Be Laid to Rest. JAMA. 2004;292(22):2765–70.
- Setoguchi S, Earle CC, Glynn R, Stedman M, Polinski JM, Corcoran CP, et al. Comparison of prospective and retrospective indicators of the quality of end-of-life cancer care. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(35):5671–8.

- 42. Pyenson B, Connor S, Fitch K, Kinzbrunner B. Medicare cost in matched hospice and non-hospice cohorts. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2004;28(3):200–10.
- 43. Huber C a., Schneeweiss S, Signorell A, Reich O. Improved prediction of medical expenditures and health care utilization using an updated chronic disease score and claims data. J Clin Epidemiol. Elsevier Inc; 2013;66(10):1118–27.
- 44. Lunney JR, Lynn J, Hogan C. Profiles of older medicare decedents. J Am Geriatr Soc.
 2002;50(6):1108–12.
- 45. Hedinger D, Braun J, Zellweger U, Kaplan V, Bopp M. Moving to and Dying in a Nursing Home Depends Not Only on Health - An Analysis of Socio-Demographic Determinants of Place of Death in Switzerland. PLoS One. 2014 Jan;9(11):e113236.
- 46. Fischer S, Bosshard G, Faisst K, Tschopp a, Fischer J, Bar W, et al. Swiss doctors' attitudes towards end-of-life decisions and their determinants: a comparison of three language regions. Swiss Med Wkly. 2006;136(23-24):370–6.
- 47. Aldridge MD, Kelley AS. The Myth Regarding the High Cost of End-of-Life Care. Am J Public Health.
 2015;105(12):e1–5.

Table 1. Characteristics of the study population. Frequencies and percentages across sex and age.

Abbreviations: 'CVD' –cardiovascular deaths, 'Mental & behav.' – mental and behavioural disorders. Swiss-SEP – Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details). Causes of death are based on main groupings of the 10th revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10) classification: 'cardiovascular diseases' (CVD; 100-199); 'cancer' (C00-C99); 'mental and behavioural disorders' (F00-F99); 'diseases of the nervous system' (G00-G99); 'respiratory diseases' (J00-J99;, 'diseases of the digestive system' (K00-K99); 'external causes of death' (V00-V99, W00-W99, X00-X99 and Y00-Y99); and, 'other' (all remaining codes).

Characteristic	Males,	19-65	Males	, 66+	Female	s, 19-65	Female	s, 66+	Tota	al
	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	No.	Col %
Age group										
19 - 25	253	2%			105	2%			358	0%
26 - 30	214	2%			126	2%			340	0%
31 - 35	262	3%			153	2%			415	0%
36 - 40	384	4%			252	4%			636	1%
41 - 45	671	6%			391	6%			1,062	1%
46 - 50	1,111	11%			702	11%			1,813	2%
51 - 55	1,606	15%			1,048	16%			2,654	2%
56 - 60	2,411	23%			1,468	23%			3,879	4%
61 - 65	3,672	35%			2,191	34%			5,863	5%
66 - 70			4,584	11%			2,801	5%	7,385	7%
71 - 75			5,713	14%			4,153	8%	9,866	9%
76 - 80			7,925	19%			6,607	13%	14,532	13%
81 - 85			9,496	23%			11,268	21%	20,764	19%
86 - 90			8,404	20%			13,527	26%	21,931	20%
91+			5,411	13%			14,366	27%	19,777	18%
Nationality										
Swiss	8,705	82%	38,063	92%	5,606	87%	50,065	95%	102,439	92%
Foreigner/Unknown	1,879	18%	3,470	8%	830	13%	2,657	5%	8,836	8%
Civil status										
Single	2,882	27%	3,365	8%	1,277	20%	5,701	11%	13,225	12%
Married	5,643	53%	24,809	60%	3,393	53%	9,671	18%	43,516	39%
Widowed	250	2%	10,546	25%	487	8%	33,388	63%	44,671	40%
Divorced	1,809	17%	2,813	7%	1,279	20%	3,962	8%	9,863	9%
Religion										
Protestant	3,731	35%	20,518	49%	2,422	38%	27,624	52%	54,295	49%
Catholic	3,825	36%	14,312	35%	2,296	36%	18,136	34%	38,569	35%
No affiliation	1,093	10%	2,137	5%	620	10%	1,661	3%	5,511	5%
Other/Unknown	1,935	18%	4,566	11%	1,098	17%	5,301	10%	12,900	12%
Cause of death										
CVD	2,178	21%	15,220	37%	786	12%	22,072	42%	40,256	36%

Cancer	4,234	40%	11,873	29%	3,450	54%	9,800	19%	29,357	26%
Mental & behav.	265	3%	2,048	5%	138	2%	4,532	9%	6,983	6%
Nervous system	305	3%	1,873	5%	260	4%	2,996	6%	5,434	5%
Respiratory	327	3%	3,310	8%	208	3%	3,152	6%	6,997	6%
Digestive	585	6%	1,503	4%	291	5%	2,128	4%	4,507	4%
External	1,628	15%	1,644	4%	663	10%	1,931	4%	5 <i>,</i> 866	5%
Other	1,062	10%	4,062	10%	640	10%	6,111	12%	11,875	11%
Urbanicity										
Urban	3,334	32%	12,752	31%	2,041	32%	18,462	35%	36,589	33%
Peri-urban	4,611	44%	18,114	44%	2,967	46%	21,852	41%	47,544	43%
Rural	2,639	25%	10,667	26%	1,428	22%	12,408	24%	27,142	24%
Language region										
German	7,150	68%	29,466	71%	4,496	70%	37,538	71%	78,650	71%
French	2,945	28%	9,912	24%	1,693	26%	12,212	23%	26,762	24%
Italian	489	5%	2,155	5%	247	4%	2,972	6%	5,863	5%
Swiss-SEP quintile										
1st (lowest)	787	7%	3,020	7%	403	6%	3,444	7%	7,654	7%
2nd	2,313	22%	9,167	22%	1,281	20%	11,042	21%	23,803	21%
3rd	3,027	29%	11,229	27%	1,751	27%	14,377	27%	30,384	27%
4th	3,587	34%	13,868	33%	2,335	36%	18,861	36%	38,651	35%
5th (highest)	870	8%	4,249	10%	666	10%	4,998	10%	10,783	10%
Total	10,584	100%	41,533	100%	6,436	100%	52,722	100%	111,275	100%

Table 2. Variance on MedStat and Hospital Service Area levels across four models. 'Change' indicates

%change in relation to model 1. Abbreviation: HSA – Hospital Service Area.

Sex	Age	Level				Model			
			1	2		3	1	4	
			Variance	Variance	Change	Variance	Change	Variance	Change
Males	19-65	HSA	0.028	0.017	-39%	0.015	-46%	0.005	-82%
		MedStat	0.003	0.007	133%	0.005	67%	0.005	67%
	66+	HSA	0.025	0.022	-12%	0.015	-40%	0.006	-76%
		MedStat	0.007	0.000	-100%	0.001	-86%	0.001	-86%
Females	19-65	HSA	0.034	0.031	-9%	0.024	-29%	0.008	-76%
		MedStat	0.008	0.004	-50%	0.004	-50%	0.004	-50%
	66+	HSA	0.040	0.039	-3%	0.033	-18%	0.014	-65%
		MedStat	0.006	0.005	-17%	0.005	-17%	0.006	0%

Table 3. Coefficients of multivariable, multilevel regression (model 4 - fully adjusted) across four subpopulations. Age and sex specific multilevel models
using individual-patient data, adjusted for all variables present in the table, with 564 modified MedStat regions nested in 71 Hospital Service Areas (HAS).
Estimates, presented as exponentiated coefficients, reflect cost ratio of end of life care cost during last 12 months of life, in comparison to reference
category. Density of supply measures and Swiss-SEP index divided into quintiles of spatial units. Values of 'Constant' term were not exponentiated. P-values
from the Wald test of the group parameters being jointly one. Abbreviations: 'Est.' – estimate; 'Cl' confidence interval; 'ref.' – reference group; 'CVD' –
cardiovascular deaths; 'Mental & behav.' – mental and behavioural disorders (see Table 1 for detailed ICD-10 codes); 'No affil.' – no religious affiliation;
'Swiss-SEP' – Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Variable	Group		Males, <19-	65		Males, 66+			Females, 19-	65		Females, 66+	
		Est.	95% CI	p-value									
Age	19-25	0.44	(0.37, 0.53)	<0.0001				0.82	(0.65, 1.04)	0.00			
	26-30	0.67	(0.55, 0.81)					0.85	(0.69, 1.06)				
	31-35	0.97	(0.81, 1.15)					0.92	(0.76, 1.11)				
	36-40	0.88	(0.76, 1.02)					1.20	(1.03, 1.40)				
	41-45	0.80	(0.72, 0.90)					1.18	(1.04, 1.34)				
	46-50	0.85	(0.78, 0.94)					1.09	(0.99, 1.20)				
	51-55	0.86	(0.79, 0.93)					1.04	(0.95, 1.13)				
	56-60	0.99	(0.92, 1.06)					0.96	(0.89, 1.04)				
	61-65	ref.	I					ref.	I				
	66-70				ref.	1	<0.0001				ref.	I	<0.0001
	71-75				1.02	(0.98, 1.06)					0.94	(0.90, 0.98)	
	76-80				0.99	(0.96, 1.03)					0.88	(0.85, 0.92)	
	81-85				0.94	(0.91, 0.98)					0.83	(0.80, 0.87)	
	86-90				0.92	(0.88, 0.96)					0.82	(0.79, 0.85)	
	91+				0.91	(0.87, 0.95)					0.82	(0.79, 0.86)	
Cause of death	CVD	ref.	ı	<0.0001	ref.	I	<0.0001	ref.	I	<0.0001	ref.	ı	<0.0001
	Cancer	6.17	(5.75, 6.62)		1.90	(1.85, 1.95)		4.67	(4.27, 5.11)		1.54	(1.51, 1.58)	
	Mental & behav.	0.98	(0.82, 1.16)		1.45	(1.39, 1.52)		1.10	(0.89, 1.36)		1.30	(1.26, 1.34)	
	Nervous system	3.38	(2.87, 3.98)		1.68	(1.60, 1.77)		2.69	(2.29, 3.16)		1.38	(1.33, 1.43)	
	Respiratory	2.67	(2.27, 3.12)		1.39	(1.34, 1.44)		2.45	(2.06, 2.93)		1.21	(1.17, 1.25)	
	Digestive	2.25	(1.99, 2.55)		1.35	(1.28, 1.43)		1.73	(1.48, 2.02)		1.16	(1.11, 1.21)	

	External	0.62	(0.56, 0.68)		0.93	(0.88, 0.98)		0.75	(0.66, 0.85)		0.96	(0.92, 1.00)	
	Other	1.79	(1.61, 1.98)		1.24	(1.19, 1.28)		1.74	(1.54, 1.97)		1.15	(1.12, 1.18)	
Civil status	Single	0.89	(0.83, 0.96)	0.00	0.87	(0.84, 0.90)	<0.0001	0.92	(0.85, 1.00)	0.14	0.92	(0.89, 0.95)	<0.0001
	Married	ref.			ref.	1		ref.	I		ref.		
	Widowed	0.96	(0.81, 1.14)		1.00	(0.97, 1.02)		0.93	(0.84, 1.04)		0.97	(0.95, 0.99)	
	Divorced	0.89	(0.82, 0.95)		0.89	(0.85, 0.93)		0.94	(0.87, 1.02)		0.96	(0.92, 0.99)	
Nationality	Swiss	ref.	ı	0.07	ref.	1	0.08	ref.	I	0.03	ref.	I	0.31
	Foreigner/Unknown	1.07	(0.99, 1.15)		1.03	(1.00, 1.07)		1.11	(1.01, 1.21)		0.98	(0.94, 1.02)	
Religion	Protestant	ref.	1	0.18	ref.	I	<0.0001	ref.	I	<0.0001	ref.	-	<0.0001
	Catholic	1.01	(0.94, 1.08)		1.03	(1.01, 1.06)		1.00	(0.93, 1.07)		1.03	(1.01, 1.05)	
	No affil.	0.97	(0.88, 1.07)		1.04	(0.99, 1.09)		1.00	(0.91, 1.11)		0.97	(0.93, 1.02)	
	Other/Unknown	0.93	(0.85, 1.01)		0.91	(0.88, 0.94)		0.82	(0.75, 0.90)		0.94	(0.92, 0.97)	
Urbanicity	Urban	1.04	(0.94, 1.14)	0.77	1.01	(0.96, 1.05)	0.59	1.05	(0.95, 1.16)	0.63	1.02	(0.98, 1.07)	0.47
	Peri-urban	ref.			ref.	I		ref.	I		ref.	-	
	Rural	1.01	(0.92, 1.11)		0.98	(0.94, 1.02)		1.02	(0.93, 1.13)		0.99	(0.96, 1.03)	
Swiss-SEP	1st (lowest)	0.84	(0.74, 0.97)	0.00	0.92	(0.87, 0.98)	<0.0001	0.77	(0.66, 0.90)	0.00	0.97	(0.92, 1.03)	0.81
	2nd	0.91	(0.83, 1.00)		0.95	(0.92, 0.99)		0.85	(0.77, 0.94)		0.99	(0.95, 1.02)	
	3rd quintile	ref.			ref.	1		ref.	I		ref.	-	
	4th	1.10	(1.01, 1.19)		1.05	(1.01, 1.09)		1.04	(0.95, 1.13)		1.00	(0.96, 1.03)	
	5th (highest)	1.09	(0.97, 1.23)		1.11	(1.06, 1.18)		1.06	(0.94, 1.19)		1.02	(0.97, 1.07)	
Dens. of physicians	1st (lowest)	0.94	(0.85, 1.05)	0.56	0.98	(0.94, 1.03)	0.00	0.99	(0.88, 1.12)	0.13	1.01	(0.97, 1.06)	0.04
	2nd	0.93	(0.84, 1.03)		0.96	(0.92, 1.00)		1.11	(0.99, 1.24)		1.02	(0.98, 1.06)	
	3rd quintile	ref.			ref.	ı		ref.	I		ref.	-	
	4th	0.99	(0.90, 1.09)		1.03	(0.99, 1.08)		1.11	(1.00, 1.23)		1.06	(1.02, 1.10)	
	5th (highest)	0.98	(0.88, 1.09)		1.05	(1.00, 1.10)		1.08	(0.97, 1.21)		1.04	(1.00, 1.09)	
Dens. of nursing home beds	1st (lowest)	0.98	(0.86, 1.12)	0.94	0.96	(0.88, 1.06)	0.59	0.98	(0.85, 1.13)	0.16	1.00	(0.90, 1.12)	0.86
	2nd	0.97	(0.86, 1.10)		0.96	(0.88, 1.05)		0.94	(0.82, 1.07)		0.97	(0.87, 1.08)	
	3rd quintile	ref.	I		ref.	I		ref.	I		ref.	-	
	4th	0.98	(0.87, 1.11)		0.94	(0.86, 1.03)		0.90	(0.79, 1.02)		0.98	(0.88, 1.09)	
	5th (highest)	0.94	(0.81, 1.08)		0.93	(0.85, 1.02)		0.84	(0.73, 0.98)		0.95	(0.85, 1.06)	
Dens. of hospital beds	1st (lowest)	1.05	(0.91, 1.21)	0.67	0.99	(0.90, 1.08)	0.94	1.03	(0.89, 1.19)	0.84	0.98	(0.88, 1.09)	0.92
	2nd	1.08	(0.96, 1.22)		1.03	(0.94, 1.12)		1.05	(0.92, 1.19)		1.03	(0.93, 1.15)	
	3rd quintile	ref.			ref.	-		ref.	I		ref.	-	
	4th	1.02	(0.92, 1.13)		1.01	(0.94, 1.10)		1.00	(0.90, 1.12)		1.00	(0.91, 1.11)	
	5th (highest)	1.07	(0.95, 1.21)		1.01	(0.92, 1.10)		1.07	(0.94, 1.21)		0.99	(0.89, 1.11)	
Language region	German	ref.		<0.0001	ref.	ı	<0.0001	ref.	ı	<0.0001	ref.	ı	<0.0001
	French	1.33	(1.21, 1.47)		1.35	(1.26, 1.44)		1.28	(1.15, 1.42)		1.33	(1.24, 1.43)	
	Italian	1.24	(0.98, 1.57)		1.39	(1.14, 1.69)		1.16	(0.90, 1.50)		1.27	(1.01, 1.61)	
Constant		7.41	(6.30, 8.73)		14.78	(13.38, 16.32)		10.27	(8.56, 12.32)		19.42	(17.29, 21.80)	

(0.85, 0.87)	0.86	(1.26, 1.35)	1.31	(1.04, 1.07)	1.06	(1./9, 1.89)	1.84	Residual	
(0.00, 0.01)	0.01	(0.00, 5.22)	0.00	(0.00, 0.01)	0.00	(0.00, 0.04)	0.01	MedStat level	
(0.01, 0.02)	0.01	(0.00, 0.02)	0.01	(0.00, 0.01)	0.01	(0.00, 0.02)	0.00	HSA level	Variance



Figure 1. Spatial distribution of deviation from national mean (random effects) of model 1 (unadjusted) across 564 modified MedStat regions.




across 564 MedStat regions. Class breaks of the colour scheme are the same as with model 1

Appendix

Text 1. Geography and healthcare system of Switzerland.

Switzerland has 8.2 million residents, of whom almost a quarter (23.8%) are foreigners. It has four official languages: German (declared as main language by 64% of residents), French (23%), Italian (8%) and Romansch (0.5%). 85% of population live in urban areas, with 39% concentrated in five largest cities. Despite a strong economy and high standard of living, there is substantial spatial variation in socioeconomic position and health outcomes across the country. ^{1,2}

The Swiss, consumer-driven healthcare system is chiefly financed by compulsory basic health insurance (BHI) and out-of-pocket payments. Citizens choose standardized BHI package offered to everyone on a private, highly regulated market of 60 (state as of 10.08.15) insurers, who deliver it on a non-profit basis. The package covers all essential benefits related to medical illness and pregnancy (including ambulatory and in-patient care, medications and medical aids) and deemed medically- and cost-appropriate. Approximately half of in-patient costs are co-financed and subsidised by the cantons. A separate insurance system covers accident-related costs. Residents choose a deductible in a range of 300 - 2,500 Swiss Francs (CHF: 1 CHF = 0.91 Euro = 0.98 U.S. Dollar, as of 27.01.16). Higher deductibles and managed care plans lower the cost of yearly premiums. Patients also make co-payments of 10% of their yearly healthcare costs, up to a limit of CHF 700. Social assistance subsidizes premium payments for low-income individuals. The basic insurance package can be supplemented with voluntary, private insurance to extend provider and treatment choices (e.g. complementary medicine, dental care) and providing additional benefits (e.g. private room during hospital stay). ³⁻⁵

References:

- 1. Panczak R, Galobardes B, Voorpostel M, Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M. A Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position: development and association with mortality. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2012 Dec;66(12):1129–36.
- Moser A, Panczak R, Zwahlen M, Clough-Gorr KM, Spoerri A, Stuck AE, et al. What does your neighbourhood say about you? A study of life expectancy in 1.3 million Swiss neighbourhoods. J Epidemiol Community Heal. 2014 Aug 14;68(12):1125–32.
- 3. von Wyl V, Telser H, Weber A, Fischer B, Beck K. Cost trajectories from the final life year reveal intensity of end-of-life care and can help to guide palliative care interventions. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2015;(Online First 16.10.15).
- 4. Reich O, Signorell A, Busato A. Place of death and health care utilization for people in the last 6 months of life in Switzerland: a retrospective analysis using administrative data. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:116.
- Biller-Andorno N, Zeltner T. Individual Responsibility and Community Solidarity The Swiss Health Care System. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2015;373(23):2193–7. Available from: http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:New+engla+nd+journal#0

 Table 1. Data sources of the study. Databases used in the analyses, together with their purpose, temporal coverage,

 resolutions and content. Causes of death in 'Mortality records' database are coded according to the International

 Classification of Diseases, Injuries, and Causes of Death, Tenth Revision (ICD-10). Abbreviations: SFSO - Swiss Federal

 Statistical Office; SMA- Swiss Medical Association (FMH).

Data	Source	Years	Purpose	Data resolution	Spatial resolution	Variables used
Health insurance claims	Six insurance companies	2008- 10	Main dataset	Individual patients, health insurance claim	Postcode	Date of birth, date of death, sex and postcode of place of residence, reimbursed claim
Mortality records	SFSO	2008- 10	Assessing representativeness, record linkage to claims for cause of death and characteristics of decedents	Individual patients	Community	date of birth, date of death, sex, community of residence, civil status, nationality, religion, main cause of death
Hospital discharges	SFSO	2010	Creating Hospital Service Areas	Individual hospital discharges	MedStat	Age, major diagnostic category, type of entry, region of patient's place of residence, region of hospitalization
Physicians database	SMA	2010	Supply of ambulatory care	Individual physicians	Postcode	Sector of employment (ambulatory, stationary, other), specialization
Characteristics of hospitals	SFSO	2010	Supply of acute care	Individual institutions	MedStat	Type of hospital, location of hospital, number of utilized beds, number of doctors and nurses (full time equivalent)
Characteristics of socio-medical institutions	SFSO	2010	Supply of non-acute care	Individual institutions	MedStat	Type of institution, location of institution, number of beds, number of nurses
Population	SFSO	2010	Population denominator for healthcare supply indicators	Individual patients	Community	Age, sex, community of residence
Characteristics of communities	SFSO	2008- 10	Description of place of residence	Community	Community	Urbanicity, language region

Figure 1. Geographical regions of EOLC study. Swiss cantons (panel A), language regions (panel B), urbanicity (panel C) and Swiss-SEP index quintiles (panel D.



Panels B – D use 564 modified MedStat regions. All panels use overlay of 71 Hospital Service Areas.

Language region and urbanicity of the modified Medstat was derived from SFSO's classification of Swiss communities (*Gemeinde*). In cases when more than one community belonged to the region, and these differed in terms of urbanicity or language region we used majority (>50%) assignment as criterion. Communities where Romansh language was used were grouped together with German language. Swiss-SEP (area based socioeconomic position) index ²⁸ was derived as median value of all neighbourhoods that overlapped with modified MedStat.

Boundaries of the 564 modified MedStat regions were adjusted to exclude the high altitude areas of Swiss Alps with very low density or no population.

71 HSAs were build using SFSO's individual-level discharges of all Swiss hospitals in 2010. We created matrix of counts derived from cross tabulation of regions of patient's place of residence with region of hospitalization. We excluded records with missing geographical codes, records of individuals younger than 19, records belonging to major diagnostic category 'Births' and records of individuals from prisons. Patients' flows derived from the matrix were then used to aggregate modified MedStat regions to larger units where majority of residents were hospitalized.

Figure 2. Flowchart of exclusion criteria for study population definition.



Table 2. Distribution of unlinked deaths across characteristics of the study population. Urbanicity,

language region and Swiss-SEP index measured on the level of community (Gemeinde). Abbreviations:

Swiss-SEP – Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Characteristic	Linked		Unlink	ed	Total	
	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	No.	Col %
Sex						
Male	53,316	47%	2,508	48%	55,824	47%
Female	59,961	53%	2,672	52%	62,633	53%
Age group						
19 - 30	810	1%	114	2%	924	1%
31 - 40	1,150	1%	119	2%	1,269	1%
41 - 50	3,072	3%	234	5%	3,306	3%
51 - 60	6,813	6%	380	7%	7,193	6%
61 - 70	13,533	12%	715	14%	14,248	12%
71 - 80	24,696	22%	1,048	20%	25,744	22%
81 - 90	43,160	38%	1,753	34%	44,913	38%
91+	20,043	18%	817	16%	20,860	18%
Urbanicity						
Urban	35,987	32%	1,813	35%	37,800	32%
Peri-urban	47,779	42%	2,117	41%	49,896	42%
Rural	29,510	26%	1,250	24%	30,760	26%
Language region						
German	80,129	71%	2,966	57%	83,095	70%
French	27,200	24%	1,909	37%	29,109	25%
Italian	5,947	5%	305	6%	6,252	5%
Swiss-SEP quintile						
1st (lowest)	8,902	8%	417	8%	9,319	8%
2nd	22,583	20%	1,038	20%	23,621	20%
3rd	30,902	27%	1,462	28%	32,364	27%
4th	38,126	34%	1,721	33%	39,847	34%
5th (highest)	12,764	11%	542	11%	13,306	11%
Total	113,277	100%	5,180	100%	118,457	100%

Table 3. Distribution of individuals without any reimbursed claims across characteristics of the study

population. Abbreviations: 'CVD' –cardiovascular deaths, 'Mental & behav.' – mental and behavioural disorders (see text for ICD-10 codes). Swiss-SEP – Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Characteristic	Bills e	xist	No	bills	Tota	al
	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	No.	Col %
Sex						
Male	52,117	47%	1,199	60%	53,316	47%
Female	59,158	53%	803	40%	59,961	53%
Age group						
19 - 30	698	1%	112	6%	810	1%
31 - 40	1,051	1%	99	5%	1,150	1%
41 - 50	2,875	3%	197	10%	3,072	3%
51 - 60	6,533	6%	280	14%	6,813	6%
61 - 70	13,248	12%	285	14%	13,533	12%
71 - 80	24,398	22%	298	15%	24,696	22%
81 - 90	42,695	38%	465	23%	43,160	38%
91+	19,777	18%	266	13%	20,043	18%
Nationality						
Swiss	102,439	92%	1,761	88%	104,200	92%
Foreigner	8,836	8%	241	12%	9,077	8%
Civil status						
Single	13,225	12%	514	26%	13,739	12%
Married	43,516	39%	607	30%	44,123	39%
Widowed	44,671	40%	563	28%	45,234	40%
Divorced	9,863	9%	318	16%	10,181	9%
Religion						
Protestant	54,295	49%	868	43%	55,163	49%
Catholic	38,569	35%	617	31%	39,186	35%
No affil.	5,511	5%	153	8%	5,664	5%
Other/Unknown	12,900	12%	364	18%	13,264	12%
Cause of death						
CVD	40,256	36%	674	34%	40,930	36%
Cancer	29,357	26%	124	6%	29,481	26%
Mental &						
behav.	6,983	6%	197	10%	7,180	6%
Nervous system	5,434	5%	106	5%	5,540	5%
Respiratory	6,997	6%	80	4%	7,077	6%
Digestive	4,507	4%	69	3%	4,576	4%
External	5,866	5%	429	21%	6,295	6%
Other	11,875	11%	323	16%	12,198	11%
Urbanicity						
Urban	36,589	33%	741	37%	37,330	33%
Peri-urban	47,544	43%	852	43%	48,396	43%
Rural	27,142	24%	409	20%	27,551	24%

Language region						
German	78,650	71%	1,425	71%	80,075	71%
French	26,762	24%	505	25%	27,267	24%
Italian	5,863	5%	72	4%	5,935	5%
Swiss-SEP quintile						
1st (lowest)	7,654	7%	121	6%	7,775	7%
2nd	23,803	21%	372	19%	24,175	21%
3rd	30,384	27%	506	25%	30,890	27%
4th	38,651	35%	785	39%	39,436	35%
5th (highest)	10,783	10%	218	11%	11,001	10%
Total	111,275	100%	2,002	100%	113,277	100%

Table 4. Representativeness of the study population across characteristics of overall Swiss mortality

2008-10.

Characteristic	Study pop	ulation	National m	ortality	Representativeness
	No.	Col %	No.	Col %	% of national mortality (row %)
Sex					
Male	52'117	47%	88'907	48%	60%
Female	59'158	53%	95'910	52%	63%
Age group					
19 - 30	698	1%	1'389	1%	58%
31 - 40	1'051	1%	2'026	1%	57%
41 - 50	2'875	3%	5'535	3%	56%
51 - 60	6'533	6%	11'658	6%	58%
61 - 70	13'248	12%	22'300	12%	61%
71 - 80	24'398	22%	40'165	22%	61%
81 - 90	42'695	38%	69'849	38%	62%
91+	19'777	18%	31'895	17%	63%
Nationality					
Swiss	102,439	92%	170'420	92%	61%
Foreigner	8,836	8%	14'397	8%	63%
Civil status					
Single	13,225	12%	22'839	12%	60%
Married	43,516	39%	73'095	40%	60%
Widowed	44,671	40%	72'432	39%	62%
Divorced	9,863	9%	16'451	9%	62%
Religion					
Protestant	54,295	49%	82'221	44%	67%
Catholic	38,569	35%	71'919	39%	54%
No affil.	5,511	5%	9'977	5%	57%
Other/Unknown	12,900	12%	20'700	11%	64%
Cause of death					
CVD	40,256	36%	66'472	36%	62%
Cancer	29,357	26%	48'207	26%	61%
Mental & behav.	6,983	6%	11'571	6%	62%
Nervous system	5,434	5%	9'237	5%	60%
Respiratory	6,997	6%	11'442	6%	62%
Digestive	4,507	4%	7'431	4%	62%
External	5,866	5%	10'597	6%	59%
Other	11,875	11%	19'860	11%	61%
Urbanicity					
Urban	36,589	33%	61'288	33%	59%
Peri-urban	47,544	43%	74'145	40%	64%
Rural	27,142	24%	49'384	27%	60%
Language region	,				
German	78,650	71%	133'177	72%	60%

French	26,762	24%	42'586	23%	64%
Italian	5,863	5%	9'054	5%	66%
Swiss-SEP quintile					
1st (lowest)	7,654	7%	16'291	9%	55%
2nd	23,803	21%	36'660	20%	62%
3rd	30,384	27%	47'931	26%	64%
4th	38,651	35%	63'707	34%	60%
5th (highest)	10,783	10%	20'228	11%	63%
Total	111,275	100%	184'817	100%	61%

Table 5. Mean cost and standard deviation [SD] of end of life care across study population

characteristics. All costs given in thousands of Swiss Francs: 1 CHF = 0.91 Euro = 0.98 the U.S. Dollar, as of 27.01.16. Abbreviations: 'CVD' –cardiovascular deaths, 'Mental & behav.' – mental and behavioural disorders (see text for ICD-10 codes). Swiss-SEP – Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Characteristic	Males	19-65	Males	66+	Females	19-65	Female	es 66+	Tot	al
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Age group										
19 - 25	21.6	53.1			39.7	58.4			26.9	55.3
26 - 30	25.4	46.4			39.2	57.2			30.5	51.0
31 - 35	35.7	65.9			42.1	58.7			38.1	63.4
36 - 40	32.5	50.7			52.6	48.0			40.5	50.6
41 - 45	32.4	52.5			53.7	53.2			40.2	53.7
46 - 50	38.6	47.5			55.5	53.3			45.1	50.5
51 - 55	39.3	52.2			50.3	46.8			43.7	50.4
56 - 60	43.5	54.2			50.3	48.5			46.1	52.2
61 - 65	43.0	47.4			49.4	45.4			45.4	46.7
66 - 70			41.8	42.7			46.8	47.1	43.7	44.5
71 - 75			39.1	38.9			40.5	38.1	39.7	38.6
76 - 80			35.5	35.8			34.5	30.5	35.0	33.5
81 - 85			30.1	27.9			29.2	22.8	29.6	25.3
86 - 90			27.0	22.4			26.9	18.9	26.9	20.3
91+			25.0	19.2			25.8	15.9	25.6	16.9
Nationality										
Swiss	39.5	51.6	31.9	31.5	50.1	49.1	29.9	25.1	32.6	32.6
Foreigner	42.4	48.5	37.8	34.8	51.4	46.4	34.8	33.0	39.2	39.1
Civil status										
Single	29.9	44.3	28.7	26.4	43.3	47.5	28.9	23.3	30.5	32.8
Married	46.6	54.8	34.3	34.3	55.1	51.5	35.8	34.0	37.8	39.6
Widowed	40.1	52.1	28.7	25.5	46.5	45.0	28.3	21.9	28.7	23.5
Divorced	35.6	45.4	34.0	35.4	45.7	42.0	33.7	30.4	35.7	36.8
Religion										
Protestant	39.7	47.9	31.1	31.3	50.1	48.8	29.1	24.7	31.5	31.1
Catholic	41.5	53.1	32.9	30.6	50.8	48.0	31.1	25.2	34.0	33.0
No affil.	37.6	52.8	36.1	38.5	52.2	49.2	32.1	31.5	37.0	41.6
Other/Unknown	39.1	51.7	34.6	34.3	48.3	49.8	32.2	28.8	35.5	37.3
Cause of death										
CVD	21.2	40.2	25.7	28.3	26.3	42.5	25.7	21.3	25.5	26.0
Cancer	63.4	50.7	42.2	36.4	66.4	47.9	40.4	34.6	47.5	41.0
Mental & behav.	19.2	31.8	29.5	20.4	23.3	29.1	29.3	15.9	28.9	18.6
Nervous system	40.6	43.0	35.3	27.5	41.5	32.7	32.7	18.4	34.5	24.7
Respiratory	35.4	38.5	30.8	26.8	46.0	47.2	30.4	23.5	31.3	27.0
Digestive	31.6	50.2	32.0	31.3	33.4	39.3	30.0	27.1	31.1	33.2
External	13.5	26.2	24.8	28.2	19.9	24.7	25.5	23.9	21.3	26.4

Other	37.3	67.9	33.2	34.8	42.8	56.4	30.7	27.5	32.8	37.4
Urbanicity										
Urban	40.0	48.2	34.3	32.4	50.5	48.2	31.6	26.1	34.4	32.7
Peri-urban	41.1	52.9	33.3	33.6	52.1	50.4	30.2	26.2	33.8	34.8
Rural	38.2	51.3	28.5	27.5	46.2	45.7	27.9	23.3	30.1	30.6
Language region										
German	37.7	49.1	29.9	30.3	47.0	45.1	27.9	23.9	30.6	31.2
French	45.3	56.1	38.7	35.1	59.1	56.8	36.6	29.3	39.8	37.8
Italian	42.7	45.5	36.9	32.4	49.5	46.0	32.5	25.1	35.7	31.4
Swiss-SEP quintile										
1st (lowest)	37.0	44.1	29.8	26.7	43.6	43.1	29.6	21.7	31.2	28.4
2nd	37.8	44.4	29.7	27.6	45.8	43.9	28.7	22.3	30.9	29.0
3rd	39.9	54.2	31.7	30.5	49.9	46.2	29.4	25.7	32.5	33.1
4th	41.2	52.2	33.7	33.4	52.8	52.5	31.1	27.0	34.3	34.7
5th (highest)	44.2	56.7	37.3	40.4	55.0	52.4	32.2	28.7	36.6	38.5
Physicians / 10'000	(FMH)									
1st (lowest)	38.9	45.4	29.9	29.3	48.8	46.4	29.4	28.6	31.8	32.8
2nd	37.9	46.2	29.8	29.8	50.9	49.8	28.7	23.1	31.5	31.5
3rd quintile	38.9	55.3	29.1	28.7	45.1	44.6	27.4	23.0	30.2	31.6
4th	41.1	53.1	33.1	32.8	51.4	49.6	30.7	25.0	33.8	33.7
5th (highest)	40.9	51.4	34.7	33.5	51.8	49.9	31.4	26.3	34.6	33.9
Nursing home beds	/ 10'000									
1st (lowest)	42.1	57.3	36.9	35.9	58.5	58.0	34.2	29.1	37.6	38.4
2nd	41.7	50.1	33.4	32.9	52.2	50.3	31.4	27.4	34.4	34.4
3rd quintile	41.4	56.9	32.9	30.1	49.3	47.0	29.7	24.6	33.1	32.9
 4th	38.4	47.9	30.7	31.1	47.1	44.4	29.2	24.4	31.6	31.4
5th (highest)	35.4	41.0	28.9	27.7	46.2	45.9	26.7	21.0	29.3	28.0
Utilized beds (all) /	10'000									
1st (lowest)	<u>3</u> 8.8	65.0	27.4	27.0	45.0	43.7	26.4	24.3	29.1	33.3
2nd	37.5	45.2	29.4	29.0	47.0	45.6	27.8	21.9	30.4	29.6
3rd quintile	<u>3</u> 9.7	52.3	31.3	30.5	49.2	48.1	29.3	24.3	32.4	32.9
4th	41.2	50.0	35.6	35.2	53.5	51.4	32.7	28.3	35.8	35.4
5th (highest)	40.5	49.7	31.6	29.8	49.9	47.9	29.3	23.9	32.2	31.2
Total	40.0	51.1	32.4	31.9	50.3	48.7	30.2	25.6	33.1	33.2

Table 6.Significance of interaction parameters. P-values from test of interaction of sex (second column) and binary age indicator (19-65 vs. 66+; second and third columns) with the variables in rows. Multilevel models using individual patient data with log of overall cost as outcome with MedStat and Hospital Service Areas as extra levels, adjusted for all variables listed in the table.

Characteristics	Interaction with sex	Interactio	n with age
		Males	Females
Age group	<0.0001		
Nationality	0.784	0.584	0.066
Civil status	<0.0001	<0.0001	< 0.0001
Religion	0.193	0.021	<0.0001
Cause of death	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Urbanicity	<0.0001	0.806	0.001
Language region	0.08	0.015	0.002
Swiss-SEP quintile	<0.0001	0.141	<0.0001

Figure 3. Spatial distribution of deviation from national mean (random effects) of model 2 (adjusted) across 564 modified MedStat regions. Class breaks of

the colour scheme are the same as with model 1 (Figure 1, main manuscript).



Figure 4. Spatial distribution of deviation from national mean (random effects) of model 3 (adjusted) across 564 modified MedStat regions. Class breaks of

136 134 119 119



126 156 151 36 36 0

Wald test of the group parameters being jointly one. Abbreviations: 'Est.' – estimate; 'CI' confidence interval; 'CVD' – cardiovascular deaths; 'Mental & behav.' and 4 (adjusted for individual, regional factors and health supply measures) for males 19-65. Exponentiated coefficients of regressing log of overall cost of Table 7. Regression coefficients of multilevel models 1 (no covariates), 2 (adjusted for individual factors), 3 (adjusted for individual and regional factors) end of life care during the last 12 months of life. Density of supply measures and Swiss-SEP index divided into quintiles of spatial units. P-values from the - mental and behavioural disorders (see Table 1 for ICD-10 codes); 'No affil.' - no religious affiliation; 'Swiss-SEP' - Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Variable	Group	Model: 1		Model: 2			Model: 3	
		Est.	95% CI	Est.	95% CI	p-value	Est.	95% CI
Age	19-25			0.44	(0.36, 0.53)	<0.0001	0.44	(0.37, 0.53)
	26-30			0.67	(0.55, 0.82)		0.67	(0.55, 0.81)
	31-35			0.97	(0.82, 1.16)		0.97	(0.81, 1.16)
	36-40			0.88	(0.76, 1.02)		0.88	(0.76, 1.02)
	41-45			0.80	(0.72, 0.90)		0.81	(0.72, 0.90)
	46-50			0.85	(0.78, 0.94)		0.85	(0.78, 0.94)
	51-55			0.86	(0.79, 0.93)		0.86	(0.79, 0.93)
	56-60			0.99	(0.92, 1.06)		0.99	(0.92, 1.06)
	61-65			ref.	-		ref.	-
Cause of death	CVD			ref.	-	<0.0001	ref.	-
	Cancer			6.18	(5.76, 6.64)		6.18	(5.76, 6.64)
	Mental & behav.			0.98	(0.82, 1.16)		0.98	(0.82, 1.16)
	Nervous system			3.38	(2.87, 3.98)		3.38	(2.87, 3.98)
	Respiratory			2.68	(2.29, 3.14)		2.68	(2.29, 3.14)
	Digestive			2.25	(1.99, 2.55)		2.25	(1.99, 2.55)
	External			0.62	(0.57, 0.68)		0.62	(0.57, 0.68)
	Other			1.79	(1.62, 1.99)		1.79	(1.62, 1.98)
Civil status	Single			0.89	(0.83, 0.95)	0.00	0.89	(0.83, 0.95)
	Married			ref.	-		ref.	
	Widowed			0.97	(0.82, 1.15)		0.97	(0.81, 1.15)
	Divorced			0.89	(0.83, 0.96)		0.89	(0.83, 0.96)
Nationality	Swiss			ref.	-	0.05	ref.	1
	Foreigner			1.08	(1.00, 1.16)		1.07	(1.00, 1.15)

Religion	Protestant			ref.	-	0.17	ref.	
	Catholic			1.01	(0.94, 1.08)		1.01	(0.94, 1.08)
	No affil.			0.97	(0.88, 1.07)		0.97	(0.88, 1.07)
	Other/Unknown			0.93	(0.85, 1.01)		0.93	(0.85, 1.00)
Urbanicity	Urban			1.05	(0.98, 1.13)	0.23	1.05	(0.95, 1.16)
	Peri-urban			ref.	-		ref.	-
	Rural			0.97	(0.88, 1.06)		0.98	(0.89, 1.08)
Swiss-SEP	1st (lowest)			0.93	(0.81, 1.06)	0.31	0.92	(0.80, 1.05)
	2nd			0.95	(0.86, 1.04)		0.95	(0.86, 1.03)
	3rd quintile			ref.	-		ref.	•
	4th			1.05	(0.97, 1.15)		1.05	(0.97, 1.14)
	5th (highest)			1.05	(0.93, 1.19)		1.05	(0.92, 1.18)
Density of physicians	1st (lowest)						0.94	(0.85, 1.05)
	2nd						0.92	(0.83, 1.02)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.99	(0.90, 1.09)
	5th (highest)						0.98	(0.88, 1.09)
Density of nursing home beds	1st (lowest)						1.06	(0.91, 1.23)
	2nd						0.99	(0.86, 1.15)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.91	(0.79, 1.05)
	5th (highest)						0.92	(0.78, 1.09)
Density of hospital beds	1st (lowest)						0.90	(0.77, 1.05)
	2nd						0.99	(0.86, 1.14)
	3rd quintile						ref.	•
	4th						0.99	(0.87, 1.13)
	5th (highest)						0.96	(0.83, 1.12)
Language region	German							
	French							
	Italian							
Constant		15.53	(14.65, 16.47)	7.92	(7.14, 8.78)		8.59	(7.20, 10.25)
Variance	HSA level	0.03	(0.01, 0.06)	0.02	(0.01, 0.03)		0.01	(0.01, 0.03)
	MedStat level	0.00	(0.00, 0.80)	0.01	(0.00, 0.04)		0.00	(0.00, 0.05)
	Residual	2.78	(2.71, 2.86)	1.84	(1.79, 1.89)		1.84	(1.79, 1.89)

Wald test of the group parameters being jointly one. Abbreviations: 'Est.' – estimate; 'CI' confidence interval; 'CVD' – cardiovascular deaths; 'Mental & behav.' Table 8. Regression coefficients of multilevel models 1 (no covariates), 2 (adjusted for individual factors), 3 (adjusted for individual and regional factors) and 4 (adjusted for individual, regional factors and health supply measures) for males 66+. Exponentiated coefficients of regressing log of overall cost of end of life care during the last 12 months of life. Density of supply measures and Swiss-SEP index divided into quintiles of spatial units. P-values from the - mental and behavioural disorders (see Table 1 for ICD-10 codes); 'No affil.' - no religious affiliation; 'Swiss-SEP' - Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Variable	Group	Model: 1		Model: 2			Model: 3	
		Est.	95% CI	Est.	95% CI	p-value	Est.	95% CI
Age	02-99			ref.	-	<0.0001	ref.	•
	71-75			1.02	(0.98, 1.06)		1.02	(0.98, 1.06)
	76-80			1.00	(0.96, 1.03)		1.00	(0.96, 1.03)
	81-85			0.94	(0.91, 0.98)		0.94	(0.91, 0.98)
	86-90			0.92	(0.89, 0.96)		0.92	(0.88, 0.96)
	91+			0.91	(0.87, 0.95)		0.91	(0.87, 0.95)
Cause of death	CVD			ref.	-	<0.0001	ref.	•
	Cancer			1.90	(1.85, 1.95)		1.90	(1.85, 1.95)
	Mental & behav.			1.46	(1.39, 1.53)		1.46	(1.39, 1.53)
	Nervous system			1.68	(1.60, 1.77)		1.68	(1.60, 1.77)
	Respiratory			1.39	(1.34, 1.44)		1.39	(1.34, 1.45)
	Digestive			1.36	(1.28, 1.43)		1.36	(1.28, 1.43)
	External			0.93	(0.88, 0.98)		0.93	(0.88, 0.98)
	Other			1.24	(1.19, 1.28)		1.24	(1.19, 1.28)
Civil status	Single			0.87	(0.83, 0.90)	<0.0001	0.87	(0.83, 0.90)
	Married			ref.	-		ref.	•
	Widowed			1.00	(0.97, 1.02)		1.00	(0.97, 1.02)
	Divorced			0.89	(0.86, 0.93)		0.89	(0.86, 0.93)
Nationality	Swiss			ref.	-	0.06	ref.	•
	Foreigner			1.04	(1.00, 1.08)		1.03	(1.00, 1.07)
Religion	Protestant			ref.		<0.0001	ref.	·
	Catholic			1.03	(1.01, 1.06)		1.03	(1.01, 1.06)
	No affil.			1.04	(0.99, 1.09)		1.04	(0.99, 1.09)

	Other/Unknown			0.91	(0.88, 0.94)		0.91	(0.88, 0.94)
Urbanicity	Urban			1.05	(1.01, 1.09)	0.00	1.01	(0.97, 1.06)
	Peri-urban			ref.	-		ref.	-
	Rural			0.97	(0.93, 1.01)		0.98	(0.94, 1.02)
Swiss-SEP	1st (lowest)			0.93	(0.88, 0.99)	<0.0001	0.95	(0.89, 1.01)
	2nd			0.96	(0.92, 1.00)		0.96	(0.93, 1.01)
	3rd quintile			ref.	•		ref.	
	4th			1.05	(1.01, 1.09)		1.04	(1.00, 1.08)
	5th (highest)			1.11	(1.05, 1.18)		1.10	(1.04, 1.16)
Density of physicians	1st (lowest)						0.98	(0.94, 1.03)
	2nd						0.96	(0.92, 1.00)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						1.03	(0.98, 1.07)
	5th (highest)						1.04	(0.99, 1.09)
Density of nursing home beds	1st (lowest)						0.98	(0.86, 1.12)
	2nd						0.95	(0.83, 1.08)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.86	(0.75, 0.98)
	5th (highest)						0.88	(0.77, 1.02)
Density of hospital beds	1st (lowest)						0.86	(0.76, 0.99)
	2nd						0.95	(0.84, 1.08)
	3rd quintile						ref.	ı
	4th						1.01	(0.89, 1.14)
	5th (highest)						0.94	(0.83, 1.08)
Language region	German							
	French							
	Italian							
Constant		19.36	(18.45, 20.32)	15.52	(14.56, 16.55)		17.34	(15.19, 19.80)
Variance	HSA level	0.03	(0.02, 0.05)	0.03	(0.02, 0.05)		0.02	(0.02, 0.04)
	MedStat level	0.01	(0.01, 0.01)	0.00	(0.00, 0.01)		0.00	(0.00, 0.01)
	Residual	1.14	(1.12, 1.16)	1.06	(1.04, 1.07)		1.06	(1.04, 1.07)

Table 9. Regression coefficients of multilevel models 1 (no covariates), 2 (adjusted for individual factors), 3 (adjusted for individual and regional factors)
and 4 (adjusted for individual, regional factors and health supply measures) for females 19-65. Exponentiated coefficients of regressing log of overall cost of
end of life care during the last 12 months of life. Density of supply measures and Swiss-SEP index divided into quintiles of spatial units. P-values from the
Wald test of the group parameters being jointly one. Abbreviations: 'Est.' – estimate; 'Cl' confidence interval; 'CVD' –cardiovascular deaths; 'Mental & behav.'
– mental and behavioural disorders (see Table 1 for ICD-10 codes); 'No affil.' – no religious affiliation; 'Swiss-SEP' – Swiss neighbourhood index of
socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Variable	Group	Model: 1		Model: 2			Model: 3	
		Est.	95% CI	Est.	95% CI	p-value	Est.	95% CI
Age	19-25			0.82	(0.65, 1.04)	0.00	0.82	(0.65, 1.04)
	26-30			0.85	(0.68, 1.06)		0.86	(0.69, 1.06)
	31-35			0.92	(0.76, 1.12)		0.92	(0.75, 1.11)
	36-40			1.20	(1.03, 1.40)		1.20	(1.03, 1.40)
	41-45			1.18	(1.04, 1.33)		1.18	(1.04, 1.34)
	46-50			1.09	(0.98, 1.20)		1.09	(0.99, 1.21)
	51-55			1.04	(0.95, 1.13)		1.04	(0.96, 1.13)
	56-60			0.97	(0.89, 1.04)		0.97	(0.90, 1.04)
	61-65			ref.	-		ref.	-
Cause of death	CVD			ref.	-	<0.0001	ref.	-
	Cancer			4.68	(4.28, 5.12)		4.68	(4.28, 5.12)
	Mental & behav.			1.10	(0.89, 1.35)		1.10	(0.89, 1.35)
	Nervous system			2.71	(2.30, 3.18)		2.71	(2.31, 3.18)
	Respiratory			2.47	(2.07, 2.94)		2.46	(2.07, 2.94)
	Digestive			1.74	(1.49, 2.03)		1.74	(1.49, 2.03)
	External			0.75	(0.67, 0.85)		0.75	(0.66, 0.85)
	Other			1.75	(1.55, 1.97)		1.75	(1.55, 1.97)
Civil status	Single			0.93	(0.86, 1.00)	0.19	0.93	(0.85, 1.00)
	Married			ref.	•		ref.	•
	Widowed			0.94	(0.84, 1.05)		0.93	(0.83, 1.04)
	Divorced			0.95	(0.88, 1.02)		0.95	(0.88, 1.02)
Nationality	Swiss			ref.	•	0.02	ref.	•
	Foreigner			1.11	(1.02, 1.22)		1.11	(1.02, 1.21)

Religion	Protestant			ref.		<0.0001	ref.	
	Catholic			1.00	(0.93, 1.08)		0.99	(0.92, 1.06)
	No affil.			1.00	(0.90, 1.11)		0.99	(0.90, 1.10)
	Other/Unknown			0.82	(0.75, 0.90)		0.82	(0.75, 0.89)
Urbanicity	Urban			1.07	(1.00, 1.15)	0.15	1.05	(0.95, 1.16)
	Peri-urban			ref.	-		ref.	
	Rural			0.99	(0.90, 1.10)		1.01	(0.91, 1.11)
Swiss-SEP	1st (lowest)			0.84	(0.72, 0.98)	0.03	0.83	(0.71, 0.96)
	2nd			0.88	(0.80, 0.97)		0.88	(0.80, 0.97)
	3rd quintile			ref.	-		ref.	1
	4th			1.03	(0.94, 1.12)		1.01	(0.93, 1.10)
	5th (highest)			1.04	(0.92, 1.18)		1.03	(0.91, 1.16)
Density of physicians	1st (lowest)						1.00	(0.89, 1.13)
	2nd						1.11	(0.99, 1.24)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	414						1.12	(1.01, 1.24)
	5th (highest)						1.09	(0.98, 1.22)
Density of nursing home beds	1st (lowest)						1.02	(0.87, 1.20)
	2nd						0.94	(0.82, 1.09)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.83	(0.72, 0.96)
	5th (highest)						0.81	(0.69, 0.96)
Density of hospital beds	1st (lowest)						0.90	(0.77, 1.06)
	2nd						0.95	(0.82, 1.11)
	3rd quintile						ref.	ı
	4th						0.96	(0.85, 1.10)
	5th (highest)						1.01	(0.87, 1.17)
Language region	German							
	French							
	Italian							
Constant		27.16	(25.64, 28.76)	11.00	(9.72, 12.44)		11.67	(9.65, 14.12)
Variance	HSA level	0.02	(0.01, 0.05)	0.02	(0.01, 0.04)		0.01	(0.01, 0.03)
	MedStat level	0.01	(0.00, 0.08)	0.00	(0.00, 7.e+186)		0.00	(0.00, 5280.80)
	Residual	1.83	(1.77, 1.90)	1.31	(1.27, 1.36)		1.31	(1.26, 1.36)

Table 10. Regression coefficients of multilevel models 1 (no covariates), 2 (adjusted for individual factors), 3 (adjusted for individual and regional factors)
and 4 (adjusted for individual, regional factors and health supply measures) for females 66+. Exponentiated coefficients of regressing log of overall cost of
end of life care during the last 12 months of life. Density of supply measures and Swiss-SEP index divided into quintiles of spatial units. P-values from the
Wald test of the group parameters being jointly one. Abbreviations: 'Est.' – estimate; 'CI' confidence interval; 'CVD' –cardiovascular deaths; 'Mental & behav.'
– mental and behavioural disorders (see Table 1 for ICD-10 codes); 'No affil.' – no religious affiliation; 'Swiss-SEP' – Swiss neighbourhood index of
socioeconomic position (see ²⁸ for details).

Variable	Group	Model: 1		Model: 2			Model: 3	
		Est.	95% CI	Est.	95% CI	p-value	Est.	95% CI
Age	02-99			ref.		<0.0001	ref.	-
	71-75			0.94	(0.90, 0.98)		0.94	(0.90, 0.98)
	76-80			0.88	(0.85, 0.92)		0.88	(0.85, 0.92)
	81-85			0.83	(0.80, 0.87)		0.83	(0.80, 0.87)
	86-90			0.82	(0.79, 0.85)		0.82	(0.79, 0.85)
	91+			0.82	(0.79, 0.86)		0.82	(0.79, 0.86)
Cause of death	CVD			ref.	•	<0.0001	ref.	
	Cancer			1.55	(1.51, 1.58)		1.55	(1.51, 1.58)
	Mental & behav.			1.30	(1.26, 1.34)		1.30	(1.26, 1.34)
	Nervous system			1.38	(1.33, 1.43)		1.38	(1.33, 1.43)
	Respiratory			1.21	(1.17, 1.25)		1.21	(1.17, 1.25)
	Digestive			1.16	(1.11, 1.21)		1.16	(1.11, 1.21)
	External			0.96	(0.92, 1.01)		0.96	(0.92, 1.01)
	Other			1.15	(1.12, 1.18)		1.15	(1.12, 1.18)
Civil status	Single			0.92	(0.89, 0.95)	<0.0001	0.92	(0.89, 0.95)
	Married			ref.	I		ref.	-
	Widowed			0.97	(0.95, 0.99)		0.97	(0.95, 0.99)
	Divorced			0.96	(0.92, 0.99)		0.96	(0.92, 0.99)
Nationality	Swiss			ref.	I	0.34	ref.	-
	Foreigner			0.98	(0.95, 1.02)		0.98	(0.94, 1.02)
Religion	Protestant			ref.	I	<0.0001	ref.	-
	Catholic			1.03	(1.01, 1.05)		1.03	(1.01, 1.05)
	No affil.			0.97	(0.92, 1.02)		0.97	(0.92, 1.02)

	Other/Unknown			0.94	(0.92, 0.97)		0.94	(0.92, 0.97)
Urbanicity	Urban			1.04	(1.01, 1.07)	0.03	1.03	(0.99, 1.07)
	Peri-urban			ref.	-		ref.	-
	Rural			0.99	(0.95, 1.03)		0.99	(0.96, 1.03)
Swiss-SEP	1st (lowest)			0.99	(0.93, 1.04)	0.88	0.99	(0.94, 1.05)
	2nd			0.99	(0.95, 1.02)		0.99	(0.96, 1.03)
	3rd quintile			ref.	-		ref.	
	4th			1.00	(0.97, 1.04)		1.00	(0.96, 1.03)
	5th (highest)			1.02	(0.97, 1.07)		1.01	(0.96, 1.07)
Density of physicians	1st (lowest)						1.01	(0.97, 1.06)
	2nd						1.02	(0.98, 1.06)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						1.05	(1.01, 1.10)
	5th (highest)						1.03	(0.99, 1.08)
Density of nursing home beds	1st (lowest)						1.04	(0.90, 1.21)
	2nd						0.98	(0.85, 1.14)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.91	(0.78, 1.06)
	5th (highest)						0.92	(0.79, 1.08)
Density of hospital beds	1st (lowest)						0.86	(0.74, 0.99)
	2nd						0.96	(0.83, 1.11)
	3rd quintile						ref.	
	4th						0.99	(0.86, 1.14)
	5th (highest)						0.94	(0.81, 1.09)
Language region	German							
	French							
	Italian							
Constant		20.27	(19.27, 21.32)	21.08	(19.69, 22.57)		22.24	(19.18, 25.79)
Variance	HSA level	0.04	(0.03, 0.06)	0.04	(0.03, 0.06)		0.03	(0.02, 0.05)
	MedStat level	0.01	(0.00, 0.01)	0.01	(0.00, 0.01)		0.01	(0.00, 0.01)
	Residual	0.90	(0.89, 0.91)	0.86	(0.85, 0.87)		0.86	(0.85, 0.87)

2.4 Article 4: AMI and stroke mortality vary by distance to hospital?

Title:

Do acute myocardial infarction and stroke mortality vary by distance to hospitals in Switzerland?

Berlin C¹, Panczak R¹, Hasler R², Zwahlen M¹ for the Swiss National Cohort Study Group

¹ Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM), University of Bern, Switzerland

² Department of Emergency Medicine, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland

European Journal of Epidemiology (under review)

Do acute myocardial infarction and stroke mortality vary by distance to hospitals in Switzerland?

Claudia Berlin¹, Radoslaw Panczak¹, Rebecca Hasler², Marcel Zwahlen¹ for the Swiss National Cohort Study Group

1 Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine (ISPM), University of Bern, Finkenhubelweg 11, 3012 Bern, Switzerland

claudia.berlin@ispm.unibe.ch

radoslaw.panczak@ispm.unibe.ch

marcel.zwahlen@ispm.unibe.ch

2 Department of Emergency Medicine, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Freiburgstrasse 16C, 3010 Bern, Switzerland

rebecca.hasler@insel.ch

Corresponding author:

Professor Marcel Zwahlen Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine University of Bern Switzerland marcel.zwahlen@ispm.unibe.ch Tel: +41 31 631 35 54 Fax: +41 31 631 35 20

Acknowledgments:

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant number: 138056). In addition, we thank the Swiss Federal Statistical Office for providing mortality and census data and for the support which made the Swiss National Cohort and this study possible. The Swiss National Cohort was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant nos. 3347CO-108806, 33CS30_134273 and 33CS30_148415). The members of the Swiss National Cohort Study Group are Matthias Egger (Chairman of the Executive Board), Adrian Spoerri and Marcel Zwahlen (all Bern), Milo Puhan (Chairman of the Scientific Board), Matthias Bopp (both Zurich), Nino Künzli (Basel), Fred Paccaud (Lausanne) and Michel Oris (Geneva). We also thank Christopher Ritter for his editorial assistance.

Abstract:

We examined the relationship between distance to different hospital types and mortality from acute myocardial infarction or stroke in the Swiss National Cohort. We performed Cox analyses using driving time and straight-line distance as distance measures, additionally adjusting for sociodemographic and economic variables. Compared to the lowest quintile of driving time to a university hospital, the acute myocardial infarction mortality was 27% and 14% higher in the highest quintile for the young and old population, whereas the stroke mortality was 15% higher in the third quintile and 7% higher in the fourth quintile in the fully adjusted model. Acute myocardial infarction mortality among those in the population 30 and older and stroke mortality in those 65 and above increase with distance to central and university hospitals.

Keywords: distance to hospital, acute myocardial infarction, stroke, mortality

Introduction

Life-threatening diseases such as acute myocardial infarction (AMI) or stroke need immediate medical intervention. Multiple factors can influence the time to treatment and thus survival. These include time from the event to the alert of emergency medical services (EMS), presence of a person to perform cardiopulmonary resuscitation, availability of an automated external defibrillator, and travel time to a hospital with necessary specialized treatment (e.g., thrombolysis or percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)).

The European guidelines on myocardial revascularization indicate the greatest benefit from reperfusion therapy occurs 2–3 hours after onset [1]. In a Danish study of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI), patients for whom the time from first contact with the health care system to initiation of reperfusion therapy is no longer than 60 minutes have a long-term mortality rate of 15.4%; this rate doubles to 30.8% with a delay of 181 to 360 minutes [2]. The recommendations for STEMI and non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome (NSTE-ACS) differ according to available treatment and patient risk profile. STEMI patients should be treated without delay, whereas NSTE-ACS patients should receive revascularization within 24 hours, but in any event no later than 72 hours after onset. However, high risk NSTE-ACS patients should undergo urgent coronary angiography within 2 hours of onset. In STEMI patients, primary PCI without previous fibrinolysis is now recommended over fibrinolysis as the preferred reperfusion therapy if it can be provided in a timely manner by experienced operators. But if PCI cannot be performed within 120 minutes of contact with the health system patients should receive fibrinolysis followed by angiography [1].

The 2008 European guidelines for stroke treatment recommend intravenous thrombolysis within 3 hours of stroke onset [3]. The following year the treatment window was extended to 4.5 hours [4].

These windows for reperfusion therapy indicate prompt notification of the EMS and rapid transportation to the hospital. Geographical inequalities in the provision of health care may therefore influence the likelihood of dying from acute myocardial infarction or stroke.

In Switzerland, inhabitants of remote areas like peripheral valleys or mountainous regions often face long travel distances to the nearest hospital, which may not necessarily be a hospital specialized in AMI or stroke treatment with a catheter laboratory or a stroke unit). This will affect transport time, treatment, and survival. Switzerland has a high hospital density and efficient ambulance and air rescue services [5], which should reduce AMI and stroke mortality for people living farther from hospitals. However, no study has yet assessed the relation between AMI and stroke mortality, and distance to hospitals in Switzerland. We therefore used Swiss National Cohort (SNC) data to assess

139

how AMI and stroke mortality in Switzerland relate to distance as driving time from home to different types of hospitals.

Data and methods

Swiss National Cohort

The Swiss National Cohort (SNC) is a longitudinal study that links census data for the entire population of Switzerland with mortality and emigration records. In addition to sociodemographic and economic variables, the SNC also includes the geographical coordinates of residences. But due to the lack of a unique person identifier and the anonymous death registry in Switzerland, we linked the records of the census of 1990 and 2000 to death and emigration records up to 2008 using deterministic and probabilistic linkage methods based on sex, date of birth, place of residence, nationality, and other variables. The SNC is explained in detail elsewhere [6,7].

Hospital information

Yearly the Federal Office for Health (FOH) derives key figures for Swiss hospitals from hospital characteristics and discharge statistics available from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (SFSO, http://www.bag.admin.ch/kzss). However, those data do not provide addresses and further information for all individual hospitals when a single corporate entity operates more than one hospital in one town or canton. We therefore used additional data from the Federal Office of Topography (swisstopo) and TomTom to locate individual hospitals.

We derived the geographical coordinates of the FOH data set of 2008 using the STATA command **geocode3**, which retrieves coordinates via Google Geocoding API V3. To identify additional hospital locations we compared the coordinates of the FOH data set with the hospital coordinates that are provided by swisstopo, and the hospital coordinates provided by the TomTom MultiNet Shapefile 2011. We deleted duplicates and checked for further information about the hospitals via the Internet. We merged the data sets to create one data set with the following information on hospitals operating in 2008: type of hospital (acute care, acute care with emergency room 24/7 (ER), central hospital, and university hospital), and geographical coordinates.

Distance calculation using geographical information system

We calculated two related measures of the distance between residences and hospitals using ArcGIS 10.3: straight-line distance and driving time. Driving times for the road network of Switzerland were calculated using the TomTom MultiNet Shapefile (2011) and ArcGIS Network Analyst. To model the road options for ambulances we excluded ferries, car-train tunnels, and walkways, but included pedestrian areas. Because not all buildings are immediately adjacent to streets, we measured the straight-line distance to the next traversable street segment, assumed 15 km/h speed for traveling this distance, and adjusted driving distance and time accordingly. These data were then added to the SNC data base.

Selection of records

We excluded people younger than 30 at the 2000 census because CVD deaths are quite rare in this age group. We also excluded records having no or imprecise building coordinates that is necessary for the calculation of exact distance to hospital. These buildings also had no Swiss neighborhood index of socioeconomic position (SSEP) values [8] necessary for calculation of exact location. Persons with institutional residences, who are older and have poorer health, were also excluded because they have higher stroke or AMI risk than the general population. Only records with deaths that were identified by stringent probabilistic linkage were included. Individuals were followed from 5 December 2000 until death, emigration, or the end of the study period on 31 December 2008.

Primary cause of death was coded using the International Classification of Disease, Injuries and Causes of Death, 10th revision (ICD-10). Outcomes were deaths by AMI (I21, I22) and stroke (I60, I61, I63, I64).

We analyzed the association of driving time and straight-line distance with stroke and AMI mortality using three different Cox proportional hazard models. Each was age-adjusted via the time axis, which was individuals' age, and includes this information:

- Model 1: hospital distance (driving time or straight-line distance)
- Model 2: hospital distance, sex, nationality, civil status, religion, education, household type, and language region
- Model 3: hospital distance, sex, nationality, civil status, religion, education, household type, language region, SSEP, and urbanization

Analyses were stratified for younger (30-64 years) and older (\geq 65 years) persons because other SNC studies have shown differences in younger and older SNC subjects [9,10]. For further information about the categories of the variables included in the analyses see table 1. Driving time and straight-

line distance to each of the four different hospital types (nearest acute hospital, acute hospital with ER, central hospital, or nearest university hospital) was divided into quintiles, the other four of which were compared to the lowest quintile in the Cox analyses. Figure 1 is illustrating the driving distance quintiles to university hospitals for all included buildings in Switzerland. Statistical analyses were done in Stata version 13 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX, USA).

Overview of study population

In 2008, 173 hospitals were operating in Switzerland. Of these, 138 had an ED, 12 were central hospitals, and 5 university hospitals. The distance calculation used 1,293,780 buildings. Originally, 7,280,246 persons were included in the 2000 census. After excluding persons younger than 30, those living in nursing homes or institutions, and records without precise building coordinates, 4,490,439 persons remained in the study. Of these 48% were male, 76.9% were 30 to 64 years old, 79.3% lived in households with two or more persons, 69.3% were married, 25.7% lived in rural regions, and 72.2% resided in German-speaking Switzerland. 42.3% were Catholics, 17.9% did not have Swiss citizenship, and 22.2% had tertiary level education (see table 1).

Characteristics	Study popu	lation		St	roke dea	ths		A	MI deat	ths
					Crude	rate per 100,000			Crude	rate per 100,000
	Number	%	Number	%	Rate	95% CI	Number	%	Rate	95% CI
All	4,490,439	100	21,931	100	63.8	63-64.7	19,301	100	56.2	55.4-57
Gender	, ,		,				- ,			
Male	2.156.749	48	9.361	42.7	57.1	55.9-58.3	11.446	59.3	69.8	68.5-71.1
Female	2.333.690	52	12.570	57.3	70.0	68.8-71.2	7.855	40.7	43.7	42.8-44.7
Age (vears)	,,		,				,			
30 - 34	549.551	12.2	53	0.2	1.2	0.9-1.6	62	0.3	1.4	1.1-1.8
35 - 39	603.925	13.4	88	0.4	1.8	1.5-2.3	174	0.9	3.6	3.1-4.2
40 - 44	547.237	12.2	162	0.7	3.7	3.2-4.4	287	1.5	6.6	5.9-7.4
45 - 49	491.143	10.9	240	1.1	6.2	5.4-7	479	2.5	12.3	11.3-13.5
50 - 54	478.402	10.7	344	1.6	9.1	8.2-10.2	790	4.1	21.0	19.6-22.5
55 - 59	438.264	9.8	466	2.1	13.6	12.4-14.9	1.065	5.5	31.1	29.3-33.1
60 - 64	342,555	7.6	744	3.4	28.2	26.3-30.3	1.212	6.3	46.0	43.4-48.6
65 - 69	306.346	6.8	1.440	6.6	61.9	58.8-65.2	1.780	9.2	76.5	73-80.2
70 - 74	267,196	6	2.685	12.2	136.8	131.7-142	2,750	14.2	140.1	134.9-145.4
75 - 79	219 519	49	4 596	21	303.6	295-312 5	3 662	19	241.9	234 2-249 9
80 - 84	140 276	3.1	5 408	24.7	625.0	608 5-641 9	3 553	18.4	410.6	397 3-424 3
85 - 89	76.053	17	3 941	18	999 5	968 8-1031 2	2 554	13.2	647.8	623 1-673 4
90 - 94	25 576	0.6	1 516	6.9	1429 7	1359 5-1503 5	798	4 1	752.6	702 1-806 6
95+	4 396	0.0	248	1 1	1773.0	1565 5-2008	135	0.7	965.1	815 3-1142 5
Neighbourbood index of SEP	4,350	0.1	240	1.1	1775.0	1909.9 2000	155	0.7	505.1	013.5 1142.5
	898 100	20	4 511	20.6	66.2	64 3-68 1	4 240	22	62.2	60 3-64 1
Second quintile	898 083	20	4 786	20.0	69.9	68-71 9	4 336	22 5	63.4	61 5-65 3
Third quintile	898,005	20	4,700	21.0	66.6	64 7-68 6	4,550 // 110	22.5	50.4	58 1-61 8
Fourth quintile	898.081	20	4,577 1 210	10.5	61.0	59 2-62 8	3 500	18.6	52.1	50.1-53.9
Highest quintile	898.086	20	3 8/17	17.5	55.6	53 9-57 4	3,007	15.6	13 5	12-15 1
Type of household	050,000	20	5,047	17.5	55.0	55.5 57.4	5,007	15.0	45.5	42 43.1
Single person household	922 282	20.7	9.048	/1 3	122 5	120 8-135 2	6 8/6	35 5	100.2	97 9-102 6
Household with 2 or more persons	3 563 157	70.3	12 883	58.7	152.5	125.0 155.2	12/155	64.5	100.2	14 5-46 1
Marital status	5,505,157	75.5	12,005	50.7	40.0	40-47.0	12,433	04.5	45.5	44.5-40.1
Single	646 207	111	1 025	8 8	38 /	36 7-40 2	1 602	8 8	22 g	22 2-25 1
Married	3 110 107	60.3	1,525	18 /	JU.4 11 2	13 1-15	10 865	56.3	15.3	14 A-16 1
Widowed	356 153	79	10,00 <i>5</i> 8 151	37.2	337 5	330 3-344 0	5 405	28		217 Q-220 Q
Diversed	277 072	0.0	1 246	57.2	17 6	40 2 4E 1	1 220	20 6 0	22J.0	1217.5-225.5
	311,912	0.4	1,240	5.7	42.0	40.3-43.1	1,339	0.9	45.0	43.4-40.3
urban	1 201 200	20	7 159	24	75.0	74 2 77 6	6 171	27	62.8	61 2 64 4
	2 024 574	25 45 2	9 602	20.2	540	52 8 56 1	7 65 2	20.6	18 0	47.8.50
rural	2,034,574	45.5	5 971	26.9	54.5	53.8-50.1	5 179	39.0 29.4	40.9 61 9	47.8-30
	1,134,370	25.7	5,671	20.8	00.2	04.0-07.9	3,478	20.4	01.8	00.2-03.5
Corman	2 2/1 106	ר רד	16 107	72 0	65.2	64 7 66 7	14.075	72.0	E6 7	
Erench	3,241,100 1 ()2/)2/	72.2 22	10,107	73.0 21 ⊑	60 1	58 1-61 9	14,075 A 222	72.9 21 0	50.7	52 1-57 2
Italian	1,054,224 215 020	23 1 °	4,720 1.010	21.5 1 C	61.0	50.4-01.0	4,223	21.9 5 0	55.7 61.0	57.2.64.0
	213,029	4.0	1,018	4.0	01.9	30.2-03.0	1,003	5.2	01.0	57.5-04.9
Religious anniation	1 664 525	27 1	10.755	10	816	82 86 2	0 0/1	AE O	60 F	69 1 71
Pomon Catholic Church	1,004,535	37.1	10,755	49 20 7	04.0 E0 2	03-00.2	0,041 7 0//	43.8	09.5 E4.0	00.1-11
	1,900,346	42.3	0,401 1 140	38./	50.3 20 2	37.1-39.0	1,844	40.0	54.U	52.8-55.2
Ather (unknown	321,033	11.0	1,140	5.Z	20.3	20.7-50	1 2/2	0.0 7	13 C	23.3-33.4
	404,323	3	1,000	1.1	20.2	40.1-33.1	1,342	/	43.0	41.3-40

Table 1 Characteristics of the study population

Results

Over the eight years of the study period, 381,659 persons (8.5% of 4,490,439) died. 51.6% of the deceased were men. 142,926 died of CVD (48.9% male), 21,931 died of stroke (42.7% male), and 19,301 (59.3% male) died of AMI. The crude mortality rate per 100,000 persons was 416 for CVD, 64 for stroke, and 56 for AMI (see table 1).

The average driving time to an acute hospital was 6.5 min (maximum 65 min.) and 80.8% of persons in the SNC data set could access an acute hospital in less than 10 minutes. Just 1.3% had to travel 20 minutes or more. The average driving time to a university hospital was 29.7 min (maximum 178 min), while 58.2% had to travel 20 minutes or more (table 2, while the figures for straight-line distance are given in appendix 1).

Driving time	Average driving time	SNC pers	ons
Driving time	in min (max)	Number	in %
Acute hospital	6.5 (65)		
<5min		2,017,352	44.9
5 < 10min		1,610,354	35.9
10 < 15min		674,382	15.0
15 < 20min		132,161	2.9
20min+		56,190	1.3
Acute hospital with ER	7 (65)		
<5min		1,834,768	40.9
5 < 10min		1,672,327	37.2
10 < 15min		747,662	16.7
15 < 20min		162,452	3.6
20min+		73,230	1.6
Central hospital	17.4 (119.6)		
<5min		679,954	15.1
5 < 10min		795,805	17.7
10 < 15min		619,898	13.8
15 < 20min		755,915	16.8
20min+		1,638,867	36.5
University hospital	29.7 (178.2)		
<5min		502,197	11.2
5 < 10min		548,417	12.2
10 < 15min		372,887	8.3
15 < 20min		454,895	10.1
20min+		2,612,043	58.2

Table 2 Number of persons in the SNC by driving time for the four different hospital types and average driving time
Cox analysis results

We ran 96 Cox analyses; 48 for driving time and 48 for straight-line distance. Figures 2–5 present the results of these analyses of AMI and stroke deaths for the 30–64 and 65 and older age groups. On the top of each figure the results of 12 separate analyses for the three models and the driving time to the four different hospital types are displayed. At the bottom of the figures the results of the analyses for straight-line distance is shown (see appendix tables 2–5 for the exact numbers of the driving time analyses and appendix tables 6–9 for the results of the straight-line distance analyses).

In younger persons, driving time to the nearest acute hospital and the nearest hospital with an ER was not associated with AMI mortality, but AMI mortality did increase with driving time to a central or university hospital (figure 2). In persons 65 and older, mortality increased with driving time to all four hospital types in model 1 (figure 3). After including sociodemographic variables (model 2) and additional SSEP and urbanization (model 3) the magnitude of the effects is weaker but still statistically significant for central and university hospitals (highest quintile of driving time to university hospital model 1: HR = 1.27, 95%CI: 1.21-1.34; model 2: HR = 1.19, 95%-CI: 1.13-1.26; model 3: HR = 1.15, 95%-CI: 1.08-1.21).

The impact of driving time on stroke mortality is less pronounced than it is for AMI mortality, especially in younger persons (figure 4). We found no significant relationship between stroke mortality and driving time (figure 4) except for driving time to a university hospital in model 1. In older persons (figure 5), model 1 showed significant associations between driving time to all types of hospital and stroke mortality. No relationship between driving time to acute hospitals and those with an ER was seen in models 2 and 3. Stroke mortality generally increased with driving time to central and university hospitals in all 3 models, though results were greatest in the fourth quintile (central hospital) or third quintile (university hospital). Compared to the lowest quintile of driving time to a university hospital in the fully adjusted model 3, the stroke mortality was 15% higher in the third quintile and 7% higher in the fourth quintile.

Discussion

Main findings

Risk of dying from AMI increased with distance (in driving time) from a central or university hospital for both those younger and older than 65 years in the Swiss National Cohort. For stroke mortality, though, a significant association with distance to the same hospitals was observed only in those 65 and older. However, we did not observe a clear dose-response relationship, as the strongest

association was seen when comparing the third and fourth quantile to first quantile of distance. For those younger than 65, stroke mortality was not associated with distance from any type of hospital once the analyses adjusted for relevant individual and regional characteristics. Although we found statistically significant increased hazards for AMI and stroke mortality with increasing distance to central and university hospitals, the hazard ratios were relatively small and could be the result of residual confounding.

Possible mechanisms

Our study analyzed the outcome of death following AMI or stroke at any point along a rather complex chain of events and interventions: 1) experiencing the AMI/stroke, 2) someone noticing the AMI/stroke (the patient, if able, otherwise someone else), 3) alerting the EMS, 4) CPR and defibrillation if needed by AMI patients, 5) transport to a treatment facility, 6) treatment, 7) rehabilitation. Differences observed in AMI/stroke mortality by hospital distance could arise in any element of this chain.

The positive association of stroke mortality with distance in those over 65 might be explained by differences in the awareness and interpretability of stroke symptoms by patients themselves, or persons in the same household or workplace. Certainly alarm time might be longer for older people living alone than younger people living in family households. Another possibility is that elderly people, who are known to be at higher risk for stroke [11], might also be more susceptible to time delays due to comorbidities or physical or biochemical disturbances that may accompany a stroke. It also might be possible that, similar to trauma patients who have been observed to have lower trauma unit admission rates with higher age [12], stroke patients—especially from rural areas where the awareness of stroke symptoms might be lower—have lower primary stroke unit admission rates, and increased mortality. In any event, treatment of patients who live far from a hospital with a stroke unit might more effectively rely upon air transport by helicopter.

Early after occurrence, AMI (especially STEMI) can have poor survival, while mortality from stroke often occurs later due to secondary sequelae such as secondary cerebral bleeding in the infarct territory, haemodynamic instability, or pulmonary complications. Furthermore, stroke patients might suffer severe neurological impairment, increasing with increasing time to revascularization, but still survive. This might explain why the association between AMI and distance to hospital was more pronounced in all age groups compared to stroke patients.

Most studies focus on in-hospital mortality because these data are easy to access. Data about persons dying at the scene of the event, on the way to the hospital, or after discharge from hospital are more difficult to obtain.

Referral to and enrollment in a chronic disease management program for cardiac rehabilitation was less likely in patients in Ontario, Canada who lived 60 or more minutes from a cardiac rehabilitation site [13]. Therefore, it is important to distinguish health care utilization from emergency treatment in the association of accessibility of health care facilities and outcomes.

Investigating the association of distance to hospital and increased risk of death in patients with lifethreatening emergencies, Nicholl et al. justified the exclusion of out-of-hospital cardiac arrests from their study because survival depends upon time from call to treatment by ambulance staff rather than time or distance from scene to hospital [14]. In contrast, Evenson et al. emphasize that in acute stroke care prehospital delay—the time from onset of symptoms to hospital arrival—contributes the major proportion of delay time [15]. Because the SNC lacks detailed information about circumstances and place of death (e.g., death before being reached, death during transport, death in nursing home or hospital), we could not perform sensitivity analyses by excluding prehospital deaths. What we did do, however, was exclude persons who lived in institutions at the 2000 census from all analyses because treatment decisions for such persons, most of whom are elderly, might differ from those still living at home by, e.g., the existence of do not resuscitate orders.

Study limitations

As noted above, the SNC does not contain information on the exact location of a person when he or she had a stroke or heart attack. Because the average ages of all persons dying from stroke and AMI were respectively 82 and 78 we assumed the vast majority of stroke or AMI events occurred at or close to home and reasonably, we believe, we used home to hospital distance in our analyses.

We located SNC participants at a place of residence in the 2000 census, which was also the basis for defining the neighborhood index of socioeconomic position [8]. However, over the years 2001 to 2008 residents could have moved (some surely did) and that information is not available in the SNC data. For those who died, the SNC also has information about the community (but not exact geocode) of the residence at death. Of the 381,659 people who died in our study population 19,785 (5.2%) did not die in the same community in which they lived at the census 2000 (1,089 in stroke cases, 908 in AMI cases).

Information on whether a patient was admitted, to which hospital, was not available. We partially addressed this problem by including the distance to different types of hospitals as patients will be admitted to different specialized hospitals depending on their diagnosis/symptoms.

Catheter laboratories and stroke units provide the best evidence-based treatments for AMI and stroke patients [1,3,16]. It would have been ideal to know the distance to hospitals that have catheter laboratories or stroke units. However, in Switzerland health care is mainly organized at the

cantonal level with 26 cantons in charge of health care planning and organization. Information on which treatment services are available at each hospital does not exist in a national database, and this includes catheter labs and stroke units operating in the years 2000 to 2008. At the local level, rescue crews are supposed to know which hospitals on which day and hour can receive patients who are in need of specialized AMI or stroke treatments.

Strengths

This study benefits from data that form a true nationwide cohort with almost complete follow-up during the study period for persons 30 years or older at the 2000 census. All Swiss hospitals operating in 2008 were included and classified by type. Due to Swiss topography we decided to calculate driving time instead of only using straight-line distance because driving time is a more accurate measure of access in peripheral and rural areas [17]. However, in the mountains and other remote regions emergency medical transportation might be carried out by helicopter. Therefore, we also calculated straight-line distance to model helicopter flight times. We found results were comparable to driving time (see figures 2—5 or appendices 6–9).

Comparison with other studies

Several studies have found that AMI and stroke mortality increase with distance to hospital [18–22], whereas others have not found such an association [23–26].

However, studies investigating how mortality from AMI or stroke varies by distance to hospital differ by study design (cohort study, ecological study), subjects included (patients, population), selection of hospitals (federal hospitals), type of mortality (in-hospital, prehospital, posthospital, all-cause mortality) or geographical setting (city, urban and rural, county, state, country). Moreover, one expects that the role of hospital distance differs by size and geographical structure of the region or country (e.g., Canada versus Monaco). This complicates any comparison of results obtained in other regions or countries with those of our study of Switzerland.

Conclusions

AMI mortality increased with distance to central and university hospitals in the Swiss population both under and over 65 years of age, while stroke mortality increased in those 65 and older, although the strength of the observed associations was rather small. Even though hospital density in Switzerland is high, complex geography in more remote Swiss areas might make it difficult for EMS to guarantee adequate time from onset to intervention for acute events such as AMI and stroke. **Funding:** This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant numbers: 138056, 3347CO-108806, 33CS30_134273 and 33CS30_148415).

Conflict of interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval: For this type of study formal consent is not required.

References

1. Windecker S, Kolh P, Alfonso F, Collet J-P, Cremer J, Falk V, et al. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) * Developed with the special contributio. Eur. Heart J. [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2014 Aug 31];ehu278 – . Available from: http://eurheartj.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2014/08/28/eurheartj.ehu278

2. Terkelsen CJ, Sorensen JT, Michael M, Jensen LO, Tilsted H-H, Trautner S, et al. System Delay and Mortality Among Patients With STEMI Treated With Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. JAMA [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Sep 7];304:763. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20716739

 European Stroke Organisation Executive Committee E. Guidelines for management of ischaemic stroke and transient ischaemic attack 2008. Cerebrovasc. Dis. [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2015 Mar 13];25:457–507. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18477843

4. European Stroke Organisation Executive Committee E. ESO GC Statement on revised guidelines for intravenous thrombolysis [Internet]. 2009. Available from: http://www.congrex-switzerland.com/fileadmin/files/2013/eso-stroke/pdf/ESO_Guideline_Update_Jan_2009.pdf

5. OECD/WHO. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland 2011 [Internet]. OECD Publishing; 2011 [cited 2016 Jan 7]. Available from: http://www.keepeek.com/Digital-Asset-Management/oecd/social-issues-migration-health/oecd-reviews-of-health-systems-switzerland-2011_9789264120914-en#page1

6. Bopp M, Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Gutzwiller F, Paccaud F, Braun-Fahrländer C, et al. Cohort Profile: the Swiss National Cohort--a longitudinal study of 6.8 million people. Int. J. Epidemiol. [Internet].
2009 [cited 2015 Oct 26];38:379–84. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18326512

 Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M, Bopp M. The Swiss National Cohort: a unique database for national and international researchers. Int. J. Public Health [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Oct 26];55:239–42. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20556473

 Panczak R, Galobardes B, Voorpostel M, Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M. A Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position: development and association with mortality. J. Epidemiol. Community Health [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2015 Dec 2];66:1129–36. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22717282 9. Steck N, Junker C, Maessen M, Reisch T, Zwahlen M, Egger M. Suicide assisted by right-to-die associations: a population based cohort study. Int. J. Epidemiol. [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Jan 8];43:614–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24550250

Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Bopp M, Gutzwiller F, Egger M. Religion and assisted and non-assisted suicide in Switzerland: National Cohort Study. Int. J. Epidemiol. [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Dec 3];39:1486–94. Available from: http://ije.oxfordjournals.org/content/39/6/1486.long

11. Mathisen SM, Dalen I, Larsen JP, Kurz M. Long-Term Mortality and Its Risk Factors in Stroke Survivors. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Jan 9]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26738815

12. Hsia RY, Wang E, Saynina O, Wise P, Pérez-Stable EJ, Auerbach A. Factors associated with trauma center use for elderly patients with trauma: a statewide analysis, 1999-2008. Arch. Surg. [Internet].
2011 [cited 2016 Jan 12];146:585–92. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3121677&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

13. Brual J, Gravely-Witte S, Suskin N, Stewart DE, Macpherson A, Grace SL. Drive time to cardiac rehabilitation: at what point does it affect utilization? Int. J. Health Geogr. [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Mar 5];9:27. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2900239&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

14. Nicholl J, West J, Goodacre S, Turner J. The relationship between distance to hospital and patient mortality in emergencies: an observational study. Emerg. Med. J. [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2015 Mar 4];24:665–8. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2464671&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

15. Evenson KR, Foraker RE, Morris DL, Rosamond WD. A comprehensive review of prehospital and in-hospital delay times in acute stroke care. Int. J. Stroke [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2015 Dec 16];4:187–99. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2825147&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

16. Roussot A, Cottenet J, Gadreau M, Giroud M, Béjot Y, Quantin C. The use of national administrative data to describe the spatial distribution of in-hospital mortality following stroke in France, 2008–2011. Int. J. Health Geogr. [Internet]. BioMed Central; 2016 [cited 2016 Jan 11];15:2. Available from: http://ij-healthgeographics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12942-015-0028-2

17. Jordan H, Roderick P, Martin D, Barnett S. Distance, rurality and the need for care: access to health services in South West England. Int. J. Health Geogr. [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2015 Mar 4];3:21. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=524184&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype= abstract

18. Murata A, Matsuda S. Association between ambulance distance to hospitals and mortality from acute diseases in Japan: national database analysis. J. Public Health Manag. Pract. [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2015 Nov 9];19:E23–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23892384

19. Wei L, Lang CC, Sullivan FM, Boyle P, Wang J, Pringle SD, et al. Impact on mortality following first acute myocardial infarction of distance between home and hospital: cohort study. Heart [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2015 Mar 4];94:1141–6. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2564842&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

20. Busingye D, Pedigo A, Odoi A. Temporal changes in geographic disparities in access to emergency heart attack and stroke care: are we any better today? Spat. Spatiotemporal. Epidemiol. [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2015 Nov 10];2:247–63. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877584511000335

21. Magliano DJ, Cohen K, Harding JL, Shaw JE. Residential distance from major urban areas, diabetes and cardiovascular mortality in Australia. Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2015 Oct 26];109:271–8. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168822715002594

22. Buchmueller TC, Jacobson M, Wold C. How far to the hospital? The effect of hospital closures on access to care. J. Health Econ. [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2015 Nov 8];25:740–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16356570

23. Yamashita T, Kunkel SR. The association between heart disease mortality and geographic access to hospitals: county level comparisons in Ohio, USA. Soc. Sci. Med. [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Nov 9];70:1211–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20138417

24. Matsui H, Fushimi K, Yasunaga H. Variation in Risk-Standardized Mortality of Stroke among Hospitals in Japan. PLoS One [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2015 Nov 10];10:e0139216. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4596625&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype =abstract

25. Hsia RY, Kanzaria HK, Srebotnjak T, Maselli J, McCulloch C, Auerbach AD. Is emergency

department closure resulting in increased distance to the nearest emergency department associated with increased inpatient mortality? Ann. Emerg. Med. [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2015 Nov 9];60:707–15.e4. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196064412014242

26. Alexandrescu R, Bottle A, Jarman B, Aylin P. Impact of transfer for angioplasty and distance on AMI in-hospital mortality. Acute Card. Care [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2015 Mar 4];14:5–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22356567



Fig. 1 Driving time quintiles to university hospitals displayed for each building



Fig. 2 Cox analyses of AMI mortality - driving time quintiles and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 30-64 years under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types



Fig. 3 Cox analyses of AMI mortality - driving time quintiles and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types



Driving time

Fig. 4 Cox analyses of stroke mortality - driving time quintiles and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 30-64 under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types



Fig. 5 Cox analyses of stroke mortality - driving time quintiles and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

Appendix 1 Number of SNC persons by straight-line distance groups to the 4 different hospital types and average driving time

Straight line distance	Average straight-line distance	SNC persons		
Straight-inte distance	in km (max)	Number	in %	
Acute hospital	4.1 (35.8)			
<5km		3,066,120	68.3	
5 < 10km		1,146,168	25.5	
10 < 15km		231,432	5.2	
15 < 20km		33,091	0.7	
20km+		13,628	0.3	
Acute hospital with ER	4.5 (35.8)			
<5km		2,909,789	64.8	
5 < 10km		1,222,016	27.2	
10 < 15km		290,970	6.5	
15 < 20km		52,108	1.2	
20km+		15,556	0.3	
Central hospital	16.1 (84.4)			
<5km		1,122,167	25.0	
5 < 10km		623,079	13.9	
10 < 15km		556,787	12.4	
15 < 20km		630,307	14.0	
20km+		1,558,099	34.7	
University hospital	33.4 (176.3)			
<5km		794,125	17.7	
5 < 10km		411,948	9.2	
10 < 15km		283,952	6.3	
15 < 20km		349,764	7.8	
20km+		2,650,650	59.0	

Appendix 2 Cox analyses of AMI mortality and driving time quintiles for persons 30-64 under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	el 2	Model 3	
Driving time	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p<0.001		p=0.011		p=0.134
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.970	0.878 - 1.071	0.952	0.862 - 1.052	0.959	0.867 - 1.060
Third quintile	0.885	0.800 - 0.978	0.870	0.786 - 0.963	0.897	0.806 - 0.997
Fourth quintile	1.017	0.923 - 1.120	0.984	0.892 - 1.086	1.012	0.909 - 1.127
Highest quintile	1.104	1.004 - 1.216	1.029	0.933 - 1.134	0.987	0.882 - 1.104
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.011		p=0.052
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.928	0.839 - 1.025	0.914	0.826 - 1.010	0.918	0.830 - 1.015
Third quintile	0.889	0.805 - 0.983	0.885	0.801 - 0.979	0.917	0.825 - 1.018
Fourth quintile	1.035	0.940 - 1.139	1.010	0.917 - 1.114	1.039	0.935 - 1.154
Highest quintile	1.077	0.979 - 1.186	1.015	0.921 - 1.119	0.968	0.868 - 1.081
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p=0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.981	0.884 - 1.089	0.998	0.898 - 1.109	1.093	0.973 - 1.227
Third quintile	1.182	1.069 - 1.306	1.164	1.051 - 1.290	1.231	1.097 - 1.380
Fourth quintile	1.223	1.107 - 1.352	1.203	1.086 - 1.333	1.204	1.076 - 1.348
Highest quintile	1.224	1.107 - 1.353	1.169	1.055 - 1.296	1.111	0.987 - 1.251
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.056	0.950 - 1.174	1.066	0.957 - 1.188	1.143	1.018 - 1.284
Third quintile	1.298	1.172 - 1.438	1.252	1.127 - 1.391	1.231	1.102 - 1.375
Fourth quintile	1.366	1.233 - 1.512	1.291	1.162 - 1.433	1.233	1.100 - 1.382
Highest quintile	1.398	1.264 - 1.547	1.373	1.231 - 1.532	1.269	1.126 - 1.431

Appendix 3 Cox analyses of AMI mortality and driving time quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	lel 2	Model 3	
Driving time	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p<0.001		p=0.004		p=0.012
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.089	1.038 - 1.144	1.059	1.009 - 1.112	1.058	1.008 - 1.111
Third quintile	1.119	1.065 - 1.177	1.060	1.008 - 1.115	1.063	1.008 - 1.121
Fourth quintile	1.195	1.136 - 1.257	1.102	1.047 - 1.160	1.102	1.042 - 1.166
Highest quintile	1.189	1.132 - 1.249	1.071	1.019 - 1.126	1.046	0.987 - 1.109
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.031		p=0.272
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.072	1.021 - 1.125	1.045	0.996 - 1.097	1.039	0.990 - 1.091
Third quintile	1.081	1.028 - 1.137	1.032	0.981 - 1.085	1.029	0.976 - 1.085
Fourth quintile	1.154	1.097 - 1.214	1.071	1.017 - 1.127	1.063	1.006 - 1.123
Highest quintile	1.183	1.127 - 1.243	1.075	1.023 - 1.130	1.042	0.985 - 1.103
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p=0.036
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.044	0.992 - 1.098	0.994	0.944 - 1.046	0.995	0.940 - 1.053
Third quintile	1.111	1.056 - 1.170	1.031	0.979 - 1.087	1.017	0.960 - 1.078
Fourth quintile	1.152	1.097 - 1.210	1.070	1.017 - 1.125	1.045	0.989 - 1.105
Highest quintile	1.218	1.162 - 1.277	1.119	1.066 - 1.175	1.079	1.019 - 1.143
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.120	1.062 - 1.180	1.067	1.011 - 1.125	1.077	1.017 - 1.141
Third quintile	1.189	1.130 - 1.252	1.097	1.042 - 1.156	1.073	1.016 - 1.134
Fourth quintile	1.256	1.196 - 1.319	1.157	1.100 - 1.216	1.122	1.062 - 1.186
Highest quintile	1.273	1.213 - 1.335	1.193	1.131 - 1.257	1.145	1.079 - 1.214

Appendix 4 Cox analyses of stroke mortality and driving time quintiles for persons 30-64 under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	lel 2	Model 3	
Driving time	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p=0.767		p=0.923		p=0.897
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.002	0.875 - 1.149	1.013	0.883 - 1.161	1.017	0.886 - 1.167
Third quintile	0.927	0.808 - 1.064	0.958	0.834 - 1.101	0.982	0.848 - 1.136
Fourth quintile	0.976	0.852 - 1.117	1.016	0.885 - 1.167	1.053	0.906 - 1.224
Highest quintile	1.001	0.874 - 1.146	1.003	0.873 - 1.152	1.012	0.864 - 1.186
Acute hospital with ER		p=0.439		p=0.353		p=0.187
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.992	0.865 - 1.139	0.998	0.869 - 1.145	1.001	0.872 - 1.150
Third quintile	0.928	0.808 - 1.066	0.962	0.837 - 1.106	0.993	0.859 - 1.150
Fourth quintile	1.059	0.926 - 1.211	1.101	0.962 - 1.262	1.148	0.991 - 1.330
Highest quintile	1.006	0.878 - 1.153	1.006	0.875 - 1.156	1.016	0.869 - 1.189
Central hospital		p=0.081		p=0.353		p=0.495
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.896	0.779 - 1.029	0.945	0.821 - 1.088	0.982	0.840 - 1.147
Third quintile	0.958	0.835 - 1.100	0.997	0.866 - 1.148	1.025	0.876 - 1.199
Fourth quintile	1.072	0.937 - 1.227	1.091	0.950 - 1.253	1.095	0.941 - 1.274
Highest quintile	1.037	0.905 - 1.188	1.012	0.879 - 1.164	0.986	0.839 - 1.159
University hospital		p=0.010		p=0.074		p=0.224
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.989	0.858 - 1.140	1.045	0.904 - 1.208	1.099	0.940 - 1.285
Third quintile	1.138	0.990 - 1.308	1.163	1.008 - 1.342	1.166	1.004 - 1.355
Fourth quintile	1.196	1.042 - 1.373	1.197	1.038 - 1.380	1.183	1.013 - 1.380
Highest quintile	1.171	1.020 - 1.345	1.135	0.973 - 1.323	1.096	0.927 - 1.296

Appendix 5 Cox analyses of stroke mortality and driving time quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	lel 2	Model 3	
Driving time	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p<0.001		p=0.059		p=0.063
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.017	0.975 - 1.061	0.992	0.951 - 1.034	0.990	0.949 - 1.033
Third quintile	1.104	1.058 - 1.153	1.055	1.010 - 1.101	1.053	1.006 - 1.102
Fourth quintile	1.096	1.049 - 1.146	1.025	0.980 - 1.072	1.021	0.972 - 1.073
Highest quintile	1.091	1.045 - 1.139	1.015	0.971 - 1.060	0.998	0.948 - 1.051
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.110		p=0.090
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.009	0.968 - 1.053	0.995	0.954 - 1.037	0.991	0.950 - 1.034
Third quintile	1.077	1.032 - 1.125	1.041	0.996 - 1.087	1.039	0.992 - 1.087
Fourth quintile	1.102	1.055 - 1.152	1.042	0.997 - 1.090	1.036	0.987 - 1.087
Highest quintile	1.070	1.025 - 1.117	1.009	0.966 - 1.054	0.988	0.940 - 1.039
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.059	1.014 - 1.107	1.019	0.974 - 1.065	1.026	0.977 - 1.078
Third quintile	1.120	1.071 - 1.171	1.061	1.014 - 1.110	1.070	1.018 - 1.126
Fourth quintile	1.170	1.121 - 1.221	1.129	1.081 - 1.180	1.137	1.084 - 1.193
Highest quintile	1.135	1.089 - 1.183	1.103	1.057 - 1.152	1.111	1.056 - 1.169
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.128	1.078 - 1.180	1.081	1.032 - 1.131	1.091	1.039 - 1.146
Third quintile	1.231	1.179 - 1.286	1.154	1.105 - 1.206	1.145	1.093 - 1.200
Fourth quintile	1.149	1.100 - 1.199	1.081	1.035 - 1.129	1.068	1.017 - 1.120
Highest quintile	1.101	1.055 - 1.149	1.088	1.039 - 1.140	1.066	1.012 - 1.124

Appendix 6 Cox analyses of AMI mortality and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 30-64 under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	el 2	Model 3	
Straight-line distance	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p=0.001		p=0.094		p=0.413
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.989	0.894 - 1.094	0.968	0.875 - 1.071	0.975	0.881 - 1.079
Third quintile	0.964	0.873 - 1.066	0.941	0.851 - 1.041	0.975	0.877 - 1.084
Fourth quintile	1.083	0.983 - 1.194	1.038	0.941 - 1.146	1.065	0.955 - 1.187
Highest quintile	1.147	1.041 - 1.264	1.062	0.962 - 1.172	1.018	0.909 - 1.140
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.071		p=0.651
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.974	0.881 - 1.077	0.960	0.868 - 1.062	0.971	0.877 - 1.074
Third quintile	0.968	0.876 - 1.069	0.958	0.867 - 1.059	0.995	0.896 - 1.106
Fourth quintile	1.060	0.961 - 1.168	1.024	0.928 - 1.131	1.049	0.942 - 1.168
Highest quintile	1.155	1.049 - 1.272	1.084	0.983 - 1.195	1.034	0.925 - 1.154
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.002	0.903 - 1.112	1.016	0.914 - 1.129	1.117	0.995 - 1.254
Third quintile	1.228	1.111 - 1.358	1.203	1.086 - 1.333	1.262	1.125 - 1.415
Fourth quintile	1.279	1.158 - 1.413	1.244	1.123 - 1.378	1.251	1.118 - 1.400
Highest quintile	1.213	1.096 - 1.342	1.169	1.054 - 1.297	1.118	0.996 - 1.255
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p=0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.028	0.924 - 1.142	1.027	0.921 - 1.144	1.092	0.971 - 1.228
Third quintile	1.271	1.148 - 1.408	1.224	1.103 - 1.359	1.195	1.070 - 1.333
Fourth quintile	1.391	1.258 - 1.539	1.304	1.175 - 1.446	1.243	1.110 - 1.391
Highest quintile	1.356	1.225 - 1.500	1.325	1.187 - 1.479	1.224	1.087 - 1.378

Appendix 7 Cox analyses of AMI mortality and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	lel 2	Model 3	
Straight-line distance	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.086	1.034 - 1.141	1.061	1.011 - 1.115	1.060	1.009 - 1.113
Third quintile	1.160	1.103 - 1.220	1.097	1.043 - 1.153	1.102	1.045 - 1.162
Fourth quintile	1.244	1.183 - 1.308	1.148	1.091 - 1.208	1.150	1.087 - 1.217
Highest quintile	1.194	1.136 - 1.255	1.082	1.029 - 1.139	1.060	0.999 - 1.125
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.001		p=0.036
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.075	1.024 - 1.129	1.054	1.003 - 1.106	1.051	1.000 - 1.103
Third quintile	1.114	1.060 - 1.172	1.065	1.012 - 1.120	1.064	1.009 - 1.122
Fourth quintile	1.184	1.125 - 1.246	1.100	1.044 - 1.158	1.092	1.032 - 1.156
Highest quintile	1.196	1.138 - 1.256	1.095	1.042 - 1.151	1.064	1.005 - 1.127
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p=0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.037	0.986 - 1.091	0.983	0.934 - 1.035	0.980	0.927 - 1.037
Third quintile	1.086	1.032 - 1.144	0.997	0.946 - 1.051	0.973	0.918 - 1.032
Fourth quintile	1.145	1.090 - 1.203	1.057	1.005 - 1.112	1.027	0.971 - 1.085
Highest quintile	1.213	1.157 - 1.272	1.129	1.076 - 1.185	1.080	1.022 - 1.142
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.121	1.063 - 1.182	1.058	1.002 - 1.116	1.069	1.009 - 1.134
Third quintile	1.183	1.125 - 1.244	1.099	1.044 - 1.157	1.075	1.019 - 1.135
Fourth quintile	1.298	1.237 - 1.363	1.194	1.136 - 1.255	1.160	1.098 - 1.225
Highest quintile	1.247	1.188 - 1.309	1.165	1.104 - 1.230	1.116	1.053 - 1.184

Appendix 8 Cox analyses of stroke mortality and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 30-64 under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	el 2	Model 3	
Straight-line distance	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p=0.366		p=0.510		p=0.449
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.061	0.925 - 1.217	1.060	0.924 - 1.216	1.062	0.925 - 1.219
Third quintile	0.950	0.827 - 1.092	0.974	0.847 - 1.121	1.004	0.866 - 1.163
Fourth quintile	1.059	0.924 - 1.213	1.084	0.945 - 1.244	1.127	0.968 - 1.311
Highest quintile	1.072	0.935 - 1.228	1.058	0.921 - 1.216	1.079	0.920 - 1.265
Acute hospital with ER		p=0.032		p=0.049		p=0.027
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.978	0.851 - 1.123	0.983	0.856 - 1.129	0.989	0.861 - 1.137
Third quintile	0.897	0.780 - 1.031	0.924	0.803 - 1.064	0.959	0.827 - 1.111
Fourth quintile	1.100	0.963 - 1.257	1.129	0.986 - 1.291	1.185	1.022 - 1.373
Highest quintile	1.063	0.929 - 1.217	1.051	0.916 - 1.206	1.079	0.924 - 1.261
Central hospital		p=0.034		p=0.185		p=0.311
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	0.853	0.741 - 0.981	0.896	0.777 - 1.033	0.933	0.798 - 1.090
Third quintile	1.022	0.893 - 1.169	1.055	0.918 - 1.212	1.079	0.925 - 1.260
Fourth quintile	1.024	0.895 - 1.173	1.032	0.897 - 1.186	1.037	0.890 - 1.208
Highest quintile	1.037	0.906 - 1.188	1.010	0.878 - 1.160	0.982	0.841 - 1.147
University hospital		p=0.028		p=0.132		p=0.238
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.047	0.909 - 1.205	1.106	0.957 - 1.278	1.172	1.002 - 1.371
Third quintile	1.156	1.006 - 1.329	1.176	1.019 - 1.357	1.176	1.012 - 1.366
Fourth quintile	1.150	0.999 - 1.323	1.141	0.988 - 1.318	1.127	0.963 - 1.319
Highest quintile	1.223	1.065 - 1.404	1.204	1.034 - 1.404	1.156	0.981 - 1.362

Appendix 9 Cox analyses of stroke mortality and straight-line distance quintiles for persons 65 and older under models 1 to 3 for the four different hospital types

	Model 1		Mod	el 2	Model 3	
Straight-line distance	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Acute hospital		p<0.001		p=0.103		p=0.206
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.032	0.989 - 1.076	1.012	0.970 - 1.055	1.009	0.967 - 1.053
Third quintile	1.100	1.054 - 1.149	1.050	1.006 - 1.097	1.049	1.001 - 1.098
Fourth quintile	1.118	1.070 - 1.169	1.050	1.004 - 1.099	1.047	0.996 - 1.100
Highest quintile	1.106	1.060 - 1.155	1.033	0.989 - 1.080	1.020	0.969 - 1.074
Acute hospital with ER		p<0.001		p=0.035		p=0.071
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.013	0.972 - 1.057	1.000	0.959 - 1.043	0.998	0.957 - 1.041
Third quintile	1.067	1.021 - 1.114	1.033	0.988 - 1.079	1.032	0.985 - 1.080
Fourth quintile	1.126	1.077 - 1.177	1.066	1.019 - 1.114	1.062	1.011 - 1.115
Highest quintile	1.080	1.035 - 1.127	1.025	0.981 - 1.070	1.010	0.961 - 1.062
Central hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.090	1.043 - 1.139	1.042	0.996 - 1.089	1.054	1.004 - 1.106
Third quintile	1.128	1.078 - 1.179	1.062	1.014 - 1.111	1.074	1.020 - 1.130
Fourth quintile	1.156	1.108 - 1.207	1.107	1.060 - 1.157	1.117	1.064 - 1.172
Highest quintile	1.162	1.114 - 1.211	1.139	1.091 - 1.188	1.144	1.089 - 1.201
University hospital		p<0.001		p<0.001		p<0.001
Lowest quintile	1		1		1	
Second quintile	1.121	1.071 - 1.173	1.063	1.015 - 1.113	1.071	1.019 - 1.127
Third quintile	1.190	1.140 - 1.242	1.123	1.075 - 1.173	1.114	1.063 - 1.167
Fourth quintile	1.160	1.111 - 1.210	1.094	1.048 - 1.143	1.082	1.031 - 1.135
Highest quintile	1.097	1.051 - 1.145	1.081	1.032 - 1.133	1.060	1.007 - 1.116

3 Discussion

3.1 Main findings

Regional variation of avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland (Article 1)

In 2010, 3.1% of all hospital stays were AH. Patient's characteristics differed between low and high volume hospitals. The study results showed 3.6-fold variation between the 59 HSAs from 2008 to 2010 and up to 12-fold variation within one year. Lower rates of all AH were found in areas with very high supply of primary care physicians, increased AH rates in areas with more specialists (irrespective of the disease group) and in areas with higher proportion of rural residents. No association was found with reimbursement system and hospital capacity.

Adequate treatment of emergency STEMI patients? (Article 2)

Using the hospital discharge and hospital statistics of 2010 and 2011 we identified 9,696 STEMI cases, 71.6% of them received a PCI or CABG. Older and female patients were less likely to receive revascularization which suggests that the treatment guidelines may not be uniformly applied in Switzerland. Other variables as the insurance status, the infrastructure of the hospital, or the language region of the hospital didn't affect the receipt of revascularization. A sensitivity analysis showed that being admitted to a small hospital first, limits the chance of receiving a revascularization.

The geography of cost of end of life care in Switzerland (Article 3)

The data of six large Swiss health insurances were utilized to examine the cost at the end of life of all deceased customers who died between 2008 and 2010. Cardiovascular disease and cancer were the main causes of death. Cancer deaths accumulated the largest costs, followed by diseases of the nervous system, respiratory diseases and CVD. Cause of death and age were the major drivers of high cost of end of life care. The language region also played a role: In the French speaking part of Switzerland the EOLC costs were 28% to 35% higher. No effect was found for health care supply measures. Still, large geographical variation in cost were observed, which couldn't be explained with the variables included in the analyses.

Distance to hospital and AMI and stroke mortality (Article 4)

The Swiss National Cohort was used to examine the relationship between distance from the place of residence to different hospital types and the risk of dying from acute myocardial infarction or stroke. The AMI mortality risk for the young (below 65 years) and old (65+ years) Swiss population increases with the distance to a central or university hospital. An elevated risk of stroke mortality was also

found for the older Swiss population. For both, AMI and stroke mortality, the observed associations were rather small.

3.2 Strengths and limitations

Study-specific strengths and limitations are discussed in detail in each of the articles comprising this thesis. In general, all studies aimed to cover the whole country and followed a population-based approach which was sometimes limited by data quality and accessibility. To my knowledge, the consideration of the referral pattern in the hospital discharge statistics is unique. In contrast, previous studies incorporated the variables "whereabouts before entry" and "stay after exit" to distinguish whether the patient was referred from or to a hospital, another health care provider, home or elsewhere. None considered the exact referral pathway between different hospitals of each patient.

This thesis provides an overview of a great part of the data available for health services research in Switzerland. The data can be used to monitor trends of identified deficits although I discovered several limitations that need to be addressed in the future.

Given the extent of the data and the numerous different institutions involved in the data collection, missing records or values are an issue. For example, 300 hospitals are deriving data for the hospital discharge statistics from their hospital information system. Delayed software updates can lead to incorrect data values as seen with the assignment of patients' MedStat in some hospitals (Berlin et al., 2014). Furthermore, the coding quality between hospitals can differ in terms of the completeness and accuracy of diagnoses and treatments and this can affect the results of studies using data from multiple hospitals. Since cantons utilize the hospital discharge data statistics for their health care planning, correct data about places of residence and the number of treatments performed are essential.

Census, mortality registry, and health insurance data are routinely collected, as are hospital discharge and hospital statistics. Such data are not designed specifically for research purposes which can present challenges for those trying to do so. Performing observational studies with such data can introduce bias by mechanisms such as missing information. Having no exact place of death limits the interpretation of the relationship of distance to hospital and AMI and stroke mortality (Article 4). No information was available in the hospital discharge statistics about medication given to patients during their hospital stay. Again, this restricts the analysis of the adequate treatment of STEMI patients as information about fibrinolysis is not available in the data set (Article 2).

Another issue in the presented studies is the absence of data about disease prevalence in geographical units in Switzerland. Differences in the disease prevalence can have an impact on the

observed regional variation in health care. Measuring such disease prevalence data would require a very cost- and time-intensive data collection process. The hospital discharge statistics provides an important part in the estimation of disease prevalence in Switzerland. Conducting diagnostic and treatment information also in the ambulatory setting could have been a major contribution to the estimation of disease prevalence.

Another challenge in conducting observational studies with these data is that information about health care utilization behaviour is not available. For example, it is difficult to distinguish whether it is lower access to care or the influence of the lower propensity of rural residents to seek care (Longman et al., 2011), or indeed both, that determines the higher rate of avoidable hospitalisations in rural areas.

Due to the lack of a unique identifier for every person living in Switzerland, deterministic and probabilistic linkage techniques were used to connect data sets of different sources (Articles 3 and 4). These techniques do not provide 100% congruency as unlinked or incorrect linked records will occur and the linkage proportions can vary among subgroups, which may affect the results of studies including those here.

In the hospital discharge statistics a so-called anonymous unique person identifier is used. Unfortunately, this person identifier does not identify persons uniquely. The patients first and last name, date of birth and gender is used to generate a unique Hash-code. However, an individual may be assigned more than one Hash-code if, for example, their family name changes. Additionally, I found disparities in age and gender for patients with the same person identifier indicating that the person identifier has been assigned to two or more different persons. The SFSO is aware of these weaknesses since the introduction of the hospital discharge statistics, but they rate it as a negligible problem.

3.3 Implications for policy and future research

3.3.1 Application of treatment guidelines

Similar to studies in other countries, I found differences in revascularization by age and gender. For health care professionals these results indicate that the treatment for older persons and women isn't optimal and treatment guidelines, providing the best evidence-based knowledge so far, might not be applied properly in Switzerland. Unfortunately, due to major limitations of the data (Article 2) it is not possible to distinguish the reasons for these discovered differences in the treatment of STEMI patients.

It is known that female ACS patients present more frequently with atypical symptoms and with more pre-hospital delay than men (de-Miguel-Balsa et al., 2015; Steg et al., 2012). Also, elderly patients

often present with atypical or mild symptoms, which can result in delayed or missed diagnosis of AMI. Both female and elderly patients have a higher risk of bleeding. Although they require special attention in acute diagnostic and in their treatment, the recommended treatment doesn't differ for men and women, and younger and older patients (Steg et al., 2012).

A high degree of awareness for AMI in women and elderly patients is of great importance and medical personnel in Switzerland need to be appropriately trained, with skills reinforced in refresher courses. Although the study presented in this thesis has limitations it still provides an opportunity to monitor the development of the application of treatment guidelines. Additional variables e.g. medical information would be desirable but might blow up and hamper the data collection process.

3.3.2 Missing factors influencing the costs at the end of life

Health care supply measures seem to not play a role in the variation of EOLC costs, whereas the linguistic region does seem to influence the costs of EOLC. The different linguistic regions in Switzerland offer a great opportunity to examine the influences of diverse cultures in one country. However, such huge variations in the cost of health care across Switzerland indicates large inequalities in provision and consumption of health care.

Although a large proportion of the factors influencing the regional variation of EOLC costs throughout Switzerland couldn't be explained in the study (Article 3), it was possible to map the variation and pinpoint the regions of low or high costs and hence potential under- or overuse of services in EOLC. Therefore, future research needs to address the quality of care and patient satisfaction because low costs do not necessarily indicate under-use and vice versa. If higher spending leads to better quality of care and patient satisfaction then this should be the benchmark for the other regions, and conversely.

3.3.3 Distance to hospital matters

The results of the analyses in article 4 show increasing risk of dying from AMI or stroke with distance from a central or university hospital. Unfortunately, major information on the circumstances of the death are missing in the study (e.g. admission to hospital, died on the way to hospital, died at place of onset), which limits the explanatory power of the study. This induces questions for further research e.g. to evaluate effectiveness and quality of the Swiss EMS by illustrating the emergency pathways of AMI or stroke patients, where the patient will be brought to (the nearest hospital or immediately to a stroke unit or catheter laboratory) to perform specialized treatment and how this affects patient outcomes (e.g. mortality). Between 2002 and 2012, 65 acute hospitals have been closed down or merged, mainly due to economic reasons (O'Dea, 2014). Therefore, another interesting topic to examine would be the influence of hospital closures on medical emergencies such as life-threatening diseases or childbirth.

3.3.4 Supporting ambulatory care to reduce potentially avoidable hospitalisations

In the past decade, it has frequently been reported that Switzerland will face a lack of primary care physicians, mainly in rural and peripheral areas, in the near future (Forster, 2012; Kunz, 2015; Meier, 2014; Sbr, 2014). This thesis showed that a very high density of primary care physicians keeps the AH rates at a low level, whereas a low density of primary care physicians leads to increasing AH rates (Article 1). This would indicate that health policy should promote primary care physicians in deprived areas.

Interestingly, since 2002, Switzerland has established and enforced regulations that prevent physicians from opening an office based practice stating that there are currently too many physicians in Switzerland. Right now, just specialists are not allowed to open a practice, indicating that primary care physicians are needed. Although the government can limit the blockage regulation to certain regions they cannot force physicians to open or take over a practice in a specific deprived region (Brotschi, 2015).

In a report from the Swiss Federal Council regarding strategies to address the lack of physicians and to support primary care in Switzerland, the key recommendation was to train more physicians by increasing the number of university places for medicine, and to improve efficiency by introducing managed care models (Bundesrat, 2011). The core of managed care models is a consortium of primary care and specialized physicians that collaborates to take care of patients. The goals are: being a gatekeeper of the health care system, better coordination, and improvement of quality. The initiative to implement the managed care model was rejected by Swiss voters in the 2012 referendum. A survey showed that most people feared that this would result in the loss of their free choice of physicians (Ses/sda, 2012).

3.4 The data issue – opportunities and challenges in the future

3.4.1 New Research Program "Smarter Health Care"

With regard to the future challenges of the Swiss health care system, the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF) recently launched the National Research Program "Smarter Health Care", which aims to support innovative health services research that addresses concrete challenges of chronic disease care in Switzerland. Additionally, the program aims to outline the current weaknesses of Swiss health care data and to recommend targets to improve these data (SNSF, 2015). This thesis provides substantial information about a major component of the Swiss health care data (e.g.

hospital discharge statistics, hospital statistics, mortality registry, SNC, insurance data), its weaknesses and limitations as well as the future challenges and possible improvements for these data.

3.4.2 Available and missing data

The data presented in this thesis mainly contains information about hospital location or infrastructure, the density of primary care and specialized practices, and information on individual level from census, mortality registry and hospital discharge statistics. Nonetheless, inferring policy recommendations is limited because a major drawback of all analyses is the lack of a comprehensive ambulatory care data set that includes diagnoses and treatments on an individual level for all ambulant practices for the whole country. In the end of life care study, the attempt to include information on the patient's ambulatory utilization using insurance data was mostly limited to information about the generated costs before death (Article 3).

The lack of comprehensive ambulatory data is known (OECD/WHO, 2011) and also referred to it by the Swiss legislation (Huguenin, 2015). To fulfil the requirements of this legislation the SFSO is preparing the implementation of the statistics of ambulatory health care in Switzerland. Besides the characteristics of the ambulatory practices (e.g. number and profession of staff, infrastructure, range of services), information about the diagnoses or treatments on an individual level for patients being treated with ambulatory care in hospitals will be collected. An expansion of the data collection of individual patient records to all ambulatory primary and specialized care practices is planned for 2017 (SFSO, 2016).

The SFSO states that the private, economical characteristic of the ambulatory sector and the large number of institutions involved will influence the response rate of the ambulatory care data collection. Of note, the Swiss Medical Association, representing physicians, is concerned that the data collection will affect the confidentiality of patients' information and does not apply the data protection regulations properly (Mw/sda, 2012). Thus, similar to the hospital discharge statistics, it might take several years until all ambulatory health care providers will contribute their data.

The SFSO is about to set the variables for collection for the ambulatory health care database using variables from the hospital discharge dataset, such as the person identifier and MedStat, which indicate the place of residence of the patient and the location of the practice. The use of the same method to create the personal identifier across the two databases will enable the linkage of the ambulatory and inpatient data. In this thesis it was shown that these two variables (personal identifier and MedStat) are prone to mistakes. Before the implementation of the new statistics, the

SFSO should consider ways to improve the construction of the personal identifier and the assignment of MedStat regions.

The introduction of the ambulatory care statistics will be the key element to connect ambulatory and inpatient data. For the first time it will be possible to map the pathways of each patient between the ambulatory and inpatient sectors and the pathways between Swiss health care providers.

These linked data sets will enable researchers to study whether avoidable hospitalisations received appropriate care by primary care or specialized care physicians prior to their hospitalisation. This then can be used to validate the application of the OECD avoidable hospitalisation criteria in Switzerland.

3.4.3 Implementation of SwissDRG

Three of the four articles in this thesis utilized routinely collected data on hospital discharges, which were derived from hospital information systems before the implementation of Swiss Diagnosis Related Groups (SwissDRG) in Switzerland at 1st January, 2012. SwissDRG is a tariff system which is used for the reimbursement of inpatient hospital services on the basis of case-based lump sum payments. Prior to 2012, only a few of the 26 cantons were using APDRG, a precursor to the SwissDRG. From 2012 onwards, all hospitals have been obligated to use Swiss-DRG for reimbursement. Several factors contribute to the assignment of a SwissDRG. Namely, the main diagnosis, secondary diagnoses, CHOP codes, severity of the condition, age, gender, length of stay, etc. The aim of the implementation of the SwissDRG is to support transparency and comparability between the hospitals in order to increase efficiency (SwissDRG AG, 2016).

It is expected that hospitals now apply the coding guidelines more carefully than before the implementation of the SwissDRG, since the completeness of the records determine the SwissDRG and consequently the reimbursement. This process should also improve the data quality of the hospital discharge statistics. However, critics are concerned that the introduction of the SwissDRG will cause conflicts between commitment to the patient's well-being and the economic interests of the hospital (Fässler et al., 2015). Furthermore, the new reimbursement system might lead to misuse by the hospitals by modifying the patients' condition and treatment codes in order to declare a SwissDRG that results in a higher reimbursement. On the other hand, there is criticism that certain procedures are not appropriately reimbursed by the SwissDRG system (Mehra et al., 2015).

There are some studies investigating possible differences in the length of stay, patient care, outcome and satisfaction both before and after the introduction of SwissDRG (Fässler et al., 2015; Stauber et al., 2014; Thommen et al., 2014). This is an interesting field that needs further investigation. The Swiss Public Health Department has initiated the evaluation of the introduction of the SwissDRG. This

involves the examination of changes in quality of inpatient services and the definition of indicators to evaluate the quality. But first of all it has to be proven that the hospital discharge statistics can be used to examine the quality of inpatient services as this data set is the basis of these planned examinations (Swiss Public Health Department, 2016).

This thesis shows that a major limitation of the pre-SwissDRG hospital discharge data is the poor quality of the comorbidities and treatment codes. A comparison of hospital discharge data before and after the introduction should be performed with caution.

Insurance claims for inpatient care didn't include detailed diagnostic or treatment information before the introduction of the SwissDRG. Now, the invoices include the SwissDRG, which can be used to derive the main ICD-10 codes and CHOP codes that lead to this specific SwissDRG. In contrast to the hospital discharge data, the invoice includes the effective costs.

3.4.4 Future research with the available data

The linkage of the hospital discharge and the hospital statistics data sets will be more difficult in the future. While I received two separate data sets and then merged these using the hospital-ID, this won't be possible in the future. Furthermore, not all variables will be available with the same level of detail in the future, since the SFSO is tightening up their data protection. This will hinder the performance of small area analysis and the continuation or replication of the 3 studies from this thesis that based their analysis on these data sets. Several projects of the new National Research Program "Smarter Health Care" will be faced with these difficulties, which will hopefully have an impact on health policy stakeholders to improve data availability.

3.5 Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was to provide a contribution to CVD epidemiology and HSR in Switzerland. The four articles presented addressed different research questions and utilized a wide range of methods and data, reflecting the multidisciplinary field of health services research.

I showed that lower rates of all AH were found in areas with a very high supply of primary care physicians, and increased AH rates in areas with more specialists and in areas with a higher proportion of rural residents.

The study looking into the adequacy of STEMI treatment found that females and older patients were less likely to receive revascularization. This suggests treatment guidelines may not be uniformly applied across Switzerland. Cause of death and age are strongly associated with cost of end of life care. Place of residence and, in particular, the linguistic region had a significant influence on costs. No effect was found for health care supply measures.

Risk of dying from AMI increased with distance from a central or university hospital for both younger persons and older persons over the age of 65 years in the Swiss National Cohort. For stroke mortality, though, a significant association with distance to the same hospitals was observed only in those 65 years of age and older.

The major data sources of all studies were administrative data, which was not collected for these research purposes. This thesis described the challenges and limitations of the data sources used.

3.6 References

- Berlin, C., Panczak, R., Egger, M., 2014. Versorgungsforschung mit Routinedaten in der Schweiz: eine Herausforderung. Schweizerische Ärztezeitung 95, 1892–5.
- Brotschi, M., 2015. Kantone sollen allein über neue Arztpraxen entscheiden. Tagesanzeiger.
- Bundesrat, 2011. Strategie gegen Ärztemangel und zur Förderung der Hausarztmedizin.
- de-Miguel-Balsa, E., Latour-Pérez, J., Baeza-Román, A., Llamas-Álvarez, A., Ruiz-Ruiz, J., Fuset-Cabanes, M.P., 2015. Accessibility to Reperfusion Therapy Among Women with Acute Myocardial Infarction: Impact on Hospital Mortality. J. Womens. Health (Larchmt). doi:10.1089/jwh.2014.5011
- Fässler, M., Wild, V., Clarinval, C., Tschopp, A., Faehnrich, J.A., Biller-Andorno, N., 2015. Impact of the DRG-based reimbursement system on patient care and professional practise: perspectives of Swiss hospital physicians. Swiss Med. Wkly. 145, w14080. doi:10.4414/smw.2015.14080

Forster, C., 2012. Dem Hausärztemangel begegnen: Initiative sorgt für Druck. Neue Zürcher Zeitung.

Huguenin, J., 2015. Gesundheitsversorgungsstatistik - Ambulante Statistiken im Projekt MARS. Neuchâtel.

Kunz, Y., 2015. Hausärztemangel ist akut. Neue Luzerner Zeitung.

- Longman, J.M., Singer, J.B., Gao, Y., Barclay, L.M., Passey, M.E., Pirotta, J.P., Heathcote, K.E., Ewald, D.P., Saberi, V., Corben, P., Morgan, G.G., 2011. Community based service providers' perspectives on frequent and/or avoidable admission of older people with chronic disease in rural NSW: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv. Res. 11, 265. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-11-265
- Mehra, T., Müller, C.T.B., Volbracht, J., Seifert, B., Moos, R., 2015. Predictors of High Profit and High Deficit Outliers under SwissDRG of a Tertiary Care Center. PLoS One 10, e0140874. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140874

Meier, R., 2014. Ärztemangel auf dem Lande - Was kann man dagegen tun? Solothurner Zeitung.

Mw/sda, 2012. «Auf gut Glück Daten sammeln, ohne deren Nutzen nachzuweisen». Tagesanzeiger.

- O'Dea, C., 2014. Swiss hospitals, too much of a good thing? [WWW Document]. Swissinfo.ch. URL http://www.swissinfo.ch/eng/healthcare-costs_swiss-hospitals--too-much-of-a-good-thing-/41073028 (accessed 1.30.16).
- OECD/WHO, 2011. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland 2011. OECD Publishing. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264120914-en

Sbr, 2014. Die Diagnose: Hausärztemangel. Wochen-Zeitung für das Emmental und Entleb.

Ses/sda, 2012. Warum die Managed-Care-Vorlage scheiterte. Tagesanzeiger.

SFSO, 2016. Statistiken der ambulanten Gesundheitsversorgung (MARS) [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/news/00/06.html (accessed 1.25.16).

SNSF, 2015. 74 NRP: Smarter Health Care - Call for proposals.

- Stauber, I.A., Angst, F., Meier, J., Lehmann, S., Aeschlimann, A., Michel, B., 2014. Swiss Diagnosis
 Related Groups: a prospective study in rehabilitation comparing outcome before and after its introduction into acute health care. Swiss Med. Wkly. 144, w14004.
 doi:10.4414/smw.2014.14004
- Steg, P.G., James, S.K., Atar, D., Badano, L.P., Blömstrom-Lundqvist, C., Borger, M.A., Di Mario, C.,
 Dickstein, K., Ducrocq, G., Fernandez-Aviles, F., Gershlick, A.H., Giannuzzi, P., Halvorsen, S.,
 Huber, K., Juni, P., Kastrati, A., Knuuti, J., Lenzen, M.J., Mahaffey, K.W., Valgimigli, M., van 't
 Hof, A., Widimsky, P., Zahger, D., 2012. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial
 infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Eur. Heart J. 33, 2569–619.
 doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs215
- Swiss Public Health Department, 2016. Einfluss der KVG-Revision auf die Qualität der stationären Spitalleistungen [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bag.admin.ch/evaluation/01759/07350/12642/12927/index.html?lang=de (accessed 1.26.16).
- SwissDRG AG, 2016. SwissDRG Ziele [WWW Document]. URL http://www.swissdrg.org/de/02_informationen_swissDRG/ziele.asp?navid=11 (accessed 1.26.16).
- Thommen, D., Weissenberger, N., Schuetz, P., Mueller, B., Reemts, C., Holler, T., Schifferli, J.A., Gerber, M., Hug, B.L., 2014. Head-to-head comparison of length of stay, patients' outcome and satisfaction in Switzerland before and after SwissDRG-Implementation in 2012 in 2012: an observational study in two tertiary university centers. Swiss Med. Wkly. 144, w13972. doi:10.4414/smw.2014.13972
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Writing a doctoral thesis means encountering various obstacles, finding solutions or ways around and foremost: never give up. Motivation to keep on going is probably the most challenging part of it. A lot of people helped me with their theoretical/methodological/mental/athletic/culinary support during the past four years.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Marcel Zwahlen, for taking over my supervision very spontaneously. For both of us this came rather unexpected, but I think, it worked out perfectly. Thank you for your patience, for encouraging me throughout and for teaching me that often pragmatically solutions are the better choice to keep on going. Danny Dorling, thank you for being my co-referee. I very much appreciate your help and our lively discussions which might have been supported by our common background as geographers.

A special thanks goes to André Busato. He elated and enabled me to start this PhD in Switzerland. André was a great person; always honest and straightforward. He was a passionate fighter for his goal to improve and influence the Swiss health care system with his research projects. His sudden death reminded me what really matters in life.

I extend my thanks to Matthias Egger, Peter Jüni and David Goodman for their continuous support and inspiration to modify and improve study designs. I am thankful to all colleagues of the Health Services Research Group and Swiss National Cohort. You were very helpful at any time and I absolutely appreciate working in such a great team.

I thank everyone who was sharing coffee breaks with me or who was joining me for a run during lunch time. Maud, Nicole S, Laura, Janneke, Maddalena and Corinna, I am very grateful for your friendship. Special thanks must go to Nicole M and Pippa not only for proofreading my thesis but also for making my start at the ISPM and in Bern so enjoyable although a lot of hiking was involved.

My passion and best distraction from work is rowing and I am very happy to have met a lot of people in Bern who share this passion. The companionable and pleasant atmosphere at the Rowing Club Bern made it easy to feel home. Special thanks goes to the ladies eight team; we shared a lot of funny, exhausting and sometimes even successful moments and you know I can't give less than 120%! Thank you Nora for spending countless hours in the Gym with me.

Last but not least I would like to thank friends and family back home or elsewhere in the world. You mean so much to me. Thank you Mum, Dad and Anja, for always being there. Dad, I think, I can tick the box for "Mach wat draus".

CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal information

Name	Claudia Berlin
Date of birth	22.01.1982
Place of birth	Staaken now Berlin, Germany
Citizenship	German
Address	Sempachstr. 13, 3014 Bern, Switzerland
Email	claudia.berlin@gmail.com
Education	
Mar 2012 – present	PhD in Health Sciences, Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Switzerland
Oct 2002 – Nov 2008	Diploma's degree in Geography, University of Greifswald, Germany
Oct 2001 – Sept 2002	Studies in town and regional planning, Technical University Berlin, Germany
Work Experience	
Oct 2008 – Feb 2012	Research assistant
	Institute of Community Medicine, University of Greifswald, Germany
Oct 2006 – Dec 2006	Internship
	Environmental Agency of the Azores, Portugal
May 2006 – Jul 2006	Internship
	Ministry of Economics, Labour and Tourism of Meckenburg- Vorpommern, Germany
Jul 2005 – Aug 2005	Internship
	Association for promotion of economic development in Nordwestmecklenburg, Germany
Feb 2002 – Apr 2002	Internship
	Alliance of nature conservation in Bavaria, Germany

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Peer review Journals

Berlin C, Busato A, Rosemann T, Djalali S, Maessen M. (2014) Avoidable hospitalizations in Switzerland: a small area analysis on regional variation, density of physicians, hospital supply and rurality. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14:289. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-289.

Berlin C, Jüni P, Endrich O, Zwahlen M. (2016) Are all emergency patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction adequately treated in Switzerland? Results from a nationwide, cross-sectional study in Switzerland for 2010-2011. *PLoS ONE*. doi: 10.1271/journal.pone.0153326

Panczak R, Luta X, Maessen M, Stuck AE, **Berlin C**, Schmidlin K, Reich O, von Wyl V, Goodman DC, Egger M, Zwahlen M, Clough-Gorr K. (under review) The geography of cost of end of life care in Switzerland: retrospective analysis using insurance claims data. *Medical Care*

Berlin C, Panczak R, Hasler R, Zwahlen M. (under review) Do acute myocardial infarction and stroke mortality vary by distance to hospitals in Switzerland? *European Journal of Epidemiology*

No peer review Journals

Berlin C, Panczak R, Egger M. (2014) Versorgungsforschung mit Routinedaten in der Schweiz: eine Herausforderung. Schweizerische Ärztezeitung, 95:50.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

Berlin C, Maessen M, Busato A. Temporal and spatial variations of cardiovascular health care in Switzerland (2003-2007). Poster presentation at the *European Public Health Conference 2012*, St. Juliens, Malta

Berlin C, Busato A. Determinants of geographical and temporal variation in cardiovascular health care in Switzerland. Talk at the *Symposium of the Graduate School for Health Sciences 2012*, Murten, Switzerland

Berlin C, Busato A, Maessen M. Variation in health care – Avoidable hospitalization in Switzerland. Poster presentation at the *GEOMED 2013*, Sheffield, United Kingdom. Awarded with Best poster prize.

Berlin C, Zwahlen M. Does health care of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients differ between Swiss hospitals? Talk at the *Symposium of the Graduate School for Health Sciences 2012*, Münchenwiler, Switzerland

Berlin C, Jüni P, Endrich O, Zwahlen M. Variation of treatment of acute myocardial infarction in Swiss hospitals: Do hospital and regional characteristics matter? Conference talk at the *Wennberg International Collaborative Research Meeting 2014*, London, United Kingdom

Berlin C, Panczak R, Zwahlen M. Do stroke or AMI mortality vary by distance to hospital in Switzerland? Poster presentation at the *Wennberg International Collaborative Research Meeting* 2015, London, United Kingdom

Berlin C, Panczak R, Zwahlen M. Do stroke or AMI mortality vary by distance to hospital in Switzerland? Poster presentation at the *GEOMED 2015*, Florence, Italy

Berlin C, Panczak R, Zwahlen M. Do stroke or acute myocardial infarction (AMI) mortality vary by distance to hospital in Switzerland? Conference talk at the *10. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Epidemiologie 2015 (10th annual meeting of the German Society for Epidemiology),* Potsdam, Germany

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

Last name, first name: Berlin, Claudia

Matriculation number: 12-104-386

I hereby declare that this thesis represents my original work and that I have used no other sources except as noted by citations.

1

All data, tables, figures and text citations which have been reproduced from any other source, including the internet, have been explicitly acknowledged as such.

I am aware that in case of non-compliance, the Senate is entitled to withdraw the doctorate degree awarded to me on the basis of the presented thesis, in accordance with the "Statut der Universität Bern (Universitätsstatut; UniSt)", Art. 69, of 17 December 2011.

Place, date

Bern, 29.02.2016

Claudia BalZ.

Signature